

University of Southern Queensland Faculty of Engineering and Surveying

Dynamic Topologies for Sustainable and Energy Efficient Traffic Engineering in Communication Networks

A thesis submitted by

Abdelnour Mohamed Alnour Aldraho

B.Eng., M.Eng.

in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Principal Supervisor: Dr Alexander A. Kist

Associate Supervisor: Dr Andrew Maxwell

Submitted: July, 2013

Abstract

Energy consumption and related emissions have been in the public focus for some time. Contributions of the Information and Communication Technology (ICT) sector to increase the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions are growing. Networks are responsible of a significant portion of the ICT energy footprint and are generally dimensioned for peak loads. For extended off-peak periods, resources continue to consume power, but are lightly used or unused. The goal of this project is to reduce power consumption in communication networks through network management techniques. This research investigates the concept of dynamic topologies, i.e. networks that adapt their topology according to traffic volume.

In contrast to related work, this thesis addresses networks where nodes are both emanating and consuming traffic. This requires power models for routers and a reduced functionality power-state is proposed that bridges local demands to a single interface.

The key aim of this study was to investigate power reductions that can be achieved by dynamic topologies. It proposes a novel network transformation and introduces mathematical programming models that result in energy-optimal topologies for given traffic loads. This part focuses on the optimisation problems and studies gains in static environments. Numerical results are presented for example networks using a large set of traffic matrices. Efficient heuristics are necessary for larger networks as mathematical programming models cannot be solved in practical time frames. Two sets of algorithms are proposed to find minimal network topologies. These rely either on link utilisation or node gravity to decide whether active devices can be switched off. To avoid hot spots and link overloads, shortest path weight setting techniques are implemented.

Network resilience to failure is an important requirement of network operators. To account for resilience constraints, two additional programming models are formulated; one that protects individual links and one that protects traffic demands. Both models are studied and energy savings are compared to the original models.

To demonstrate the feasibility of the approach a potential implementation of dynamic topologies using Multi Protocol Label Switching (MPLS) networks is introduced. Most MPLS functions and nodes are not affected by the proposal. A flow tracking and topology tracking mechanism is required at the network ingress; and all nodes have to include a power management function that controls the power state of routers. The impact of changes in routing patterns on active UDP and TCP flows has been investigated and found to be minimal. Aggregated flow-based performance has been analysed and the results show that there is no discernable impact on network performance.

Adapting topologies of computer networks dynamically to traffic volumes is feasible and can lead to significant reductions in energy footprints. For the test networks, dynamic topologies reduce the average network power consumption, by 12-52 per cent depending on network load.

Certification of Dissertation

I certify that the ideas, designs and experimental work, results, analyses and conclusions set out in this dissertation are entirely my own effort, except where otherwise indicated and acknowledged.

I further certify that the work is original and has not been previously submitted for assessment in any other course or institution, except where specifically stated.

ABDELNOUR MOHAMED ALNOUR ALDRAHO

Signature of Candidate

Date

ENDORSEMENT

Signature of Supervisor/s

Date

Acknowledgments

My journey from 2009 until the present time has been long and filled with both happiness and sadness. Thankfully, with immeasurable help and support from many people, I have managed to survive so far. Therefore, I would like to express my deepest honour and appreciation to these wonderful people.

My advisor, Dr. Alexander A. Kist has been a phenomenal source of inspiration and motivation throughout my PhD. I have learned a lot from his insights into problem solving and his work ethic. It is through his support, guidance and constant encouragement that I have been able to bring this work to a completion. I thank him profoundly.

My wife has been unbelievably patient and supportive throughout what might have seemed to her a lengthy journey. My kids whose were asking me continually about my study. My parents have supported me remotely, asking me about every single issue and making supplication for me. I would like to thank them all for their support as I feel lucky to have them by my side.

Dr. Andrew Maxwell, my associate supervisor, has also given me helpful advice and ongoing support throughout my candidature.

ABDELNOUR MOHAMED ALNOUR ALDRAHO

University of Southern Queensland July 2013

Contents

Abstra	xt	i
Acknow	vledgments	iv
List of]	Figures	xi
List of '	ſables	xv
Publica	itions	xvi
Chapte	r 1 Introduction	1
1.1	Motivation and Scope	4
1.2	Summary of Original Contributions	6
1.3	Structure of the Thesis	8
Chapte	er 2 Background	11
2.1	Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Global Warming	12

CONTENTS

2.2	The ICT Sector and Energy Efficiency	13
2.3	Communication Networks and Energy Use	17
2.4	Traffic Management and Network Optimisation	22
2.5	Dynamic Topologies	25
2.6	Conclusion	27
Chapte	er 3 Dynamic Topologies as a Multi-Commodity Flow Problem	29
3.1	Introduction	30
	3.1.1 Motivation and Related Works	31
3.2	Notation	32
3.3	Assumptions and Node Standby Power Model	32
	3.3.1 Standby Options	34
	3.3.2 Power Consumption Estimates	37
3.4	Multi-Commodity Flow Problem Formulation	38
	3.4.1 Intuitive Network Model	39
	3.4.2 Generic Link Flow Formulation	40
3.5	Node Bypass Transformation	42
3.6	Node Bypass Problem Formulation	46
3.7	Simulation Configuration	48

		3.7.1	Test Networks	48
		3.7.2	Device Power Model	51
		3.7.3	Integer Linear Programming (ILP) Solver	52
	3.8	Result	s	52
		3.8.1	Eight Node Network – Bridged-All	53
		3.8.2	Eight Node Network – Bridged-Local and Default Gateway	57
		3.8.3	Comparison of Power Consumption	57
		3.8.4	Twenty Two Node Network – Bridged-All	60
	3.9	Discus	ssion	61
	3.10	Conclu	usion	64
Ch	apte	r 4 Alg	gorithms to Generate Dynamic Topologies	67
	4.1	Introd	uction	68
	4.2	The Li	ghtest Node First Algorithm (LNF)	69
	4.3	The Le	east Loaded Nodes Algorithm (LLN)	72
	4.4	Impro	ved Heuristics using Weight Settings	73
		4.4.1	The Lightest Node First Algorithm with Weight Setting .	74
		4.4.2	The Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm With Weight Setting	75
	4.5	Evalua	ntion and Analysis	75

	4.5.1	Test Network and Traffic Data	76
	4.5.2	Network Power Consumption	77
4.6	Simul	ation Results	77
	4.6.1	Lightest Node First Algorithm (LNF)	78
	4.6.2	Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm (LLN)	80
	4.6.3	Lightest Node First Algorithm With Weight Setting (LN-	01
		FWS)	81
	4.6.4	Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm With Weight Setting (LL-	
		NWS)	84
4.7	Discu	ssion	86
4.8	Concl	usion	87
Chapte	er 5 Dy	ynamic Network Topologies and Network Resilience Con-	
stra	ints		89
5.1	Introc	luction	90
5.2	Relate	ed Works	91
5.3	Proble	em Formulation	93
	5.3.1	Problem (1) - Links are Protected	94
	5.3.2	Problem (2) - Demands are Protected	95
5.4	Evalua	ation and Analysis of Topologies	96

	5.4.1 Network and Traffic	97
	5.4.2 Resulting Topologies	97
5.5	Network Energy Consumption	101
5.6	Discussion	103
5.7	Conclusion	105
Chapte	er 6 Potential Dynamic Topology Implementations	106
6.1	Introduction	107
6.2	Topology Management Using Open Shortest Path First (OSPF)	109
6.3	Topology Management using MPLS	112
	6.3.1 Network Management Function (NMF)	112
	6.3.2 Topology and Flow Tracker (TFT)	113
	6.3.3 Power Management Function (PMF)	115
	6.3.4 Operation	115
6.4	Performance of Real Time and Non-Real Time Flows	119
6.5	Simulation Environment	121
6.6	Simulation Results – DTM Operations	123
6.7	Simulation Results – Performance	126
	6.7.1 Background Web Traffic	126

		6.7.2	UDP Traffic	128
		6.7.3	Elastic TCP Traffic	129
		6.7.4	Power Savings and Flow State Timers	129
	6.8	Opera	tional Considerations	132
	6.9	Concl	usion	134
Ch	apte	r7Co	onclusions	135
Ch	apte	r7Co	onclusions	135
Ch	apte 7.1	r 7 Co Summ	onclusions	135 135
Ch	apte 7.1 7.2	r 7 Co Summ Contri	onclusions nary	135 135 137
Ch	apte 7.1 7.2 7.3	r 7 Co Summ Contri Furthe	onclusions hary ibutions to this field ier Work	135135137138

Bibliography

140

List of Figures

3.1	Low power state options	36
3.2	Extended node splitting transformation: a) original and (b) transformed	41
3.3	Node Bypass Transformation Algorithm	43
3.4	Extended node splitting transformation: (a) original and (c) ex- tended transformed network	45
3.5	Test topology – Eight nodes.	48
3.6	Test topology – Twenty Two nodes.	49
3.7	Demand Grouping.	50
3.8	Power consumption versus total demand; eight node network; original network, links-only and bridged-all standby options.	53
3.9	Number of active nodes versus total demand; 8 node network; bridged-all standby option.	55
3.10	Number of active nodes versus demand groups; eight node net- work; bridged-all standby option.	55

LIST OF FIGURES

3.11	Power consumption versus total demand; 8 node network; orig-	
	inal network and bridged-local standby options	58
3.12	Power consumption versus total demand; eight nodes; original	
	network and default gateway standby options	58
3.13	Number of active nodes versus demand groups; 8 nodes; bridged-	
	local standby option.	59
3.14	Number of active nodes versus demand groups; eight nodes;	
	default gateway standby option	59
3.15	Power consumption versus total demand; 22 nodes; original	
	network, links-only and bridged-all standby options	62
3.16	Number of active nodes versus total demand; 22 nodes; bridged-	
	all standby option	62
4.1	The Lightest Node First Algorithm	70
4.2	The Least Loaded Node Algorithm	72
4.3	The Lightest Node First Algorithm With Weight Setting	75
4.4	The Least Loaded Node Algorithm With Weight Setting	76
4.5	Network power consumption, LNF algorithm vs. ILP	78
4.6	Active nodes, LNF algorithm	79
4.7	Grouped results, inactive nodes, LNF algorithm	79
4.8	Network power consumption, LLN algorithm vs. ILP	80
4.9	Active nodes, LLN algorithm	81

LIST OF FIGURES

4.10	Grouped results, inactive nodes, LLN algorithm	82
4.11	Network power consumption, LNFWS algorithm	82
4.12	Active nodes, LNFWS algorithm	83
4.13	Grouped results, inactive nodes, LNFWS algorithm	84
4.14	Network power consumption, LLNWS algorithm	85
4.15	Active nodes, LLNWS algorithm	85
4.16	Grouped results, inactive nodes, LLNWS algorithm	86
5.1	Test topology - eight nodes	98
5.2	Reduced topology - <i>links only</i> – (1)	99
5.3	Reduced topology - <i>links only (resilient) – (2).</i>	99
5.4	Reduced topology - <i>nodes and links</i> – (3)	100
5.5	Reduced topology - <i>nodes and links (resilient) - (4)</i>	100
5.6	Power consumption versus total demand, <i>links-only</i> options	102
5.7	Power consumption versus total demand, <i>nodes and links</i> options.	103
5.8	Number of active nodes versus total demand	104
6.1	NMF flow chart of flow and topology tracker.	114
6.2	DTM flow chart of NMF	116

LIST OF FIGURES

6.3	Shortest and longest possible path	120
6.4	Test topology – original(a), reduced(b) and minimal (c)	121
6.5	Simulation network toplogy with four core MPLS nodes	122
6.6	Load - Link (6,7) and (6,4)	124
6.7	Load - Link (6,7)	124
6.8	Load - Link(5,7)	125
6.9	Load - Link(4,6)	125
6.10	Load - Link(4,5)	125
6.11	Load - Link(4,7)	126
6.12	Link utilisation (8,11)	127
6.13	Link utilisation (10,11)	128
6.14	UDP packet loss for the flow between Nodes 1 and 6	129
6.15	UDP throughput for the flow between Nodes 1 and 6	130
6.16	TCP throughput for the flow between Nodes 1 and 6	131
6.17	Relative energy increase	132

List of Tables

3.1	Mathematical notation used throughout the thesis	33
3.2	Active Node Count	56
3.3	Power Consumption of the eight Node Network	60
4.1	Power Consumption [W] of the eight Node Network	87

Publications

The following publications were produced during the period of candidature: Aldraho, Abdelnour and Kist, Alexander A. and Maxwell, Andrew, "Performance Investigation of Dynamic Topologies in MPLS Networks", *International Symposium on Communications and Information Technologies (ISCIT)2012*, Australia, Gold Cost,2012.

Aldraho, Abdelnour and Kist, Alexander A., "Enabling Energy Efficient and Resilient Networks using Dynamic Topologies", In:*The Second IFIP Conference on Sustainable Internet and ICT for Sustainability (IFIP 2012)*, Italy, Pisa. 2012, pp 34-38,2012.

Aldraho, Abdelnour and Kist, Alexander A., "Enabling Dynamic Topologies in Communication Networks", In: *2011 Australasian Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference (ATNAC 2011)*, Australia, Melbourne, 2011.

Kist, Alexander A. and Aldraho, Abdelnour, "Dynamic topologies for sustainable and energy efficient traffic routing", *Computer Networks*, 55 (9). pp. 2271-2288. ISSN 1389-1286,2011.

Aldraho, Abdelnour and Kist, Alexander A., "Enhanced heuristics to reduce power consumption of networks using weight setting", *In: 2010 Southern Region Engineering Conference (SREC2010)*, Toowoomba, Australia, 2010.

Publications

Aldraho, Abdelnour and Kist, Alexander A., "Heuristics for dynamic topologies to reduce power consumption of networks", *In: 2010 Australasian Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference (ATNAC 2010)*, 31 Oct - 03 Nov 2010, Auckland, New Zealand, 2010.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Climate change and global warming are major concerns in the world today and the rate of climate change has been linked to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. As GHG concentrations in the atmosphere increase, the planet's ecosystem is adversely affected [1]. Global temperatures are increasing [2] and potential consequences include rising sea levels and increasing sea temperature, leading to an increase of peak tropical cyclone precipitation rates [3].

The increase in emissions in the last 150 years are largely due to human activities [4] and major sources include transportation, electricity generation, industry, agriculture and commercial and residential activities. Greenhouse gas emissions can be categorised according to the economic activities that lead to their production. The IPCC Climate Change 2007 report [5] identifies the following contributions. Energy production, which includes burning of coal, natural gas, and oil for electricity and heat is the largest contributor to emissions, accounting for 26% of 2004 global greenhouse gas emissions. The industry sector is responsible for 19% of 2004 global greenhouse gas emissions caused by fossil fuels burned on-site at facilities for energy. Land-use, land-use change and forestry account for 17% of 2004 global greenhouse gas emissions. This includes emissions from deforestation, land clearing for agriculture, fires and decay of peat soils. Agriculture is responsible for 14% of 2004 of greenhouse gas emissions. Activities include the management of agricultural soils, livestock, rice production, and biomass burning. Transportation is responsible for 13% of 2004 global greenhouse gas emissions involving fossil fuels burned for road, rail, air, and marine transportation. Commercial and residential buildings are responsible for 8% of 2004 global greenhouse gas emissions and the emissions come from on-site energy generation, burning fuels for heat in buildings and cooking in homes. Waste and wastewater are responsible for 3% of 2004 global greenhouse gas emissions including methane from landfills and wastewater.

The Information and Communications Technology (ICT) sector contributed about 2% to the total annual global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in 2007 [6]. This contribution is expected to increase by 6% each year until 2020 [7]. The ICT sector has been widely advocated as being able to implement energy saving measures assisting other sectors in reducing their energy consumption [8] by applying the new technologies such as email, distance learning and video conference. At the same time, it is an energy consumer itself and therefore contributes to the increases in GHG emissions. Efforts to reduce energy use across the sector spans all ICT activities. Solutions to reduce the impact of ICT on global warming include green data centres [9] (servers, data storage systems and cooling systems), green hardware [10] (hubs, switches and computers), power management [11], and green networks and communications [12] (switches, gateways and links).

In traditional data centres, for example, energy cost accounts for approximately 30 per cent of the operating costs of a data centre [13]. In an Internet data centre report, the worldwide energy cost of enterprise data centres has been estimated to exceed 30 billion US dollars per year in 2008 [14]. Therefore, data centre efficiencies are a major focus of energy saving efforts in the ICT industry [15]. Personal computers (PCs) are also considerable power consumers as most computers run all the time. Gartner [16] has estimated that the number of installed PCs worldwide exceeded 1 billion in 2008 and is growing at a rate of nearly 12 per cent annually. This means that it may reach 2 billion by early 2014. In 2006, Bray [17] summarised the power requirements of computers. PCs require between 36W and 250W when active, and between 1W and 27W in low power mode. In 2004, the average computer and monitor used 30% of their energy while idle and 40% of their energy outside business hours [18]. As these devices are often not used, it is possible to reduce the energy footprint by encouraging the employees or users to make changes to their using of PCs habits [19]. Most discussions about green ICT refers to hardware, but software is also an important factor [20] as the software requirements tend to determine the hardware design, which in turn has a significant impact on the amount and type of hardware used. All of these factors affect the energy consumption of the systems.

In the last decade, Internet and network communication have become prevalent and most computing devices are now networked. As a consequence telecommunication networks have grown rapidly. This also means that telecommunication networks have become major energy consumers. Servers and communication networks consumed about 3% of the world's electric energy in 2008 and this portion is increasing at a rate of 16-20% per year [21]. Zeadally et al. [22] have estimated that telecommunication networks consumed around 31% of the total energy used in the ICT sector in 2011.

Power savings in networks can be achieved by changes to hardware and software, networking protocols, network traffic management and configuration. The majority of studies into ICT power usage have focused on individual devices rather than whole networks [23]. However, Giroire and Moulierac [24] focus on the operation of entire networks, albeit static networks. Some elements of the networks consume large amounts of electricity in order to operate. The possibility of reducing power consumption by switching off routers

1.1 Motivation and Scope

and links has been proposed by a number of studies, but they have not covered the dynamic topologies aspect. This research project focuses on potential savings using network management and optimisation techniques. The underlying rationale is based on network utilisation. According to [25] reduction of power consumption can be achieved by switching off network nodes and links while still assuring full connectivity and highest link utilization. ICT infrastructure is generally underutilised as it is dimensioned for peak loads and redundancy. Most servers, for example, normally operate at 20% to 30% of their peak load [26–29]. Backbone networks operate at similar utilisation levels, between 30% [30] and 50% [31, 32]. Adapting the network topology to utilisation levels can potentially lead to a reduction in the number of active network devices. This in turn reduces the total power consumption in the network.

This research project consists of five major parts. The first part discusses the nature of dynamic network topologies to find optimal topologies to manage given traffic demands. The second part addresses how networks can deal with changing topologies, with a number of algorithms proposed to apply the network changes. The third part investigates network resilience in the context of reduced topologies. The fourth part proposes potential methodologies to change network topologies and suggests MPLS for that purpose. The final part investigates operational issues such as identifying suitable ways to trigger topology changes.

1.1 Motivation and Scope

Energy use and energy efficiency have been major issues in the last decades; specifically in relation to the consumption of fossil fuel and subsequent effects on climate change [33]. Governments around the world have begun to take actions to reduce carbon emissions. For example, the Australian government has established programs to reduce carbon emissions and it has

encouraged the business sector to take practical steps to contribute to the reduction of the impact of climate change [34]. The Australian government has also set ambitious targets to reduce Australia's carbon emissions [35].

The ICT industry was one of the first sectors to make attempts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions [36]. Green networks are a key component that will help the ICT sector to reduce its impact on carbon emissions. Network infrastructure operates fully only for a fraction of the time. This leads to unnecessary power consumption, while the network is not being fully utilised. By focusing on green computer networks, there is an opportunity to reduce the impact of the ICT sector on the environment. This thesis focusses on the latter and will investigate the possibility of reducing power consumption by reducing the number of active nodes and links. A key constraint of this effort is that the level of network service must be maintained and the network devices will not be required to change in term of its hardware which is a significant point that helps to achieve the thesis target without network hardware changes.

The main goal of this project was to reduce the power consumption in communication networks without affecting the network performance. A number of steps were taken to achieve this goal. Assuming that the network traffic and topology information is known, the first step was to establish whether reduced topologies offer significant energy savings. To identify power optimal topologies for given traffic loads, mathematical problems were formulated that attempt to reduce the number of active devices. As network nodes often originate and terminate traffic it was necessary to identify standby options for routers and to develop a power model for routers. These assumptions were necessary to estimate power savings. The networking models that are introduced in this thesis are not technology specific and can be applied to any networking technology. As Internet Protocol (IP) networks are the dominant technology at the moment, these are the focus of this thesis. In a second step, network resilience was included as another constraint for the network model, as this is an important operational requirement of network operators. These theoretical evaluations demonstrated that considerable energy reductions are feasible in both studied network topologies cases and the next step was to investigate how dynamically changing topologies could be realised relying on existing protocols and technology. The requirement of such a scheme is to maintain the forwarding information for multiple topologies and a solution based on MPLS has been developed.

1.2 Summary of Original Contributions

This work has used a generic router and link power model in combination with a novel network transformation model to formulate mathematical network models that minimise the power consumption of given networks. The work demonstrates that the concept of dynamic topologies is a feasible option to reduce the energy consumption of networks. A number of heuristics have been proposed to generate the optimal topologies in communication networks. Mathematical models have been developed that take resilience constraints into account and are used to evaluate savings. A potential implementation of the concept of dynamic topologies using MPLS has also been introduced and evaluated. Operational issues that impact on the feasibility of this proposal are also discussed.

The work that is discussed in this thesis has resulted in publications [37], [38], [39], [40], [41] and [42]. The main contributions discussed in the individual chapters are summarised below:

• Study of potential low power modes for routers and of a generic network power model that allows the evaluation of the power consumption of networks.

- Proposal of a node bypass transformation that allows optimisation problems to automatically reduce the number of nodes in networks.
- Development of optimisation problem formulations as Mixed Integer Linear Programs (MILP) for a multicommodity flow problem that reduces the number of active nodes and links.
- Study of numerical results for two network topologies investigating potential energy savings.

These results were published in [37].

The contributions of Chapter 4 include:

- Development of heuristics to find optimal network configurations that reduce power consumption of networks.
- Study of power consumption of reduced topologies in test networks.
- Evaluation of Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) weight setting as an enhancement to the heuristics to avoid link overloads.
- Implementation of a network emulator to study the performance of the proposed algorithms.

These results were published in [38] and [39].

The contributions of Chapter 5 include:

- Development of two multicommodity flow problem formulations to incorporate network resilience constraints.
- Analysis of the performance of the proposed network models to show the feasibility of the approach.

• Evaluation of numerical results comparing network power consumptions of networks with and without the resilience constraints.

These results were published in [40].

The contributions of Chapter 6 can be summarised as follows:

- Proposal of a mechanism to implement dynamic topologies in MPLS networks with minimal changes to current forwarding mechanisms.
- Analysis of the impact of topology changes on the performance of individual UDP and TCP flows.
- Design of a network management function, a flow tracker at each ingress router and a router function that is able to change router power states.
- Investigation of the impact on the real time traffic and non-real time traffic in dynamic topologies and discussion of the implications for energy saving.
- Discussion of the practical considerations to identify the suitable methods to upsize or downsize the topology.

Results discussed in this chapter led to two publications [41, 42].

1.3 Structure of the Thesis

The remainder of this thesis is organised as follows: **Chapter 2** provides the context to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and the contribution of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) to those emissions. A general overview of GHG emissions is presented and their impact on the environment is discussed. The link between ICT GHG emissions and global GHG

1.3 Structure of the Thesis

emissions is established and their impact and contribution on global warming outlined. Specifically communication networks are investigated in more details. Teletraffic engineering, network management are also discussed as these are relevant to the solutions that are presented in the thesis. Finally, dynamic topologies as an optimisation problem are put into context.

Chapter 3 establishes whether the concept of dynamic topologies is feasible and whether energy savings are possible. The results provide an indication of what potential savings are likely. This chapter discusses mathematical models that are formulated as multicommodity flow problems. A network transformation is proposed and mathematical programming models for optimal topologies are introduced to reduce the energy consumption for a given network topology. Link flow formulation and node bypass transformation are presented to find optimal solutions. Integer Linear Programming (ILP) is used to solve the optimisation problems. Using a generic router power model, potential energy savings are evaluated for two topologies. Numerical results demonstrate the feasibility of the proposal.

In **Chapter 4** the ability to apply the network changes is investigated. The mathematical models that have been introduced in Chapter 3 have shown that the optimal topologies exist; however solving the mathematical programs is complex. This chapter proposes a number of heuristics: The *Lightest Node First* and the *Least Loaded Node* algorithms. Both algorithms use the link utilisation to decide whether an active device can be switched off or not. The *Least Loaded Node* algorithm calculates the load of the nodes while the *Lightest Node First* algorithm computes the capacity of the nodes to identify devices that can potentially be turned off. The *Shortest Path Weight Setting* is employed with those algorithms to prevent link overloads. As part of the algorithms, optimal weight sets are calculated that balance the traffic load in the reduced networks. Numerical results illustrate energy savings that are possible by reconfiguring the network.

Network resilience is a major concern for commercial communication network operators. In **Chapter 5**, a network resilience model is proposed based on the models discussed in Chapter 3. The aim is to protect networks from link failures and two alternative problem formulations are presented, one that protects links and one that protects demands. Numerical results are presented that highlight energy savings in networks with resilience constraints.

Potential implementations of dynamic topologies and related network protocol performance are discussed in **Chapter 6**. To realise dynamic topologies, networks have to maintain multiple topologies at the same time. An approach using MPLS and flow tracking is discussed in this chapter. Assuming such a mechanism, network performance at the flow level is investigated. Using Network Simulator 2 (NS2) the effects on User Datagram Protocol (UDP) and Transmission Control Protocol (TCP) flows is investigated. The network performance is investigated by evaluating performance factors such as packet loss and throughput.

Chapter 7 discusses the findings of this thesis and outlines potential future work and open issues.

Chapter 2

Background

Worldwide Internet traffic transported by communication networks is rapidly increasing to be doubling each year since 1997 [43]. Communication networks consume a considerable amount of energy which has increased from 219 TWh per year in 2007 to 354 TWh per year in 2012 [44]. This growth is contributing to negative environment effects and climate change. Network optimisation and reduction of active network devices is one way to help reduce the impact of communication network traffic growth. This chapter discusses the motivation for the work in this thesis and provides the background in regards to the various efforts to reduce the power consumption of telecommunication networks. It briefly discusses greenhouse gas emissions and global warming, the role of the ICT sector in general; and more specifically, communication networks and energy efficiency. As this work largely focuses on traffic management and network optimisation, those topic are also discussed.

2.1 Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Global Warming

Greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions are the release of gases from either manmade or natural sources which trap heat in the atmosphere and create a greenhouse effect. They are generally recognised to be the cause of global warming [45, 46]. Emissions of GHG interfere with the balance of sunlight energy entering and leaving the atmosphere, causing it to retain heat, thus raising the temperature of the earth surface. GHGs have been identified as key contributors toward global warming [47].

Coal-fired and natural gas power plants are amongst the principal sources of GHG emissions from human activities, with deforestation and engine combustion also making significant contributions [48]. Many industries contribute to GHG emissions such as energy producers and the transport sector. Also, the ICT sector is one of these contributors.

Global warming has been identified by the World Health Organization [49] as one of the most important challenges facing human life on Earth. As global warming increases, so do the incidences influencing the environment in negative ways. Increasing global temperatures, for instance, are likely causes of extreme weather situations, together with considerable and increasing changes in rainfall volumes [50] and rises in sea levels. As a result of global warming further rises in global temperature up to 1.4 °C, can be expected in the twenty-first century [51]. The problems associated with the consequences of global warming are raising considerable concern among nations, individuals and researchers [52] [53].

Also, as stated by Koch et al [54], the major contributor to increases in GHG emissions is the power production and therefore has a negative impact on the environment. Industry sectors such as food processing, use electricity

to run manufacturing plants. Electricity producers are responsible for large amounts of GHG emissions [55, 56].

The electricity sector is responsible for more than 35% of total energy related carbon dioxide emissions worldwide, the largest contributor of GHG emissions in 2004 [57]. The industrial sector was the second largest, representing 28% of total emissions for the same year, followed by transport, which represented 20%, and direct fossil fuel use in the residential sector contributing 8%. Other sectors, account for 14% of total emissions.

2.2 The ICT Sector and Energy Efficiency

This section will discuss the role of the ICT sector in the context of greenhouse gas emissions and energy efficiency. ICT is a contributor to energy consumption. In the last two decades the ICT sector has grown rapidly and the GHG emissions in the sector are largely caused by the power conumption of equipment. Sutherland [58] states that the ICT sector accounts for 2% of global carbon dioxide emissions in 2007. Worldwide, the ICT sector was responsible for about 23 Mt of carbon dioxide emissions in 2009 [59]. This includes networking, data centres and hardware.

The ICT sector is undertaking efforts to reduce its energy and carbon footprint by focusing on technical solutions as well as business processes, often referred to as Green IT. The sector is also advocated as an enabler for reducing power use in other industry sectors.

The number of users around the world using the Internet has been increasing rapidly [60, 61], as has the development and proliferation of new (portable) devices. The rapid uptake of computers, the Internet and mobile phones has the capacity to double the volume of emitted carbon dioxide worldwide by the year 2020 [62]. Webb [63] highlighted in 2007 that if current treads persist, it is expected that the contribution will grow by 6% each year until 2020.

Energy use in the global ICT industry is the largest and most significant contributor to its carbon footprint, both within the information as well as the communication technology domains. In the ICT sector power is essential to enable both task operations and accomplishment [64]. Electricity is needed to run services, applications and equipment; and for related activities, such as manufacturing and distribution [65]. As presented in the European Commission in [66], the total electricity usage of the ICT sector in the European Union was estimated to be 119 TWh in 2005, which corresponds to 4.3% of overall electricity consumption, or 0.6% of total energy consumption. Also, for the U.S., it is estimated that ICT's share of electricity consumption was approximately 8% in 2008 [67]. The amount of energy consumed by the ICT sector is also increasing rapidly. Bilal et al. [68], for example, have observed that the energy consumption estimates for IT infrastructure for the year 2011 are double than those of 2006 because of the increase in the traffic and subsequent increase in the network hardware. The contributors to the ICT energy footprint is considerable. Plepys [69] has estimated that Internet equipment consumed approximately 8% of the total power in the United States in 2002 with the prediction to 50% growth within a decade. As predicted in [70], the energy consumption growth of telecom networks in the coming years is increasing.

Data centres are a major energy consumer of the sector [71] and their energy consumption is a major contributor to the rising GHG emissions. Berral et al. [72] identifies data centres as the principal parts of the problem. The power consumption of data centres is increasing rapidly [73]. In 2003, a typical data centre consumed about 40W per square foot energy, and in 2005 this figure has raised to 120W per square foot energy [74] because of the increase in traffic demand on the communication networks. Global network traffic has increased eightfold between 2006 and 2011 [75].

The third major category of contributors are hardware and devices within the ICT sector. A desktop computer requires 65-250W of electric power when in

use, and a colour monitor, another 40-150W; laser printers can need as much as 400W or more when printing, although considerably less if in standby mode; ink-jet printers use 12-30W while printing, but less than 5W while sitting idle [76]. Gartner [77] has estimated that desktop computers and monitors consumed 39% of all power used in ICT sector in 2002. Pritchard [78] has estimated that the total power consumed by servers represented 0.6% of total US energy consumption in 2005 and that the power use of servers doubled between 2000 and 2005.

Reducing the power consumption in the ICT sector could significantly reduce GHG emissions [79]. While the ICT sector has improved the power efficiency in other business sectors, there is a necessity to reduce the power consumption in the ICT sector itself. Therefore, many studies have identified the power consumption in the ICT sector from different angles such as power consumption in data centres, PCs and servers and networking and communications [80], [81].

Efforts in the ICT sector include both technical solutions as well as improved business processes. Use of state of the art technology in servers and data centres could reduce their consumption of electricity by 70 per cent [82]. For example, the use of DC power in data centres could reduce their energy consumption [83]. Cloud computing is also seen as a technology that can help to reduce the power consumption in the ICT sector [84]. Cloud computing is therefore one of the attempts that has been established by green computing that allow sharing of resources and shut down some of power-hungry data centres.

Efforts to reduce the energy consumption of computer networks include routing algorithms with sleep-cycle protocols for use in the network nodes [85]. The reduction of power consumption in networks investigated in [86] introduces new methods to control the power port and switching power in network devices by using multi layers in dynamic optimized routing. Also, the
power consumption in computer parts was discussed in [87] and [88], introducing new methods to save energy in the hard disks by controlling the hard disk caching and memory and applying new technologies such as solid state drive technology (SSD).

Green computing is not a new practice in the industry [89]. The roots of energy efficiency computing can be traced back to 1992, when the US Environmental Protection Agency initiated an Energy Star program to promote energy efficient computing products [90]. Although green technology in the ICT sector covers a vast domain, it is limited to practices such as thermal management constraints [91] that help ICT companies reduce their contribution to greenhouse gas emission.

Research and innovation is developing new technologies to reduce the power consumption of ICT technology; however, this technology also has to be used. Green IT or green computing are umbrella terms referring to environmentally sound information technologies and systems, applications and practices [92]. The term often implies a focus on business rather than exclusively technical solutions and includes a focus on encouraging the use of energy efficient approaches such as virtualisation, informed purchasing, power management, lifetime analysis and recycling.

The ICT sector can also play an important role in helping other industries to reduce their energy footprint. ICT technologies can help to reduce GHG emissions of other economic sectors, even if the expected increase in the energy consumed by ICT equipment is counted [93, 94]. Kretschmer [95] and Plepys [69] agree that the information and communication technology revolution can be helpful for both the economy and the climate. Laitner [96] and Coroama and Hilty [97] have stated that information technologies can significantly reduce the use of energy, even though the ICT sector was responsible for about 2% of global GHG emissions in 2007 as found in [98]. The use of ICT technologies across other business sectors would lead to a reduction in the power consumption of those sectors. The potential of the ICT sector to help decrease environmental impacts from other sectors is discussed in [99] and Stallo et al. [100] estimate that ICT could potentially reduce global greenhouse gas emissions by 15% by 2020.

ICT use in the education sector is an example of energy conservation. The use of video and audio Internet services could reduce energy consumption by changing the traditional methods of communication. For example replacing transportation services to meet people with the use of video and audio Internet services. Irwin in [101] said that many companies encouraged their employees to use video and web conferencing to reduce air pollution effects. The ICT sector has improved their services to support other sectors that use services such as broadband Internet. This service can be used by the E-commerce sector and TV sector to deliver their services. As stated in [102] the bandwidth increase offered by broadband enables TV via the Internet. Fuhr et al. declared in [103] that E-commerce is based on the Internet spread and it is not affecting the environment. In distance learning offered by the education sector, the Internet service has the potential to decrease the transportation use and the GHG emissions that go with it as people take advantage of these new found educational opportunities [104].

2.3 Communication Networks and Energy Use

Communication networks have become more significant in the ICT sector to support and facilitate network tasks such as data transfer and sharing [105]. Therefore the power consumed by the communication network has increased rapidly [106]. Many studies have addressed the problem of the power consumption increase in communication networks including [107] and [108]. The European Union advised the ICT industry sector to improve the energy efficiency of communications networks and of ICT in general [109]. Over time, communication networks have become the significant consumer of power in the ICT sector. Communications networks contributed about 12% of carbon dioxide in 2002, but it is expected that this will increase by a factor of about 3 by 2020 [110]. Vereecken et al. [111] have examined the consumption of different ICT equipment in 2008 and found that network equipment was consuming about 12% of total ICT energy consumption, PCs were consuming about 5% and data centers were consuming about 12% of the total ICT power consumption globally.

There are many different ways to study the power consumption in network communications. Chabarek et al. [112] have presented a number of simple methods to estimate the energy consumption of network devices. Every network component has been evaluated to calculate a power footprint for a network topology. Two scenarios were compared: one with all devices turned on, and another where only network elements that guarantee the service remained powered on. Some studies, such as [113], have analysed the power consumption of server systems and routers in the US and provid information about the power consumption of office and telecommunication equipment for the year 2000. The results from that study could be helpful to understand the power consumption in communication networks as discussed in this section has focused on three aspects in network communications, these being network hardware, network protocols and resource management [114].

The network communication devices are one of the largest power consumers in the IP network infrastructure. Therefore, some studies, such as [115] and [116] have targeted changing the network devices and using a dynamic link shutdown method to help reduce the power consumption of that device. Because the memory subsystem is a significant contributor to chip power consumption, Issenin and Dutt [117] implemented the synthesis of memory method in the data centre device and other supported methods which can lead to save the power in network on chip. One of the earliest studies of those dedicated to measureing the energy consumed by the new technology devices was the measurment of computer energy use by [118] and this study was followed by the study of the estimated total power use of office equipment by [119], [120], [121], and evaluation of the efficiency of improvements in that network equipment by [122] and [123].

Putting network elements into sleep modes is one of the key solutions to reducing power consumption of ICT equipment. This technique is also feasible to conserve power in networks as Gupta et al. [124], [125] showed as various components on Local Area Network (LAN) switches were to put sleep during periods of low traffic activity. Considerable effort is being made by large manufacturers such as Intel and Texas Instruments to make electronic devices more efficient [126].

To be able to put network interfaces and devices to sleep, changes to network protocols are required. Gupta and Singh [127] investigated LAN switches and routers and identified a number of concerns. This includes the time it takes to put components into sleep mode, methods to make decisions about whether devices should be put into sleep mode, and which devices in the network should be turned off.

Many studies have examined power savings in the wireless domain for battery operated devices which are often more costly to run. For wireless LANs using the 802.11 protocols, for example, 90% of the communications energy is spent during the radio listening and scanning operations [128]. Improving energy efficiency of base stations in cellular networks is discussed in [129]; while [130] discusses the use of routing control as a means to reduce energy consumption while remaining aware of Quality of Service (QoS) considerations. The authors propose a method using queuing theory and optimisation techniques to distribute traffic so as to reduce the cost function that comprises both energy and QoS. Other ways to reduce the power consumption have been suggested. In studies [30] and [131] into the sleeping stage and the rate adaptation in the communication networks, the designs of two different power management schemes to reduce power consumption in the network were examined. A more recent study suggests the introduction of a new algorithm called GRiDA based on the link utilisation will reduce power consumption [132]. The algorithm switches off selected nodes and links in cases of particular link utilizations.

Another scheme is adapting the rate of network operation to current workload. Other proposals to conserve energy within networks that include using a dynamic link metric method and powering off links have been addressed [133, 134]. Gupta and Singh [135] suggest that there have been very few attempts at saving energy on network interfaces by using low power modes of Ethernet transceivers during periods of inactivity or low utilisation. Bianzino et al. [136] aimed to find routers and links that must be powered on so that total power consumption is minimised which can be achieved by using knowledge of a physical network topology including routers and links, the capacity of each link, the demand traffic, and the energy expenditure of each link and node. Also, the subject of that study is to flow conservation and maximum link utilisation constraints. In order to find the routers and links that must be turned on to minimize the total energy expenditure objective, the researchers used Integer Linear Programming (ILP) to specify the problem.

Gelenbe and Morfopoulou [137] have investigated optimised routing as a power saving mechanism in packet networks to identify the ability to reduce the power consumption in packet networks. Two schemes have been examined; shortest path routing and energy aware routing algorithm These are used to identify their capacity for reducing energy consumption through the proposed algorithm.

Energy efficient management to reduce the power consumption in a network is also discussed in the literature, identifying methods for power management, as well as targeting specific applications and techniques in the communication networks. For example, Chiaraviglio et al. [138] advocate an approach for power aware network management. The proposed method is applied to access networks and involves dynamic network planning based on the volume of traffic so as to reduce the number of active network devices. Recently, Ewa et al. [139] has proposed a framework for backbone network management. Where that study is discussing the minimisation of the energy consumption by considering the backbone network management to minimise energy consumption.

Energy requirements for data centre equipment have increased because of the increasing quantity of the equipment and the quality of the devices themselves. Research is investigating ways to manage and reduce power requirements. [140] and [141] discuss the power saving in servers and server clusters in data centres. These studies look at how the management of power consumption in related devices is addressed and the resulting enhancement of energy consumption by data centre devices and computers.

Kist [142] proposes a mechanism allowing load distribution for large scale server clusters with a load proportional GHG emissions footprint. An energy management mechanism has been proposed by [143] within the IEEE 802.3ah control scheme to switch optical network units to sleep mode and determine a suitable wakeup time schedule at the optical line terminal.

A reduction in power consumption can be achieved by managing traffic over the entire network. Once the Internet is connected to the computers, power consumption will increase. In this context, the application of power management can help to reduce power. One method allowing desktop computers to enter low power modes and retain network connectivity has been presented in [144]. The study shows that there is significant inactive time able to be used for power management.

2.4 Traffic Management and Network Optimisation

Traffic management can be broadly described as an attempt to optimise performance in operational networks based on specific performance objectives. Traditionally, these objectives have related to cost, device utilisation and QoS.

In technological terms this thesis focuses on the traffic management of IP networks to reduce their energy footprint. The energy consumption of networks is directly linked to the number of active devices that are running regardless of if it is forwarding traffic or not. To be able to turn devices off it is necessary to optimise the way traffic is routed in networks. Constraints in this case are QoS and energy use.

Routing is a complex process that involves network topology discovery, route calculations and packet forwarding. Each step has its own challenges. Topology discovery and route computation are done in the router's control plane with the aid of routing protocols, while packet forwarding is performed in a router's forwarding plane. In IP networks, routers in the same logical domain have to use the same routing protocols to enable communication of devices and a network-wide view of the topology. Once routers gather the necessary information through the routing protocol, they can compute next hop information for IP prefixes. Native IP routing protocols are based on next-hop destination-based routing [145]. When forwarding a packet, a router determines the outgoing interface based on the destination address of the packet and forwards the packet to the respective next router. The next router transmits the packet in the same manner and forwards the packet along the shortest path until it reaches its destination.

Routing protocols in IP networks are classified according to the scope of the routing performed. Routing protocols that operate inside an autonomous system, in which routers are under the same administration, are called intra-

domain (interior) routing protocols, also referred to collectively as the Interior Gateway Protocol (IGP). Exterior gateway protocols provide routing between separate autonomous systems [146].

The Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) packet routing protocol [147] is one of the most commonly used interior gateway protocols in IP networks. OSPF uses shortest paths for routing packets, applying the equal-cost multipath (ECMP) principle to cope with multiple shortest paths.

Traffic engineering is using the traffic flow of data entering and leaving the network to optimize network performance. The output of traffic engineering is an optimal set of paths which optimise link loads. The resulting set of paths can be used within the network to optimally control the flow and distribution of traffic across the network. Network congestion is one of the main issues resulting in reduced performance in IP networks. Congestion occurs when network resources are insufficient to accommodate offered load or when there is inefficient mapping of traffic streams to available network resources. However, setting up individual paths and optimally assigning traffic to them is not supported in traditional IGPs such as OSPF [148] and Intermediate System-Intermediate System (IS-IS) [149]. These protocols use shortest path routing with destination based forwarding which makes it difficult to achieve optimal link loads [150]. A forwarding mechanism that allows for a finer granularity, such as Multi Protocol Label Switching (MPLS) [151] is required.

Weight setting is another way to implement basic traffic engineering and load balancing with shortest path routing protocols. The idea was initially proposed by Fortz and Thorup [152]. In this study, a local search heuristic was proposed for optimizing OSPF weights assuming knowledge about the traffic matrix. However, the heuristics generating the weight set is computationally expensive. The cost function evaluation time can be improved as much as 85% using dynamic cost evaluation, when the previous solution and the current solution are only slightly different. It is desirable to do this because, if there is only one or just a few weight changes in the network, most of the routing patterns will not change (i.e. most of the flows are routed as before) with few exceptions; and the dynamic cost evaluation will update these flows only. In [153], Fortz and Thorup formalised the weight setting problem in OSPF/IS-IS networks and highlighted that the problem may be difficult to solve even for moderate sized networks. Other authors have built on their work, for example [154] investigated weight settings under a variety of different network objectives and [155] optimised link delays.

MPLS is significant for traffic engineering as it can direct traffic flows along predefined paths. It provides most of the functionality available from the overlay model that provide the client by emulated leased lines from the service provider which typically uses the virtual circuits of a Frame Relay or ATM service, in an integrated manner, and at a lower cost than the currently competing alternatives such as Frame Relay and ATM for traffic engineering. MPLS also offers the possibility of automating aspects of traffic engineering.

MPLS is a switching technology, which replaces traditional IP packet forwarding with label switching. IP packets are encapsulated in MPLS packets [156] and forwarding decisions within the MPLS domain are based on packet labels. This means packets follow predefined label-switched paths. This results on a much greater routing flexibility. In brief discussion, instead of routing the packets by forwarding packets router by router, paths are established for source-destination pairs. These paths are called label-switched paths (LSPs) and the routers that make up a label-switched network are called label-switching routers (LSRs). MPLS routers encapsulate the packets which are forwarded in a label-switching framework, with special headers called labels. The label contains information that can be used by the router to know the LSP that the packet belongs to. The router will use the ingress port and the LSP information to determine the next hop in the LSP. The network management function uses a set of configuration, performance, accounting and fault management functions. This component also collects traffic statistics that can be used for statistical analysis and capacity planning purposes.

2.5 Dynamic Topologies

The term dynamic topology has been used by the networking community in the past, in particular in the context of circuit switched networks. Dynamic network topology changes have been discussed to give an overview of the potential for power reduction in the networks. The aim in this type of study is to enable recovery from both predictable and unpredictable interruptions and achieve load balancing. Noakes et al. [157] have proposed an adaptive link assignment algorithm for distributed optimization of dynamically changing network topologies and a related routing algorithm [158]. Moose [159] investigates dynamic hierarchical networks that employ adaptive behaviour for variable demands. White et al. [160] introduces an analytical approach that addresses activation and deactivation of links in response to changed traffic conditions. In broad terms, these studies address the problem of a dynamically changing network configuration; however, these address different technology aspects and optimisation problems. These are not directly applicable to energy efficient network configuration. Router placement has been discussed as an option in the context of traffic engineering [161, e.g.], and in the context of wireless networks [162, e.g.]. While these publications do not directly relate to the dynamic topology problem, they discuss techniques that can be combined with the mechanism outlined in this project to offer greater savings.

A few studies do directly relate to dynamic topologies in the context of IP networks. A number of authors have identified power consumption as a main issue in high performance router design [163]. Solutions include the use of optics in routers [164] and energy efficient switching fabric design [165]. Power awareness in network devices has been investigated in [166] to minimise power consumption in network equipment. The authors of this work undertook benchmarking of two routers to estimate power use. Based on these measurements they developed a general model for router energy consumption and formulated the network design problem as a power aware mixed integer program.

Optimisation focuses on allocation of line cards per chassis and chassis over the target network. The optimisation problems are different from the scenarios discussed in this thesis, as routers do not inject or consume traffic. This research uses the reported measurement results to formulate the device power model in Chapter 3. Furthermore, the work in this thesis differs as it does not target a design problem and does not focus on the same level of detail in device configuration, but a generic solution that uses a set of predefined router energy states.

Chiaraviglio et al. [167] introduces a network design problem with the aim to reduce the total power consumed by the network. It outlines the optimisation problem as a linear program and proposes heuristics to solve the problem. The main difference of this approach and the optimisation problems discussed in this thesis are that nodes are unable to consume or inject traffic. In the discussed scenario, only nodes and links that are redundant can be turned off. The problem formulation is similar to classic network design problems with an energy consumption objective.

Chiaraviglio et al. [168] use the results of [167] and evaluate an operational topology with realistic power usage figures for devices and propose a new algorithm that accounts for power consumption of devices. Furthermore, the study focuses on a specific star network topology with three different aggregation levels, whereas this work looks at a generic network topology. In [169] the authors focus on a much larger scale and use analytical and simulation results to estimate redundant network resources worldwide that could be

turned off to save power. A number of studies target specific applications or techniques. Vasic and Kostic [170] present an "online energy-aware traffic management technique" that assumes equipment is able to adapt its power use to utilisation using rate adaptation and sleep states. This approach provides a solution for energy efficient traffic management; it does not address the dynamic topology problem. Wu et al. [171] discuss the routing and wavelength assignment problems with the new objective of reducing network energy consumption. The authors introduce ILP formulation and a number of heuristics to solve the problem. Node and link power down for unused connections in IP over Wavelength Division Multiplexing (WDM) networks is also discussed in [172].

2.6 Conclusion

There is a strong link between GHG emissions and global warming. GHG emissions have been increasing rapidly and are mainly caused by energy consumption. ICT is contributing to these emissions and governments and other organisations around the world have urged the sector to address energy efficiencies and reduce emissions. The main cause of GHG emissions in the ICT sector is the consumption of energy. Activities in the research community have focused on methods to reduce the power consumption in ICT devices such as computers, printers, network devices and data centres. This thesis focuses on the energy footprint of communication networks, specifically IP networks. It proposes traffic engineering techniques and introduces dynamic network topologies in an effort to reduce the number of active network devices.

This chapter has provided a broad overview of the field. Details of related research that pertain to specific work discussed in the remaining chapters are introduced in those chapters.

Chapter 3

Dynamic Topologies as a Multi-Commodity Flow Problem

One approach to increase energy efficiency in communication networks is to adapt the network topology to the network load. This chapter introduces the concept of dynamic network configuration at a topology level. The aim is to establish whether dynamic topologies can lead to energy savings for lightly loaded networks. To address different energy consumption behaviours of router hardware, a generic power model is introduced to serve as the basis for the investigations. Using novel network transformations, a multi-commodity flow problem is formulated that reduces the number of active nodes and links. Key differences to the other approaches are that in this model the nodes potentially emanate and terminate traffic. Four different low power models for routers are investigated and simulation results demonstrate that considerable energy savings are possible using this approach.

3.1 Introduction

Chapter 2 has established the relevance of energy efficiency and global warming. The impact of computer networking on global GHG emissions has also been discussed and potential approaches to reduce energy consumption in communication networks have been introduced. In particular, efforts in regard to hardware, protocols, software, and network management have been introduced. This work focuses on the latter and this chapter introduces mathematical models that allow quantification of possible energy saving by adapting the network topology to traffic demands. The infrastructure of a communication network has to grow with the increase in user demand. This section will briefly introduce the concept of dynamic topologies and multicommodity flow problems.

This research proposes that the network actively change its topology to current traffic conditions. In dynamic topologies, links and routers can be switched into low power mode in response to traffic loads. There are two aspects of interest to this approach: potential savings from dynamically changing network topologies and the dynamics of routing protocols. The former is addressed in this chapter.

The modelling in this chapter focuses on network flows, rather than packets. The network flow assumptions are that classis network algorithms such as shortest path, minimum cost flow, and multi-commodity flow problems are applicable [173]. In this chapter, multi-commodity flow problems with regard to dynamic topologies will be studied. The aim of this work is to identify the potential to minimise the number of active elements in network communication, and therefore is to evaluate potential power savings from using dynamic topologies.

3.1.1 Motivation and Related Works

In addition to the background discussions in Chapter 2, this section briefly discusses related work that is specifically relevant to this chapter. The work in this chapter was undertaken concurrently or ahead of many other studies of energy efficiency in communications networks. The motivation for the problem formulations discussed in this chapter is to identify efficiency gains that are possible by changing network topologies.

Multi-commodity flow problem formulations have been proposed in the context of energy consumption [174, 175]. However, these studies have assumed that nodes are unable to consume or inject traffic. This means that only redundant links or nodes can be switch off. Marsan et al. [176] apply similar optimisation techniques to switching of devices to specific networks to achieve energy efficiency while [177] proposes to switch off links by using the QoS in the given network. Energy efficiency in wireless access networks is discussed in [178] and the power consumption of ad-hoc networks is investigated by [179]. Ledbetter and Smith [180] evaluate efficiency gains in equipment to provide more information and purchasing strategies for clients about how to select and use energy efficient equipment.

The modelling in this chapter uses Mixed Integer Programming (MIP) to solve the multi-commodity flow problems. MIP is a mathematical method that is widely used to solve optimisation problems [181]. ILP derived solutions can be tailored to either maximise or minimise packet delivery costs. In relation to sustainable network routing, ILP have been used to find solutions to the problem of minimising the power consumption in IP networks [182] and to investigate the possibility of switching off interfaces connected to unused links [182].

The research discussed in this chapter focuses on traffic engineering of generic network topologies to identify nodes and links that can be turned off in order to reduce power consumption in operational networks.

3.2 Notation

This section introduces the mathematical notation that will be used throughout this thesis. A network G(N, M) consist of N nodes and M directed arcs. The flow of commodity k on arc (i, j) is denoted as x_{ij}^k and the unit cost of commodity k using arc (i, j) as c_{ij}^k . Arc (i, j) also has a fixed cost $g_{i,j}^k$. This cost is encountered if link (i, j) is active and it is independent of the traffic x_{ij}^k . The capacity of arc (i, j) is denoted by u_{ij} . Similarly, nodes have unit and fixed costs c_i^k , g_i^k and capacities u_i where, in practical telecommunication networks, costs are the same for all k. For this application, different commodities correspond to alternate traffic flows, between other origin destination pairs and the cost is the same for all pairs. h_i^k denotes the nodes standby cost. The constant $b^k(i)$ denotes supplies or demands at node i, $b^+(i)$ is the sum of all supplies at node i and $b^-(i)$ is the sum of all demands at node i. The variables δ_{ij} and δ_i are Boolean values that indicate if arc (i, j) and node i are in use, respectively. Integer constants γ_i and β_i indicate the maximum out-degree and in-degree of nodes, respectively.

Table 3.1 shows a summary of main variables and constants that are used throughout this thesis for the various mathematical models.

3.3 Assumptions and Node Standby Power Model

Power models are essential to estimate the amount of energy a network consumes. In communication networks, the main elements are links and routers. The architecture of routers is complex and the design varies according to size and the purpose of routers. For instance, core routers are different to those that are operating in the network edge [168]. Therefore, it is difficult to propose a universal power model that applies to all routers.

Symbol	Explanation
$\overline{x_{ij}^k}$	The flow of commodity k on arc (i, j) .
c_{ij}^k	The unit cost of commodity k using arc (i, j) .
$g_{i,j}^k$	The fixed cost of commodity k using arc (i, j) .
u_{ij}	The capacity of arc (i, j) .
c_i	The unit cost of node <i>i</i> .
g_i	The fixed cost of node <i>i</i> .
u_i	The capacity of node <i>i</i> .
h_i^k	The standby cost of node i and commodity k .
$b^k(i)$	The constant that supplies or demands at node <i>i</i> .
$b^+(i)$	the sum of all supplies at node <i>i</i> .
$b^{-}(i)$	The sum of all demands at node <i>i</i> .
β_i	The integer constant that indicate the maximum
	in-degree of node <i>i</i> .
δ_{ij}	A boolean variable that indicates if
	arc (i, j) is used.
δ_i	A boolean variable that indicate if
	node <i>i</i> is in use.
γ_i	The integer constant that indicate the maximum
	out-degree of nodes.
y_{ij}^{nm}	The flow of the commodity between link (n, m)
	accommodated by arc (i, j) .
ϵ	A small number used as scaling factor.
a^{mn}	A right hand side vector with a positive supply of
	u_{ij} in row i and a negative demand of $-u_{ij}$

Table 3.1: Mathematical notation used throughout the thesis

in row j for all links (m, n).

In this section, a number of generic router standby modes are introduced and cover the different router modes. Chabarek et al. [112] outline opportunities for low power and hibernation modes. For the discussions in this chapter, it is assumed that a router features a number of line cards, switching fabric, a main processor and power supply. Line cards are complex and may feature network processors, memory and line drivers. Regardless of the router's power saving state, it is assumed that links can be turned on and off individually, an assumption also used by [112]. Furthermore, for discussion in this thesis, it is assumed that components such as line cards can be powered down automatically.

At a conceptual level, Points of Presence (PoP), or individual Internet service providers' locations, have to handle three types of traffic: terminating traffic, emanating traffic and transit traffic. At a node level, this is related to the ability of nodes to inject or consume traffic. To apply the same concept to the routers, traffic can be local or transit traffic, which means that a local interface handles terminating and emanating traffic.

3.3.1 Standby Options

This research is suggesting that without major redesign, routers could support a number of low power modes, by essentially reconfiguring routers to a switching only mode. In this mode, local connections are bridged to neighbouring routers. This mode largely relies on line cards and switching fabric. Such configurations would be similar to flow based routers [183], and it is suggested that such routers operate at 20% of the power of conventional routers. This proposal is supported by the fact that such modes do not require routing functionality and that lightly loaded switching fabric consumes less power [184].

For the modelling in this research, a generic device is assumed. It has been widely acknowledged that power saving options are very limited in current devices, but emerging hardware will enable the implementation of diverse energy management features [170], [168]. A number of options are possible to allow routers in low power modes to handle terminating, emanating and transit traffic.

Based on these assumptions, a number of standby modes with reduced power consumption are possible and are explained in Figure 3.1.

- (a) *router inactive* neither local nor transit traffic is forwarded.
- (b) router active The node is operating normally, the local traffic is sent and received and the transit traffic is forwarded by any outgoing interface.
- (c) *links-only* only links can be turned off, all nodes remain active.
- (d) *bridged-all* local demands are bridged to one link, terminating traffic is received on one interface only.
- (e) *bridged-local*—local demands are bridged to one link, terminating traffic is received on all interfaces.
- (f) *default-gateway* local traffic and all transit traffic is forwarded via one link only
- (g) *bridged-many* multiple bridged interfaces, with incoming and outgoing links are bridged, including the local to one outgoing link.

Figure 3.1 depicts alternative configurations (a) - (g) to visualise the different options. Arcs on the left of the nodes symbolise terminating traffic, arcs on the right symbolise emanating traffic and arcs on top of nodes indicate local demands. Option (a) and (b) show inactive and fully active states. Option



Figure 3.1: Low power state options

(c) shows that, the nodes are active while the links may be switched off. Option (d) suggests a simple bridge between ports, requiring the least functional support. Option (e) is similar, but it additionally allows for multiple terminating interfaces bridged locally. It does not require intelligence as all traffic is forwarded to the same local interface. Option (f) further allows for transit traffic. It does not require complex routing functionality, as all traffic is forwarded to a default gateway. Option (g) allows for additional interfaces to be bridged that only accommodate transit traffic and is thus outside the scope of this project. This work will focus on the *bridged-all* option for routers in power saving modes as it requires the least functional support in routers.

Reduced versions of the mathematical model that are developed in Section 3.6 can be applied to *bridged-local* and *default gateway*. Option (c) is covered by the model discussed in Section 3.4.1. The key aim of this section was not to propose new router designs, but to evaluate potential gains that dynamic topologies could offer if such standby modes are to be supported by routers. None of the suggested standby options require major redesigns of router hardware and are achievable with only minor changes to existing systems.

3.3.2 Power Consumption Estimates

A power consumption model is important to identify the ability for network power saving. As discussed previously, alternative power models for network devices have been suggested. Identifying actual power consumption values is more difficult as the devices differ in capacity and size. To evaluate the performance of the proposed mathematical models, practical power values are required.

To apply the proposed power model, a set of assumptions are used for the power demands of network devices. Following the discussion in Section 3.3, it is assumed that 10% of router energy consumption is load dependent. This load dependency is caused by functions such as routing table lookup, queuing, and forwarding. The remaining 90% of power consumption is assumed to be load independent.

The power model in this research is supported by a previously proposed energy model, with the power values based on the reported study results [112]. Routers consume a maximum of 600W, with links consuming a maximum of 80W. The power consumption of links is attributed to the line cards in the router. Switching links off and on can therefore be interpreted as a change of the line card mode.

It is assumed that the router has two modes of operation, a fully functional mode and a standby mode which does not support routing functionality. In standby mode, it is assumed that the router consumes 20% of the maximum power. The impact of load dependent power consumption in the low power modes is assumed to be insignificant.

For power calculations, it is assumed that the power consumption of line cards is attributed to the links. Each line card has only one port and the line card can be individually activated or deactivated. As the utilisation of the network processor depends on the traffic load, a higher variability of 20% has been assumed. Furthermore, it is assumed that link capacity is not a factor in power consumption¹, an assumption supported by [127] and [185]. However, the variable power consumption is scaled to the link speed. An unloaded link consumes 80% of the total power and a fully loaded link consumes 100% of the link power. If these models are applied to specific scenarios and technologies, these assumptions can be revised accordingly.

3.4 Multi-Commodity Flow Problem Formulation

The problem formulation is concerned with identifying the potential to apply energy reduction algorithms. To evaluate power reduction in dynamic networks, sets of mathematical models will be introduced and discussed. The presented formulations are based on the multi-commodity flow problem. Ahuja et al. [173] showed that traffic flows can be modelled as a multicommodity flow problem. These can be expressed in link or path flow formulation.

In this section, the aim is to find the minimum topology for a given operational network, i.e. a set of active links and nodes. This minimum topology has to be able to carry all traffic demands. Link and router capacities, the traffic matrix, the fixed and variable power consumption of nodes and links are given; maximum link utilisation and conservation of flows are constraints; and the aim of the problem formulation is to find a topology such that the overall power consumption is minimised.

¹The data rate depends on the hardware of the link and the technology used; which in turn impacts on the power consumption. Links at similar levels of technical maturity consume energy at similar levels.

3.4.1 Intuitive Network Model

This section introduces an intuitive formulation of the dynamic topology problem that only accounts for fixed costs. The goal of the model formulation is to minimise the total cost, Z, of the operating nodes and links in the operational network topology. The equations (3.1) – (3.4) define the dynamic topology problem which accounts for fixed cost, which has instruct the particular capacitated multi-commodity minimum cost flow (CMCF) problem [167]. This problem is related to the optimal network problem [186].

Minimize
$$Z = \sum_{i,j} \delta_{ij} g_{ij} + \sum_i \delta_i g_i$$
 (3.1)

The minimum is subject to balance constraints, Equation (3.2), and bundle constraints, Equation (3.3).

$$\mathcal{N} x^k = b^k \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \dots, K$$
 (3.2)

$$\sum_{k} x_{ij}^{k} \le u_{ij} \delta_{ij} \text{ for all } (i,j) \in A$$
(3.3)

Where:

 \mathcal{N} is the node-arc incidence matrix and b is the right hand side vector that specifies supplies and demands. The balance constraint expresses the conservation of flow, as the sum of all elements b(i) in b must be equal to zero. In the case of network traffic flows, there are only two non zero elements for each b^k : the flow source b(s) and the flow destination b(t). The commodities, k, correspond to the demands between source and destination nodes. Equation (3.3) limits the flows on links to the link capacity u_{ij} . If links are not active, the capacity is zero. Equation (3.4) imposes the additional constraint that if a node is turned off, all connected links are disconnected as well:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \delta_{ij} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \delta_{ji} \le M \delta_i \quad \text{where } M \ge 2N.$$
(3.4)

If nodes do not consume or inject traffic, this formulation leads to practical solutions for core networks at this point, redundant nodes can switch off. If nodes have been assigned demands, the above formulation leads to a solution where all assumed nodes with assigned demands are always active, with only idle links switched off. In cases where the nodes are injecting and consuming traffic, an additional mechanism is required to handle local demands for nodes that are in standby.

3.4.2 Generic Link Flow Formulation

The optimisation problem that is discussed in this chapter is based on the link flow formulation of a multi-commodity flow problem. The formulation is extended by a bypass transformation to formulate an optimisation problem that minimises the number of routers for a given network load. This section discusses the generic problem.

The generic multi-commodity flow problem can be formulated as a mathematical program shown in Equations (3.5) - (3.7) [173]. The aim is to minimise the cost *Z* of the objective function shown, in Equation (3.5).

Minimize
$$Z = \sum_{K} c^k x^k$$
 (3.5)

 c^k is the row vector of link costs, c_{ij}^k ; and x^k is the column vector of link flows, x_{ij}^k . As outlined above, for telecommunication networks, all c^k are equal. The minimum is subject to balance constraints, Equation (3.6), and bundle constraints, Equation (3.7), respectively.

$$\mathcal{N} x^k = b^k \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \dots, K \tag{3.6}$$

$$\sum_{k} x_{ij}^{k} \le u_{ij} \text{ for all } (i,j) \in A$$
(3.7)



Figure 3.2: Extended node splitting transformation: a) original and (b) transformed

As in the previous section, \mathcal{N} is the node-arc incidence matrix and b is the right hand side vector. Without the constraints shown in Equation (3.7), the problem reverts to k single commodity flow problems.

This formulation does not impose capacity restrictions on nodes. However, in computer networks, nodes or routers are the main power consumers. To include node costs c_i , g_i and node capacities u_i , the node splitting transformation can be applied [173]. Nodes, *i* are replaced by a set of additional nodes, *i'* and *i''*, connected by a new arc (*i'*, *i''*). This transformation does not affect the problem formulation, Equations (3.5) – (3.7); however, it changes the problem size. As a consequence of the transformation, the number of nodes is doubled and *n* additional arcs are introduced.

Figure 3.2 (a) depicts an example network with nodes 1, 2 and 3 and the corresponding unit costs c_{12} , c_{13} , fixed costs g_{12} , g_{13} , and capacities u_{12} , u_{13} , respectively. Node 1 has also costs c_1 , g_1 and capacity u_1 assigned. To include these node constraints, Node 1 is replaced by a capacitated link (1', 1''), as depicted in Figure 3.2 (b). Node costs and capacities are reassigned to the new link accordingly. If all nodes in this network are transformed, the number of nodes increases from 3 to 6 and the number of links from two to five.

3.5 Node Bypass Transformation

The aim of this research is to develop a model that minimises the number of nodes in the network required to service a given network load. It also assumes that nodes are injecting and consuming traffic. If nodes are switched to standby mode, they are no longer able to route traffic. Therefore, it is necessary to bridge local demands to one of the neighbouring nodes. As discussed in Section 3.3, this can be done by disconnecting all but one interface. To reflect this in the network model, an extended node transformation in combination with modified problem formulation is proposed.

The goal is to introduce an alternative (virtual) connection to neighbouring nodes that does not rely on routing at the node level. To achieve this, a set of additional arcs are added to the node splitting transformation and additional constraints are introduced that limit the number of active arcs. The algorithm developed to transform the network is depicted in Figure 3.3 and explained in the following paragraphs.

The first main loop (Line 1) is executed for all network nodes *i*: An arc (i', i'') is generated and the node cost and capacity are assigned to the new arc. The out-degree $\gamma_{i'}$ and the in-degree $\beta_{i'}$ of node *i'* are set to one. The fixed cost $g_{i'i''}$ for the new arc (i', i'') is equal to the fixed cost of the original node g_i . While the link cost $c_{i'i''}$ is equal to the node cost c_i of the original node *i*. The capacity of the original node *i* becomes the capacity $u_{i'i''}$ of the newly generated link (i', i''). The loop for all demands *k* (Lines 4 – 8) sums emanating $b^+(i)$ and terminating demands $b^-(i)$ at the current node *i*, respectively. All demands are reassigned to the corresponding dashed nodes in the same loop; emanating demands to once-dashed nodes, terminating demands to twice-dashed nodes. The next loop (Lines 9 – 15) iterates through all arcs that are leaving node *i*. The source node is changed to the twice-dashed node and the out-degree of node *i''* is increased by one. In the next step, bypass links

algorithm node-bypass-transformation

	begin
1	for all nodes <i>i</i>
2	generate arc (i', i'')
3	$\gamma_{i'}=1;$ $\beta_{i'}=1;$ $g_{i'i''}=g_i;$ $c_{i'i''}=c_i;$ $u_{i'i''}=u_i$
4	for all demands k
5	$\mathbf{if} b^k(i) > 0$
6	$b^k(i')=b^k(i); b^+(i)+=b^k(i)$
7	else
8	$b^k(i^{\prime\prime})=b^k(i)$; $b^-(i)+=b^k(i)$
9	for all links (ij) leaving node i
10	change source node to i''
11	$\gamma_{i''}$ + +
12	duplicate the link; change source node to i'
13	$g_{i'j} + = h_i/2$
14	$\mathbf{if} u_{i'j} < b^+(i)$
15	$u_{i'j} = b^+(i)$
16	for all links (ji) terminating at node i
17	change destination node to i'
18	$\beta_{i'} + +$
19	duplicate the link; change destination node to i''
20	$g_{ji''} + = h_i/2$
21	$\mathbf{if} u_{i'j} < b^-(i)$
22	$u_{ji^{\prime\prime}}=b^-(i)$
	end

Figure 3.3: Node Bypass Transformation Algorithm

_

are generated by duplicating the original link and connecting it to the oncedashed node. Costs are also duplicated; however, the capacity is reduced to the size of the emanating demands (Line 15). This limits the traffic on the bypass links to local demands. Half of the node standby power consumption h_i is assigned to the bypass link (Line 13). The final loop (Line 16) iterates through all arcs that are terminating at node *i*. The terminating end of the link is connected to node i' and the in-degree of node i' is increased by one. The arc is duplicated and its destination node is set to node i''. Half of the standby cost is added to the link's fixed cost and the link capacity is limited to the received traffic (Line 22). This transformation has the following effect: If a node is not in a standby mode, traffic is routed via the router link (i', i'')and all newly added bypass links are deactivated. If a node is in power saving mode, arc (i', i'') is deactivated and the node does not forward any transit traffic. Locally generated traffic is forwarded via bypass arcs emanating from node *i'*, which are included between the router ingress (dashed node such as 1') and the destination nodes of the transformed network. As routed and bypass traffic are exclusive, only one arc leaving a dashed node can be used at one time. The additional arcs have the same capacities and costs than the original links. The same applies for terminating traffic: it is either forwarded via the route when it is active; or via one of the bypass arcs terminating at node i'' if the router is in standby mode. As above, only one terminating link at node i'' can be active at one time. A router in standby-mode encounters

the fixed cost h_i . This transformation implements the *bridge-all* option discussed in Section 3.3.

Figure 3.2 (c) depicts an example of this extended transformation. For simplicity, only emanating arcs are shown. If the arc (1', 1'') is active, Figure 3.4 (b) is replicated If either arc (1', 2) or (1', 3) is active, all traffic, originally routed via node 1 is routed via node 2 or 3, respectively. Traffic that originated at node 1 in the original network originates at the ingress, node 1'. The proportional costs of the transformed network are given by Equations (3.8).



Figure 3.4: Extended node splitting transformation: (a) original and (c) extended transformed network

$$c_{1'2} = c_{1''2} = c_{12} , c_{1'3} = c_{1''3} = c_{13} , c_{1'1''} = c_1$$
 (3.8)

and the fixed costs by Equations (3.9) and (3.10).

$$g_{1'2} = g_{12} + h_1/2$$
, $g_{1'3} = g_{13} + h_1/2$, $g_{1'1''} = g_1$ (3.9)

$$g_{1''2} = g_{12} , \ g_{1''3} = g_{13}$$
 (3.10)

To make the transformed network equivalent to the original network, additional constraints are required: only one arc emanating from a once-dashed (such as 1') node can be used at one time and only one arc can terminate at a twice-dashed node at one time. If all arcs (i', i'') are used, the original network is replicated. If for node *i*' another emanating arc (i', j) is active and the corresponding termination arc is active, it is equivalent to a network without router *i* present. In this case, the demands of node *i* are assigned to node *j*. To enforce this limitation, the problem formulation has been adapted as outlined in the following section.

3.6 Node Bypass Problem Formulation

This section outlines changes to the multi-commodity flow problem expressed by Equations (3.5) - (3.7) that are necessary to accommodate the network transformation discussed in Section 3.5.

This formulation uses two additional constants γ_i , and β_i , that limit the outand in-degree of nodes, respectively. For once-dashed nodes, γ_i equals one and for other nodes it is equal to the out-degree that corresponds to their connectivity. For twice-dashed nodes, β_i equals one, for all other nodes β_i is equal to the in-degree. The resulting mixed integer program is given below. The new objective function, Equation (3.11), includes an additional fixed cost g_{ij} for active links.

Minimize
$$\sum_{kij} c_{ij}^k x_{ij}^k + \sum_{ij} \delta_{ij} g_{ij}$$
 (3.11)

Restrictions that are required for the extended transformation are enforced by two additional constraints given in Equation (3.12) and (3.13).

$$\sum_{j} \delta_{ij} = \gamma_i \quad \text{for all } i \in N \tag{3.12}$$

$$\sum_{j} \delta_{ij} = \beta_j \quad \text{for all } j \in N \tag{3.13}$$

As before, the formulation requires mass balance constraints, given in Equation (3.14).

$$\mathcal{N} x^k = b^k \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \dots, K \tag{3.14}$$

If router *i* is active, traffic is routed via arc (*i'*, *i''*), otherwise traffic is forwarded directly between *i'* and one of the connected nodes. To enforce this, the variable δ_{ij} has also to be included in the bundle constraint shown in Equation (3.15).

$$\sum_{k} x_{ij}^{k} \le u_{ij} \delta_{ij} \quad \text{for all } i \in N$$
(3.15)

If feasible solutions exist, these models will find an optimal solution.

The problem formulation above has one limitation: demands can only be bridged for one hop. Therefore, only one router between the demand and next router can be turned off. This limitation is intrinsic to the overall problem formulation. If demands have to be forwarded for more than one hop, this requires routing functionality in the intermediate node and therefore violates the overall problem constraints.

From a modelling perspective, this limitation could be overcome by combining bridged nodes into one node and iteratively applying the optimisation again. However, as discussed above, this would have no practical application for the given problem set. This problem formulation provides a solution for the *bridged-all* standby option. Relaxed versions of the problem formulation can be used to implement *bridged-local* and *default-gateway* options as well.

To enable the *bridged-local* standby option, the following changes are required: Additional arcs for terminating demands are not necessary; therefore, Lines 18-22 in Figure 3.3 can be ignored and the in-degree constraint in Equation (3.13) is redundant. Terminating demands have to be connected to once-dashed nodes. Therefore, Line 8 has to be changed to $b^k(i') = b^k(i)$ and the standby power consumption has to be assigned to one link only; hence, Line 13 has to be changed to $g_{i'j} + = h_i$.

To support the *default-gateway* standby option, the demand limitation of the bypass arcs has to be removed in addition to the changes outlined above; i.e. Lines 14 and 15 have to be removed. As the definitions are less restrictive than the original problem, they lead to simplified transformations and problem formulations. To minimise the network power consumption, costs correspond to energy usage and constraints are link and node capacities. Using this model, the number of routers and links that are necessary to accommodate the traffic can be determined.



Figure 3.5: Test topology – Eight nodes.

3.7 Simulation Configuration

This section discusses numerical results evaluating optimal topologies. These results were found by analysing two test topologies with large sets of traffic matrices. The two discussed topologies do not cover all possible network configurations, but can provide some indicative results.

3.7.1 Test Networks

Two networks are used to evaluate the models; one with eight nodes and 24 unidirectional links; and one with 22 nodes and 86 unidirectional links. The former is inspired by the Australian Telstra network (AS1221) and the latter by a North American backbone. The networks are similar to the topologies that have been identified by the rocket fuel project [187] without including stub networks. The topologies are depicted in Figure 3.5 and 3.6, respectively. For the eight node network, links have nominal capacities of 1 Gbps (dashed



Figure 3.6: Test topology – Twenty Two nodes.

lines) and 10 Gbps (full lines), respectively. If link (ij) exists, link (ji) also exists. Nodes in this network have a capacity of 100 Gbps and do not pose a bottleneck. Traffic matrices for this network include 56 demands, i.e. the traffic demands between all routers.

The experiment used 3327 instances of traffic matrices which have been generated randomly. The matrices reflect traffic demands between origin and destination nodes, but not link utilisation. Realistic traffic matrices feature a demand distribution that reflects the size of the nodes in terms of connected link capacity. For the problem of dynamic topologies such a traffic distribution is advantageous as it accumulates traffic at fewer nodes. This results in more opportunities to put additional nodes into standby modes. A set of randomly generated traffic matrixes therefore underestimates the energy saving potential of a given topology. For the eight node network, random traffic matrixes were chosen as a worst case scenario.

To generalise the results, instances are grouped into 31 sets, according to the total demand of each instance. This traffic data has been used by a number



Figure 3.7: Demand Grouping.

of other studies [188]. For the investigations in this chapter, however, only traffic matrices that have feasible solutions for the eight node network are used.

Figure 3.7 depicts the number of instances included in each group. Most groups include more than 100 instances. Figure 3.7 shows the mean of total traffic demands per instance and corresponding 95% confidence intervals. The total demand changes from 2.64 Gbps to 10.21 Gbps, simulating different network load conditions. The maximum total sustainable demand for this network is approximately 10 Gbps.

The theoretical network capacity, i.e. the sum of all link capacities, is much higher, at 78 Gbps. The difference is due to the situation that demands are routed via a number of links between origin and destination. Furthermore, demands do not exactly match available link capacities. In the absence of any traffic engineering or optimisation, a network is fully loaded once one or more links become congested. The 22 node topology (Figure 3.6) features link capacities between 256 Mbps and 8192 Mbps. Nodes have a capacity of 128 Gbps and therefore do not pose a bottleneck. Traffic matrices for the large network include 462 demands and are based on a gravity model; i.e. highly connected nodes attract more traffic. The process of how these traffic matrices are generated is described in [189].

These traffic matrixes follow the gravity assumption; however, this does not necessarily mean that they provide feasible solutions for the network. The traffic matrix instances are scaled with a load factor to cover the complete range of potential operating conditions. Previous work [189] indicates that this network reaches saturation at a total traffic load of about 60 Gbps. Above this load, individual links become overloaded. The theoretical capacity of this network is 212 Gbps. As discussed above, the value is not of practical relevance in this context. Only traffic matrixes providing feasible solutions for the unmodified network have been included.

3.7.2 Device Power Model

The minimum power consumption of the eight nodes network is limited by the fixed power consumption of eight nodes $(8 \cdot 540 W = 4320 W)$ and 24 links $(24 \cdot 64 W = 1536 W)$, 5856 W. A fully loaded network would consume 6720 W. This marks an upper bound and not a practical value as it implies that all nodes and links are 100% loaded.

For the 22 nodes network, an unloaded network will consume 17,384 W: 11,880 W by nodes and 5504 W by links. If all network nodes and links are fully loaded, the network consumes 20,080 W. These two values mark the performance baseline of the unmodified network.
3.7.3 Integer Linear Programming (ILP) Solver

The open source mathematical programming toolkit GNU LP Solver (GLPK) [190] and the SCIP tool [191] are used to solve the mathematical programs for the test networks. Alternatively, the commercial IBM ILOG CPLEX Optimizer can be used as a solver with reduced runtimes. Practical times to solve the problems vary greatly. On an Intel Xeon Processor E5504, 2GHz with 24 GBytes RAM it takes at most minutes for the 8 node network and on average about 4 hours for the 22 node network. As these problems are known to be NP hard, only a limited size problem number of topologies can be solved. The times are not suitable for online implementations; however, the aim of this chapter is to evaluate performance thresholds, and online algorithms will have to rely on suitable heuristics.

To evaluate performance in this study, it is assumed that link utilisation is a sufficient measure for network performance. This assumption is widely used [192, 193]. If the effective link utilisation is below 100%, performance is acceptable, but above this threshold performance is insufficient. If links are over provisioned, this assumption does not necessarily imply that the actual link utilisation is 100%. All discussions in this chapter refer to effective link utilisation and not the real link utilisation.

3.8 Results

This section presents results that have been found by applying the mathematical model introduced in Section 3.4, to the test setup explained above. Numerical results are presented for the *bridged-all*, *bridged-local* and *defaultgateway* standby options for the eight node network. In addition, the results are compared to the links-only options which correspond to an optimisation model that has been introduced by Chiaraviglio [167]. For the twenty two node network *bridged-all* and *link-only* standby option results are presented.



Figure 3.8: Power consumption versus total demand; eight node network; original network, links-only and bridged-all standby options.

3.8.1 Eight Node Network – Bridged-All

For nodes in standby, locally emanating and terminating traffic is bridged to individual links. Figure 3.8 depicts the network power consumption versus total traffic demand, as a scatter plot for all traffic instances.

The cloud on top (blue \diamondsuit) shows the energy consumption of an unmodified eight node network. In this case all eight nodes are active and the slope shows the impact of the variable network power consumption. As the nodes in this network are over provisioned and variable power consumption is scaled by capacity, the impact of variable power consumption is less than the theoretical maximum would suggest. This baseline depicts the minimum power consumption for an unmodified network.

The cloud below (green \blacktriangle) shows the results for the *link-only* option. In this case, all nodes remain active and only links can be turned off. At lower loads more links can be powered down, which leads to an increased slope. It shows

improvement in comparison with the unmodified network. In both cases, the energy-use increases approximately linearly with demand. For higher loads more links are required and power values approach the baseline.

The lower clouds (red) show the energy consumption for the *bridged-all* option. Five distinct clouds and an additional single value can be identified.

Figure 3.9 depicts the number of active nodes versus the total demands for the same data set. The graph shows similar patterns to Figure 3.8. Individual clouds correspond to the number of active nodes. Three nodes have a fixed power consumption of 1620 W, five nodes in standby consume $5 \cdot 120W = 600W$. The fixed power consumption for a network with three active nodes due to nodes is therefore 2220W; approximately 650W are due to links and load.

For each additional activated node, the fixed power consumption is raised by 420W. The power consumption is reduced considerably in relation to the unmodified network as well as the *links-only* power option. The ability to reduce the network power consumption of the various standby options is discussed in Section 3.8.3 in more detail.

Figure 3.10 depicts grouped results for the number of active nodes that are required to accommodate given traffic loads. The graph shows the average number of nodes that are required for a particular demand group and the corresponding 95% confidence intervals. The graphs are similar to Figure 3.9, but also indicate how general the number of active network nodes is for a particular demand group.

Groups with a large confidence interval have no specific network representations. However, there are three traffic levels that result in a constant number of active nodes. For this particular example, topologies with three, four and seven routers provide topologies that cover a wide range of traffic conditions.



Figure 3.9: Number of active nodes versus total demand; 8 node network; bridged-all standby option.



Figure 3.10: Number of active nodes versus demand groups; eight node network; bridged-all standby option.

Active	Total	Instance count where node # is active							
Count	Instances	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	519	0	29	519	0	25	8	502	498
4	1193	0	873	1193	0	432	93	1069	1112
5	225	0	78	225	1	224	148	225	224
6	210	10	203	210	16	210	201	200	210
7	1171	1	1171	1171	1171	1171	1171	1170	1171
8	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 3.2: Active Node Count

Furthermore, it can be observed in Figure 3.9 that for most cases, seven active nodes are sufficient to service demands. Only one out of 3327 instances requires 8 nodes. These results indicate that implementation of an active dynamic topology network is feasible, especially, if network load levels can be detected, and effects of dynamic traffic rerouting are minimised.

These observations are further supported by Table 3.2. The table shows the frequency of active nodes in relation to the number of active nodes for the eight node network and the *bridged-all* standby option. The second column shows how many instances feature a particular number of the active nodes listed in the first column. The remaining columns show a matrix of how often a node was active as part of the total node count in each row. The table gives an indication of the importance of nodes are in the overall topology. In the network configuration, Node 1 was only used 12 times. In contrast, Node 3 is always active. Nodes 7 and 8 are active most of the time; and Node 6 is active for most of the higher loaded instances.

3.8.2 Eight Node Network – Bridged-Local and Default Gateway

Figure 3.11 depicts a scatter plot of the network power consumption versus the total demand for the *bridged-local* standby option. In this case, locally originating demands of nodes in standby are forwarded via one bridged link, while terminating traffic can be received via all terminating links. As expected, this does not lead to fewer active nodes than the first option. There is no major difference between both bridged options in terms of network power consumption.

Figure 3.13 depicts the number of active nodes versus the demand groups for the same data set. These results are also very similar to the *bridged-all* standby option. The only difference occurs at higher network loads for demand groups 25 to 30, where, for several instances six nodes are sufficient, though the *bridged-all* option requires seven nodes.

Figure 3.12 depicts the power consumption for the *default gateway* node standby option and Figure 3.14 shows the corresponding active nodes versus demand groups plot. This option provides the greatest saving as low demands up to Group 6 require only two active nodes. However, the number of nodes is not as specific as they were for the first two standby examples, as indicated by the higher confidence intervals in Figure 3.14.

3.8.3 Comparison of Power Consumption

Table 3.3 shows the mean power consumption for every fifth demand group for the standby options and quantifies power savings compared to the unmodified network. All three standby power options perform at a similar level for medium to highly loaded networks. For modestly loaded networks, *bridged*-



Figure 3.11: Power consumption versus total demand; 8 node network; original network and bridged-local standby options.



Figure 3.12: Power consumption versus total demand; eight nodes; original network and default gateway standby options.



Figure 3.13: Number of active nodes versus demand groups; 8 nodes; bridged-local standby option.



Figure 3.14: Number of active nodes versus demand groups; eight nodes; default gateway standby option.

Group Number	1	6	11	16	21	26	31
Original [W]	5906	5929	5953	5977	6000	6024	6049
links-only [W]	5071	5155	5288	5425	5532	5674	5778
Savings	14~%	13 %	11%	9 %	8%	6 %	5 %
bridged-all [W]	2848	3280	3455	3552	4663	5214	5328
Savings	52 %	45~%	42 %	41%	22%	13 %	12 %
bridged-local [W]	2847	3135	3453	3550	4419	5173	5322
Savings	52 %	47~%	42 %	41%	26%	14~%	12 %
default gateway [W]	2115	2297	2950	3492	4398	5156	5300
Savings	64~%	61%	50 %	42 %	27%	14~%	12 %

Table 3.3: Power Consumption of the eight Node Network

all and *bridged-local* operate at a similar level, while the default gateway offers the greatest savings. Once the network reaches a load of about 50% to 60%, the number of active nodes increases rapidly and power reductions are lessened.

Power consumption and active node graphs support this observation. This effect of power saving is the same for all standby options. The overall results suggest that *bridged-all* is the best option as it requires the lowest level of functionality and offers excellent power savings. The difference in comparison to the links-only option shows the potential for dynamic topologies to reduce the networks energy footprint.

3.8.4 Twenty Two Node Network – Bridged-All

To complement the comprehensive results discussed for the eight node network topology, this section introduces a smaller set of instances with results

3.9 Discussion

for the 22 node network using the *bridged-all* standby option. The results indicate that when the model is applied to a larger network, with more realistic traffic matrices, similar power savings are possible.

Figure 3.15 depicts the network power consumption versus the total demand as a scatter plot for the 22 node network. The top row of data points (blue \blacklozenge) show the energy consumption of an unmodified 22 node network with all nodes active. This marks the baseline power consumption for the original network. The data points below (green \blacktriangle) show the results for the *link-only* option and the lowest set of data points (red \blacksquare) show the energy consumption.

Figure 3.16 depicts the number of active nodes versus the total demand for the same data set. The minimum number of nodes encountered in this topology is six. This suggests that at least six nodes are necessary to provide sufficient connectivity to service all network endpoints. The minimum fixed power consumption of six active and sixteen standby nodes is 5160W, with approximately 2000 W of additional consumption due to links and loads.

This network has no single network configuration occurring for low loads; however, configurations with between six and ten active nodes can be observed. If the network load increases above around 50%, the number of active nodes increases rapidly. The maximum number of active nodes that are seen for this configuration is 20, suggesting that two nodes are redundant.

3.9 Discussion

The aim of this chapter has been to address the generic network problem of minimising energy consumption for a given traffic load. The study has been based on currently available network hardware. The introduction of standby



Figure 3.15: Power consumption versus total demand; 22 nodes; original network, links-only and bridged-all standby options.



Figure 3.16: Number of active nodes versus total demand; 22 nodes; bridged-all standby option.

3.9 Discussion

options for reduced functionality in routers is envisaged that will yield lower energy footprints. These do not require major architectural changes, but some systems in the network topology have to be adapted. For example power supplies currently consume approximate 30% of the total energy of a router and options are required that these scale with load.

The study of network devices and standby options in routers is important to identify potential reduction in energy consumption. Current routers consume a lot of energy in standby mode and there is significant potential to improve this. Some techniques discussed in Section 3.1.1 could help to address this problem. More advanced devices would have a load proportional power profile. In the models discussed in this chapter, this means that the loadproportional power component is higher than the fixed component. However, the proportion of fixed to variable power consumption has no direct impact on the accuracy of the model. The model will work in the same way for all proportions. Furthermore, if the energy consumption is entirely has only a variable component, then there is no need to turn any nodes off as the network always operates at the most power efficient level. As future devices are likely to have higher load dependent power components, this model can be used to evaluate decision-making thresholds where it becomes uneconomical to turn nodes off. If the variable power component increases, the slope of the lines in the graphs will increase as well because the traffic load has increased, which means more nodes are required to manage the increased traffic load. At the same time, the power saving gap between optimised and original network will reduce.

If networks are able to adapt to traffic demands, network power consumption can be reduced considerably. To allow router standby modes, minor modifications to routers are required. It is worthwhile looking into the protocol dynamic aspects of dynamic topologies, as these mechanisms allow for substantial power savings in communication networks. As these problems are NP-hard, applications are limited to medium sized networks. However, these models can be used in network planning applications and to benchmark the performance heuristics which can be applied to larger networks. Practical online applications of the dynamic topology problem have to rely on local information, as other approaches are not scalable. This point has also been made by Vasic and Kostic [170] and has driven their approach to the problem.

3.10 Conclusion

In the past, most research has sought solutions to the problem by proposing mechanisms to reduce energy consumption in the devices themselves. As demonstrated in this chapter, the power consumption problem can also be addressed by adapting networks to traffic loads.

This chapter has investigated using dynamic topologies to adapt where network traffic demands are changing over time. It has also evaluated the ability of selected dynamic topologies reduce power consumption. This chapter has also introduced a generic multi-commodity flow problem and a generic power model for the power consumption of routers.

This study has shown that the application of dynamic topologies in the communication network can lead to significant power reductions, the target of this investigation. This means that further investigations of the dynamic aspects of this study are feasible.

Conventional routing protocols are not practical for implementing dynamic topologies as they can take several minutes to converge, leading to packet loss and service disruptions. Further investigations have to address questions such as how the transitions between states is managed, how load information is obtained and distributed and how the networks are dynamically reconfigured.

The mathematical models developed are able to be modified to take other aspects into account in the future, such as performance guarantees, service levels and the resilience of the dynamic topologies with multi-commodity flow problems.

Chapter 4

Algorithms to Generate Dynamic Topologies

Network topologies that adapt to the network loads have been investigated in Chapter 3 and theoretical models have been developed that generate reduced topologies for given traffic demands. The complexity of the mathematical program formulations means that only small networks can be readily solved at this time.

Heuristic methods can generate reduced topologies for larger network by applying complex formulations with proper constraints. In this chapter algorithms are introduced that are able to identify routers and links that can be switched off to reduce the power consumption. To do this, these algorithms either evaluate the network load or the capacity of nodes. The performance of the algorithms is compared to the optimal results that were generated in Chapter 3 using mathematical models.

4.1 Introduction

The solutions to solve multi-commodity flow problems, and generate minimal topologies presented in the previous chapter are based on linear programming techniques. The Integer Linear Programming (ILP) formulations are able to generate optimal solutions by using network flow problem formulations. However with increasing network size, these problems becomes too difficult to solve within practical time frames.

In the context of this thesis, a number of heuristics are introduced and investigated in order to identify and find the optimal solutions for the reduction of power consumption in the resulting dynamic topologies. Link utilisation is a simple but suitable measure for network performance and this parameter is widely used by similar studies [192].

It is assumed that system performance is acceptable if the effective link utilisation is below 100%; above this threshold, performance becomes unacceptable. This is only the effective link utilisation and the actual link utilisation has to be below 100%. Some Internet Service Providers (ISPs) maintain actual link utilisation below 50%, otherwise links encounter unacceptable queuing delays and/or packet loss. This project seeks the optimal reduced topology solution based on the link utilisation. All discussions in this chapter refer to effective link utilisation and not to actual link utilisation.

In general, routers are the main energy consumers in conventional communication networks [194]. For this reason, the algorithms focus on techniques that are able to optimise the number of active nodes for a given traffic load and topology. Since routers have a major load-independent power component, network optimisation will optimise the overall network power consumption. The proposed algorithms differ in the type of information used to make decisions about the network topology. Two basic algorithms are investigated: the Lightest Node First (LNF) algorithm relies only on topology information; and the Least Loaded Node (LLN) algorithm that requires traffic data. If nodes are turned off as part of optimisation, their local demands have to be bridged to other nodes. These algorithms have been created based on the concept of algorithm design and analysis outlined in [173].

A number of options have been proposed in Section 3 as to how these demands can be reassigned. In this discussion, local demands of deactivated nodes are transmitted via single emanating links, and terminating demands are received on single interfaces. To deactivate a node, all but one emanating and one terminating arc are removed. In this algorithm, the capacities of the remaining arcs are reduced to equal the demand of the node. This prevents additional traffic being routed via the remaining active arc. It is assumed that networks in this study use shortest path routing, such as the Open Shortest Path First (OSPF).

4.2 The Lightest Node First Algorithm (LNF)

This algorithm relies on topology information to identify nodes and links that can be removed for current traffic loads. The underlying assumption of this algorithm is that nodes which have a higher number of connected links are more important in a network topology.

The LNF algorithm evaluates the gravity of a node, which is the maximum capacity of node, by adding the capacity of all connected links. Nodes with the lowest gravity value are turned off first. The concept of gravity has been used in the context of traffic matrix estimation and network optimisation in other studies [195]. Figure 4.1 shows the pseudo code of the proposed LNF algorithm.

1	calculateNodeGravities()
2	$while \ Link Utilisation < Threshold$
3	removeNodeWithLowestGravity()
4	findAllShortestPaths()
5	loadNetwork()
6	calculateLinkUtilisation()
7	end
8	restoreLastNodeRemoved()

algorithm LightestNodeFirst()

Figure 4.1: The Lightest Node First Algorithm

Initially, the algorithm calculates the gravity of all nodes and creates an ordered list of nodes that could potentially be switched off. As part of the while loop, the node with the lowest gravity is removed (Line 3). The connected links to this node are switched off except for the link that is used to bridge the local demand, which is bridged to the neighbouring node with the highest gravity that can accommodate the additional traffic. The neighbouring node is then removed from the candidate list of nodes that can potentially be turned off. This is necessary as nodes that route bridged demands have to retain their routing functionality and can therefore not be placed into a standby mode. As this was the neighbouring node with the highest gravity it is also unlikely to be turned off.

The shortest path is calculated in the reduced network (Line 4). The network is loaded and the maximum link utilisation is calculated. If the utilisation is below threshold, the loop is executed again. Otherwise the algorithm terminates and restores the last node that has been removed. This restores the last feasible solution set. The resulting set of nodes and active links represents the solution. The running of the algorithm is required time which is complex to measure. The time complexity or the worst case complexity is a function of the problem size and indicates the largest amount of time needed by the algorithm to solve a given network problem. So, the size of a network problem is a function of how the problem is stated. Therefore, the problem size can be expressed as:

$$n\log n + m\log m + m\log C + m\log U \tag{4.1}$$

Where:

n is the number of nodes and m is the number of links. C represent the largest arc cost and U is the largest arc capacity, $m \le n^2$, $\log m \le \log n^2 = 2 \log n$.

The running time of the algorithm could be cnm and by applying the big O notation, the running time will be O(nm). The iteration to find all shortest paths can be specified by $n^3 \log n$ and the iteration for the whole algorithm can be described by n^2m . Therefore, the running time of the algorithm could be expressed as a function of a problem size and the worst case complexity function will be:

$$n^2 m + n^3 \log n \tag{4.2}$$

Also, to ignore the constants, big *O* notation can be used, resulting in:

$$O(n^2m + n^3\log n) \tag{4.3}$$

4.3 The Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm (LLN)

Instead of focusing on the gravity of nodes, this algorithm looks at the traffic load of nodes and the routers with the lightest load are removed first. The underlying assumption is that lightly loaded nodes are less important in the network topology. Figure 4.2 shows the pseudo code of the algorithm.

1	$while \ Link Utilisation < Threshold$
2	removeNodeWithLowestLoad()
3	findAllShortestPaths()
4	loadNetwork()
5	calculateLinkUtilisation()
6	end
7	restoreLastNodeRemoved()

algorithm LeastLoadedNode()

Figure 4.2: The Least Loaded Node Algorithm

As in the LNF algorithm, the main loop tests if link utilisations are below the threshold. If this is the case, the lightest loaded node is identified and deactivated. The shortest paths are calculated and the network is loaded with traffic. To deactivate a node, all but one emanating link and one terminating link are deactivated. The terminating link is assigned to the neighbouring node with the highest load that is able to accommodate the additional traffic, then the node will removed from the list. These steps are executed until at least one link exceeds the utilisation threshold. Then the last node that was removed is returned, restoring the last feasible solution. This set of active nodes and links represents the solution. When considering the calculation time and complexity, the iteration to find all shortest paths can be specified by $n^3 \log n$ and the iteration for the whole algorithm can described by n^3m . Therefore the running time of the algorithm could be expressed as a function of a problem size, with the worst case complexity function being:

$$n^3m + n^3\log n \tag{4.4}$$

Also, the big *O* notation will apply to remove the constants and the equation will be:

$$O(n^3m + n^3\log n) \tag{4.5}$$

4.4 Improved Heuristics using Weight Settings

The algorithms presented here can lead to moderate energy savings because traffic is accumulated in a smaller network without any traffic management. However, network links can become overloaded quickly as nodes are removed. This is particularly seen in networks that use shortest path routing, as these networks are not able to redistribute uneven traffic loads.

One possible solution to this problem is to introduce weight settings. As mentioned earlier, shortest path protocols are the most commonly used interdomain routing protocols. Traffic is forwarded one hop at a time along the shortest path to the destination. By default, link cost is configured as the inverse of the capacity.

The weight of the links that are used by the routing protocol to calculate the shortest paths can be changed by the network operator. The weight setting

technique, originally proposed in [192], optimises link weights. The technique leads to new shortest paths that are able to distribute traffic loads more evenly. These techniques have been widely discussed as a means to address traffic distribution and various efficient methods have been proposed to solve related optimisation problems [196].

Both algorithms, LLN and LNF, can be extended to include weight settings. An additional function, *findOptimalLinkWeights()* is included after the respective *removeNode* functions. The link weight is changed dynamically according to the changes in the active link numbers. The weight setting calculations are based on the algorithms reported in [196] to calculate an optimal weight set which is then used to calculate shortest paths and link loads. Based on the traffic demand for the given topology and applying the method proposed in [196], LP is used to find the new optimal weight settings. After that, the new routing matrix, containing the new weight settings, will be applied to the topology. Other steps in the proposed algorithms however remain the same.

4.4.1 The Lightest Node First Algorithm with Weight Setting

As above, the underlying assumption of this algorithm is that nodes having a higher number of connected links are more important in a network topology. The *LNF Algorithm with Weight Setting* (LNFWS) evaluates the gravity of a node by adding the capacity of all connected links. Nodes with the lowest gravity value are turned off first. Figure 4.3 shows the pseudo code of the modified LNF algorithm with Weight Setting.

The key change in this algorithm is the *findOptimalLinkWeights()* function. It is used to calculate a new optimal link weight set before the shortest paths in the reduced network are calculated. **algorithm** LightestNodeFirst()

1	calculateNodeGravities()
2	$while \ Link Utilisation < Threshold$
3	removeNodeWithLowestGravity()
4	findOptimalLinkWeight()
5	findAllShortestPaths()
6	loadNetwork()
7	calculateLinkUtilisation()
8	end
9	restoreLastNodeRemoved()

Figure 4.3: The Lightest Node First Algorithm With Weight Setting

4.4.2 The Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm With Weight Setting

As before the focus of this algorithm Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm With Weight Setting (LLNWS) is traffic load and the *findOptimalLinkWeight()* function has been added. Figure 4.4 shows the pseudo code of the algorithm.

4.5 Evaluation and Analysis

This section discusses numerical results that have been generated by applying the algorithms to a basic network with a large set of traffic data. The LNF, the LLN, the LNFWS and the LLNWS algorithms have each been implemented in C++ to form a custom tool. The tool calculates shortest paths,

1	while <i>LinkUtilisation</i> < <i>Threshold</i>
2	removeNodeWithLowestLoad()
3	findOptimalLinkWeight()
4	findAllShortestPaths()
5	loadNetwork()
6	calculateLinkUtilisation()
7	end
8	restoreLastNodeRemoved()

algorithm LeastLoadedNode()

Figure 4.4: The Least Loaded Node Algorithm With Weight Setting

loads the network with traffic and calculates link utilisation. Network power consumption is calculated based on link loads and node/link status.

4.5.1 Test Network and Traffic Data

To evaluate the proposed algorithms, a network topology that consists of 8 nodes and 28 directional links has been used. Figure 5.1 depicts the network topology previously introduced and used in Chapter 3. The experiments used a set of 3327 instances of traffic matrices, ranging from lightly to highly loaded. These instances have been classified into 31 demand groups according to load. These groups allow average calculations for typical traffic loads. Total demand varies between 10.21 Mbps and 26.4 Mbps. Further details on traffic data and grouping may be found in Chapter 3.

4.5.2 Network Power Consumption

To evaluate potential reductions in power consumption of the network, power usage is calculated for different traffic loads. The power models in this chapter are based on the assumptions previously discussed in Chapter 3. It is assumed that 90% of router energy consumption is not load dependent and 10% is load dependent. Routers in standby consume 10% of the fixed cost. Power consumption of line cards is attributed to links and 20% of the total power consumption per link is load dependent.

Absolute power values of routers and links are assumed to be 600W and 80W, respectively. Also, it is assumed that the power consumption of links does not depend on their capacity; however, power per Kbps changes as the proportional power consumption is scaled with capacity. The principal results of the study in this chapter are not impacted by the particulars of the power model, such as the ratio between fixed and variable power consumption. A larger proportion of variable power would only increase the slope in the power consumption graphs in Section 4.6.

4.6 Simulation Results

This section presents numerical results for the network power consumption after applying each of the algorithms. The algorithms have been tested under the same conditions as the models in Chapter 3. The number of active nodes and the overall network power consumption of each algorithm is discussed.



Figure 4.5: Network power consumption, LNF algorithm vs. ILP

4.6.1 Lightest Node First Algorithm (LNF)

The LNF algorithm prioritises nodes by the capacity of their connected links as describe previously. Figure 4.5 depicts a scatter plot of the network power consumption versus the total traffic demand. The top clouds (blue \blacklozenge) shows the power consumption of an unmodified 8 node network and the bottom clouds (green \blacktriangle) show results for the more computationally expensive ILP model. The dark, bold clouds (red \blacksquare) in between depict results for the LNF algorithm. Three distinct clouds can be identified. The cause of different power levels is the number of active nodes. Figure 4.6 depicts the number of active nodes for the same data set. A comparison of cloud patterns in both graphs indicates that the distinct clouds correspond to particular active node counts. For this example network with eight nodes, only configurations with 3, 6, 7 and 8 nodes occur.

Figure 4.7 shows the number of inactive nodes versus demand groups. The bars indicate 95 per cent confidence intervals. For lightly loaded networks a topology with 3 nodes is sufficient; highly load instances require 8 active nodes.



Figure 4.6: Active nodes, LNF algorithm



Figure 4.7: Grouped results, inactive nodes, LNF algorithm



Figure 4.8: Network power consumption, LLN algorithm vs. ILP

The graphs also demonstrate that the power consumption of the modified networks is below that of the original unmodified network. The effect is more pronounced for lightly loaded networks. This is expected as they provide more opportunities to turn nodes off. The size of the confidence intervals indicates how general the number of nodes is for a particular demand group. For Groups one to three, five nodes are always inactive, while, for group five the number of inactive node varies between two and five.

4.6.2 Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm (LLN)

The LLN algorithm takes the load of each network node into account. A similar set of graphs is presented as for the LNF algorithm. Figure 4.8 depicts a scatter plot of the energy consumption versus the total demand for both the original and the modified networks.

Figure 4.9 depicts a scatter plot of the number of active nodes versus total demand and Figure 4.10 depicts grouped results for the active number of nodes



Figure 4.9: Active nodes, LLN algorithm

versus traffic demand. The bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

For a lightly loaded network, this algorithm leads to greater energy savings. However, for highly loaded networks the algorithm fails to detect redundant nodes in the network topology. The cloud patterns in Figures 4.8 and 4.9 and the larger confidence intervals in Figures 4.10 for this algorithm also suggest a higher variability in topologies for given traffic loads.

4.6.3 Lightest Node First Algorithm With Weight Setting (LN-FWS)

The *LNF Algorithm with Weight Setting* (LNFWS) prioritises nodes by the capacity of connected links as well as considering the weight of each link. Figure 4.11 depicts a scatter plot of network power consumption versus total traffic demand. The top cloud (blue \blacklozenge) shows the power consumption of an unmodified 8 node network, with the clouds below (red \blacksquare) show the results for LNFWS optimised networks. Four distinct clouds can be identified.



Figure 4.10: Grouped results, inactive nodes, LLN algorithm



Figure 4.11: Network power consumption, LNFWS algorithm



Figure 4.12: Active nodes, LNFWS algorithm

Figure 4.12 depicts the number of active nodes for the same data set. As before, distinct clouds correspond to particular active node counts. For this example, in the network of eight nodes, only configurations using either 3,6,7 or 8 nodes occur.

Figure 4.13 shows the number of inactive nodes versus demand groups. The bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. For lightly loaded networks a topology with 3 nodes is sufficient, however, highly load instances require all nodes to be active. The calculated power consumption of the modified networks is below the power consumption of the unmodified network. This effect is more pronounced for lightly loaded networks as these present more opportunities to turn nodes off.



Figure 4.13: Grouped results, inactive nodes, LNFWS algorithm

4.6.4 Least Loaded Nodes Algorithm With Weight Setting (LL-NWS)

The *LLN Algorithm with Weight Setting* (LLNWS) takes the load of network nodes into account. The same set of graphs is presented as for the LNFWS algorithm. Figure 4.14 depicts a scatter plot of energy consumption versus total demand for the original as well as the modified networks. Figure 4.15 contains a scatter plot of the number of active nodes versus total demand and Figure 4.16 shows grouped results for the active number of nodes versus traffic demand. Confidence intervals of 95% are indicated by the error bars. As for the LNFWS algorithm in lightly loaded networks the algorithm leads to greater energy savings. However, for highly loaded networks the algorithm fails to detect the redundant nodes in the network topology. The larger intervals for this algorithm also suggest a higher variability in topologies for given traffic loads, similar to that seen for the LNF algorithm.



Figure 4.14: Network power consumption, LLNWS algorithm



Figure 4.15: Active nodes, LLNWS algorithm



Figure 4.16: Grouped results, inactive nodes, LLNWS algorithm

4.7 Discussion

Numerical results for a number of sample instances are summarised in Table 4.1. The average power consumption is given for the unmodified network, the dynamic configuration derived by each algorithm and the ILP model. The table also compares dynamic topologies with the unmodified static topology.

It is interesting to note that algorithms that apply weight settings exhibit a similar performance to their non-weight setting equivalent. However, for the LLN and LNF algorithms, it can be observed that the flow has low traffic loads. It also produces more specific results for particular demand groups. The higher correlation between demand groups and number of active nodes are visible in Figures 4.5 and 4.7. These results indicate that node capacities are more important than traffic loads in the network.

The situation is mirrored by the LLNWS and the LNFWS algorithms. Again, the LNFWS produces more specific results for higher demand groups, visible in Figures 4.11 and 4.13.

Group #	1	6	11	16	21
Original	5906	5929	5953	5977	6000
LLN	4026	4533	5597	5638	5994
Savings	32%	24%	6%	6%	0.38%
LLNWS	4026	4533	5142	5511	5994
Savings	32%	24%	14%	8%	0.38%
LNF	2851	3538	4610	5376	5977
Savings	52%	40%	23%	10%	1%
LNFWS	2851	3538	4610	4675	5977
Savings	52%	40%	23%	22%	1%
ILP	2848	3280	3455	3552	4663
Savings	52%	45%	42%	41%	22%

Table 4.1: Power Consumption [W] of the eight Node Network

Both algorithms (the LLN and LNF algorithms) are not able to approach the optimal results found by ILP model, for moderately and highly loaded networks. This is partly due to the shortest path algorithms and could be alleviated by weight setting. Using weight setting techniques can reduce the consumption of the power in the reduced network more effectively than algorithms that are not using weight setting techniques. The LFNWS and the LLNWS algorithms are able to calculate the shortest path and link load which leads to prevention of the immediate link becoming overloaded.

4.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, the optimal solution for the traffic load in the dynamic topologies network has been evaluated to emphasise the potential to reduce the power consumption of communication networks. A number of heuristics
4.8 Conclusion

have been proposed in this chapter that assist in finding optimal topologies for given traffic loads. Ultimately, these algorithms attempt to reduce the number of active network elements. All algorithms have been simulated under the same conditions as part of the evaluation.

For the LLN and LNF algorithms, results indicate that even simple optimisation algorithms are able to find topologies with much smaller energy consumption than the original network configuration. The effect is particularly evident in lightly and medium loaded networks. As networks operate around these load levels most of the time, dynamic topologies have the potential to provide significant power savings and consequently reductions in GHG emissions.

While the LNN and LNF algorithms were able to find topologies for lightly loaded nodes, the power reduction results are still below the optimal results for the given topologies as links quickly overload. The LLNWS and LNFWS algorithms presented in this chapter enhance these algorithms and it has been shown that there is reasonable reduction of energy when the weight setting has been applied.

This work has focused on the static case and the results showed that reduced topologies can facilitate a wide range of traffic conditions. Dynamic reconfiguration of networks under load and related implications on the operation of routing protocols will be discussed in Chapter 6. Before this, Chapter 5 investigates network resilience as another constraint of the optimisation problem.

Chapter 5

Dynamic Network Topologies and Network Resilience Constraints

Network resilience to failures is a major concern for network operators and any optimisation scheme must take this into account. This chapter revisits optimal topologies and includes resilience constraints. It introduces the concept of resilient dynamic topologies where networks have the ability to reduce the number of active nodes and links during lightly loaded periods while maintaining resilience to link failures.

The aim in this chapter is to demonstrate how to protect networks from any unexpected link failures. Two mathematical programming models are formulated: One that protects links and one that protects demands. Using a sample network, energy consumption of networks with dynamic topologies and networks with resilient dynamic topologies are compared. The numerical results show that the resulting optimised topologies are resilient to link failures and have smaller energy footprints.

5.1 Introduction

Energy efficiency and network resilience have become a key focus of the commercial as well as research networking communities. Previous chapters have focused on energy efficiency; this chapter explores traffic engineering by employing dynamically changing network topologies with a strong emphasis on network resilience. With the prevalence of IP networks resilience, the ability of a network to sustain faults or disruptions has become a major concern for service providers. An industry survey [197] highlights that reliability, network usability and network fault protection are key concerns for major network carriers. Failures can be caused by fibre cable cuts, for example, but also by natural disasters, such as floods, cyclones and bush fires.

Network resilience in this context refers to the ability of networks to continue to operate despite one or more link failures. Operating networks typically requires balancing loads on the network to ensure effective use of the existing link capacity, ensuring that traffic shifts due to planned equipment maintenance and that unplanned failures do not impact on network users. This already difficult task is further complicated by the application of network reduction procedures by the dynamic topologies proposed in this thesis. As discussed in the previous chapters, the topology in reduced networks will operate with the minimum number of links and nodes. This makes failure critical as no backup resources are allocated. Ensuring resilience to link outages for dynamic topology is a significant step to make this concept usable for operational communication networks.

5.2 Related Works

Resilience in IP networks is an important research area [198] which focuses on detecting and recovering from link and node failures. While a number of mechanisms focus on reachability and the provision of fast rerouting bypass failed network devices [199], the challenges of congestion and performance have not been widely addressed. These aspects are particularly important as hotspots and overloaded links are largely caused by link failures [200].

As overlapping failures can lead to a large number of failure scenarios, mechanisms that rely on their enumeration are not practical [201]. Markopoulou et al. [201] have characterised failures affecting IP connectivity from Intermediate System-Intermediate System (IS-IS) routing updates analysed from an operational IP backbone network. This work proposes a probable failure model that can be used to generate realistic failure scenario and can be used as an input to traffic engineering problems and network design. Wang et al. [202] introduce the Resilient Routing Re-configuration (R3) mechanism as a routing protection scheme. Tests applying R3 have achieved near optimal performance, at least 50% better than existing schemes.

Multi-topology routing [203] is another scheme that has been proposed to protect against link and node failures and improve the mechanisms for fast rerouting [204]. Multiple routing configuration schemes have been shown to guarantee recovery from all single failure scenarios [205]. A single mechanism was used to handle both link and node failures without knowing the root cause of the failure.

Investigations of large scale failures in IP networks [206] show that a new approach for intradomain routing, reactive two phase routing, allows fast recovery from large scale failures with the shortest possible recovery paths. This recovery has succeeded in finding the shortest recovery paths for more than 98.6% of failed routing paths with reachable destinations. The application of path protection and traffic engineering [207] enables reliable data delivery and load balancing.

Any well designed recovery strategy has to take into account the different resilience requirements of the single traffic flows in order to avoid excessive usage of bandwidth for standby links [208]. In the same study, an extension to existing Quality of Service (QoS) architectures was presented as a Resilience-Differentiated QoS (RD-QoS) that integrates the signalling of resilience requirements with the traditional QoS signalling. Multi-path routing and local failure reaction have been investigated in [209] to provide uninterrupted QoS to applications. This means that network resilience has been improved to support real-time applications that required an uninterrupted bandwidth.

Network resilience in multilayer networks has been introduced in [210] and describes key issues associated with the implementation of restoration in a multilayer network. The network resilience in future optical networks has been discussed in [211], focusing on the reliability performance improvement of the optical network and on recovery in multilayers in those networks. Network resilience has been discussed in [212] using shared protection for single link failures.

Kvalbein et al. [213] proposed resilient routing layers as a method for network recovery. The method involves calculating the fully connected topology and subsets, termed layers, which are used to forward traffic in the case of network failures. Details are introduced in [214] to present new scheme for fast recovery from node and link failures.

The researchers have studied network resilience by proposed mechanisms which target link and node failures. The studies have considered protecting links and nodes from failures by address different areas of network communication including routing reconfiguration and topology routing which was discussed earlier. However, the network resilience for dynamic topologies in terms of energy efficiency has not been addressed to date and will be the subject of this chapter.

Some of previous studies have used ILP to formulate the network resilience problem. This work also uses ILP to solve the formulation problem. Also, the network resilience in this study is based on backup of links or demands and rerouting the traffic on the active links and nodes whereas most of studies have addressed the network resilience by discussing ways to quickly recover from network failures and how to reconfigure the network to prevent their failures.

5.3 Problem Formulation

This section introduces two Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MILP) models that result in reduced topologies resilient against single link failures of active links. To protect against link failures, networks can either protect the capacity of individual links; or protect all demands. The former leads to simpler optimisation problems, the latter requires less additional capacity. The aim of these problem formulations is to turn off as many nodes as possible to reduce the fixed power consumption of nodes. Local demands of nodes that are turned off are bridged to neighbouring active nodes. At the same time, the aim is to protect the remaining network against single link failures. This excludes links to nodes that are operating in standby. A link failure for access links to these stub nodes requires the router to power up.

5.3.1 Problem (1) - Links are Protected

The following optimisation problem protects the capacity of all links. The objective function is given in Equation 5.1.

Minimize
$$\sum_{kij} c_{ij}^k x_{ij}^k + \sum_{ij} \delta_{ij} g_{ij} + \epsilon \sum_{ijmn} y_{ij}^{mn}$$
 (5.1)

The aim is to minimise energy consumption, i.e. proportional costs $c_{i,j}^k$ and fixed costs g_{ij} of active nodes and links. Backup traffic y_{ij}^{nm} does not cause any power consumption in operational networks as these flows are used only when links fail. However, additional traffic in the case of a failure should be minimised. Hence the scaling factor ϵ , a small number, is used.

The following constraints are required: Links have to accommodate normal traffic and reserve some capacity for traffic caused by failing links. The balance constraints for both traffic sets are independent. Equation 5.2 shows the mass balance constraint for normal traffic:

$$\mathcal{N} x^k = b^k \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \dots, K$$
 (5.2)

Where:

 \mathcal{N} is the node-arc incidence matrix and *b* is the right hand side vector, which specifies supplies and demands. Equation 5.2 expresses the conservation of flow, as the sum of all elements *b*(*i*) in *b* must be equal to zero. The commodities, *k*, correspond to the demands between source and destination nodes. Equation 5.3 depicts the mass balance constraint for backup traffic that is caused by the failure of link (*n*, *m*):

$$\mathcal{N} y^{mn} = \delta_{mn} a^{mn} \quad \forall (n,m) \in A$$
(5.3)

Where:

 a^{mn} is a right hand side vector with a positive supply of u_{ij} in row i and a negative demand of $-u_{ij}$ in row j for all links (m, n). No artificial links are included, i.e. demands that are emanating from once dashed nodes or terminating at a

twice dashed node are excluded. If the link (m, n) does not exist, a^{mn} equals zero. Equation 5.4 show the bundle constraint. Links have to accommodate all normal flows x_{ij}^k and the backup capacity v_{ij} .

$$\sum_{k} x_{ij}^{k} + v_{ij} \le u_{ij} \delta_{ij} \quad \forall (i,j) \in A$$
(5.4)

The backup capacity constraint is depicted in Equation 5.5.

$$y_{ij}^{mn} \le v_{ij} \quad \forall (n,m) \in A \tag{5.5}$$

 v_{ij} denotes the upper limit for any backup flow on link (i, j). A failing link (n, m) cannot be part of the backup topology. This is enforced by the disjointness constraint in Equation 5.6.

$$y_{ij}^{mn}\gamma_{ij} = 0 \quad \forall \ (i,j) \in A, (n,m) \in A/m = i, n = j$$
 (5.6)

Flow *y* on link (i, j) protects link (m, n) and therefore is not allowed to use link (m, n). γ_{ij} indicates if a link is protected. If γ is equal to zero, the link cannot accommodate backup flows. It is one for all links, except artificial links. The constraints in Equation 5.7 and 5.8 enforce the restrictions that are required for the extended transformation.

$$\sum_{j} \delta_{ij} = \alpha_i \quad \text{for all } i \in N \tag{5.7}$$

$$\sum_{j} \delta_{ij} = \beta_j \quad \text{for all } j \in N \tag{5.8}$$

 α_i and β_j limit the number of links that emanate and terminate at nodes and enforce constraints that are important for extended network transformation.

5.3.2 Problem (2) - Demands are Protected

This MILP protects all demands, not individual links. It adds another dimension to the backup flow variable *y*. The new objective function is depicted in Equation 5.9.

Minimize
$$Z = \sum_{kij} c_{ij}^k x_{ij}^k + \sum_{ij} \delta_{ij} g_{ij} + \epsilon \sum_{ijnm} y_{ij}^{nmk}$$
(5.9)

The introduction of the variable y, representing the backup traffic, is the only modification to the scheme. Equations 5.2, 5.4, 5.7 and 5.8 all still apply. Equation 5.10 shows the updated mass balance constraints for backup traffic caused by the failure of link (n, m) for demand k.

$$\mathcal{N} y^{mnk} = \delta_{mn} b^k \quad \forall (n,m) \in A$$
(5.10)

Disjointness is enforced by Equation 5.11.

$$y_{i,j}^{m,n,k}\gamma_{i,j} = 0 \quad \forall (i,j) \in A, (n,m) \in A/m = i, n = j$$
 (5.11)

Equation 5.12 ensures that v_{ij} marks the upper bound for all backup demands. v_{ij} corresponds to the capacity on link (i, j) reserved for backup flows.

$$\sum_{k} y_{ij}^{mnk} \le v_{ij} \quad \forall (n,m) \in A$$
(5.12)

The key difference between this problem formulation and Problem (1) is the increase in problem size due to the additional dimension introduced by y.

5.4 Evaluation and Analysis of Topologies

This section discusses numerical examples demonstrating how resilience constraints and energy efficiency impact on practical network configurations. Results for different optimisation problems are compared, namely:

- (a) *links only* all nodes are active, only links can be turned off;
- (b) *links only (resilient)* only links can be turned off, the remaining network is resilient to single link failures;

- 97
- (c) nodes and links both links and nodes can be turned off; and,
- (d) *nodes and links (resilient)* both links and nodes can be turned off, the network can cope with single link failures.

Results for (a) and (c) have been obtained using the optimisation problems introduced in Chapter (3). Results for options (b) and (d) are based on Problem (1) discussed in Section 5.3.1. For option (c) the MILP is used with an untransformed network, while for option (d), the transformed network is used. The mathematical programs were solved using the commercial IBM ILOG CPLEX Optimizer 12.4 [215].

5.4.1 Network and Traffic

As in previous chapters, a network with 8 routers and 24 unidirectional links was chosen to limit computing time. The topology is depicted again in Figure 5.1 to allow comparisons with the following figures. As before, links in this network have nominal capacities of 1 Gbps (dashed lines) and 10 Gbps (full lines), respectively. Nodes in this network have a capacity of 100 Gbps and do not pose a bottleneck. Traffic matrices include 56 demands, i.e. traffic between all routers. The experiment uses 3327 instances of traffic matrices generated randomly. The matrices include traffic demands between origin and destination nodes. More details are discussed in Section 3.7.1.

5.4.2 Resulting Topologies

This section presents a comparison of topologies for one lightly loaded traffic instance. The maximum total load of the network is approximately 10.29 Gbps. The traffic instance used loads the network with 2.64 Gbps, 26% of its maximum load. The examples show how the constraints impact on the



Figure 5.1: Test topology - eight nodes

network topology. The original network is depicted in Figure 5.1, while the topologies for *links only* and *links only (resilient)* are depicted in Figures 5.2 and 5.3, respectively. The arrows in Figure 5.2 indicate that all but one link are unidirectional in this case. The network forms two overlapping rings, and as the links are directional, one disconnected link will impact on a number of nodes. This solution is not fault tolerant. In all other cases, links are bidirectional and arrows have been omitted.

The solution in Figure 5.3 for *links only (resilient)* results in a classic ring network. Without capacity limitations, this is the expected result. Figures 5.4 and 5.5 depict the topologies for cases where both nodes and links can be turned off. The former depicts the energy efficiency, the latter the resilient solution. The dark, orange nodes indicate active routers; lightly shaded nodes indicate inactive routers in standby. Inactive nodes are connected to active nodes via one hop. Inactive links have been omitted from the diagram.

Option (3) results in multiple connected star topologies that do not include meshing links. As this topology does not include any redundant links, it is



Figure 5.2: Reduced topology - *links only* – (1).



Figure 5.3: Reduced topology - *links only (resilient) – (2)*.



Figure 5.4: Reduced topology - nodes and links – (3).



Figure 5.5: Reduced topology - nodes and links (resilient) - (4).

vulnerable to link failure. However, links failures here have a lesser impact than in option (1). For the resilient case, active routers form a ring network, the most efficient, resilient configuration. Related power consumption and the number of active nodes and links are discussed in the next section.

5.5 Network Energy Consumption

This section introduces simulation results for the eight nodes networks to demonstrate the changes in the network power consumption. Network energy consumption has been evaluated using the same assumptions as in the previous chapters.

Figure 5.6 shows the total network power consumption against the total demand for the optimisation problems where only links can be activated or deactivated, as in options (1) and (2). Results for the unmodified network are given by the cloud on top (red) square markers (\blacksquare); for the reduced topology by the lower cloud (green) triangles (\blacktriangle) and the cloud in-between indicates the results for the resilient network with (blue) lozenges (\diamondsuit).

The energy consumption increases linearly as traffic load increase. The small steps are caused by the fixed power component of links that are being activated. The power consumption for the resilient network is less than the unmodified network but more than the reduced topology as the resilient solution requires an intermediate number of active links. Above a total load of 6 Gbps, reduced topology resilient solutions no longer exist.

Figure 5.7 depicts the total network power consumption versus the total traffic demand for options (3) and (4). The unmodified network consumption is indicated by the top cloud of (red) square markers (\blacksquare), the reduced topology by the lower cloud of (green) triangles (\blacktriangle) and the cloud in between shows



Figure 5.6: Power consumption versus total demand, *links-only* options.

the results for the resilient network with (blue) lozenges (\diamondsuit). The original network consumes the most energy, increasing linearly with load. Option (4) uses the least amount of energy in case of applying resilient network conditions.

The graph shows distinct steps where the number of nodes change. For higher loads, more active nodes are necessary. The power consumption for the remaining option (3) lies between these two extremes. The graph also exhibits step changes when the number of active nodes change. For most instances above 60 Mbps total traffic, no feasible reduced topology solutions exist: Hence, the optimisation problem (4) no longer yields solutions. This indicates that these traffic matrices result in problems that do not allow for additional backup flows.

Figure 5.8 shows the number of active nodes versus the total traffic demand. Triangle markers (\blacktriangle) indicate the energy efficient option, lozenges (\blacklozenge) the resilient option. Instances where the number of active nodes is zero indicate that the instance has no feasible solution for the resilient optimisation



Figure 5.7: Power consumption versus total demand, nodes and links options.

problem. For unfeasible solutions, normal traffic demands use the links and sufficient backup capacity is not available. The total load this network can carry is approximately 10.29 Gbps, while the highest load the resilient topology can accommodate is 6.86 Gbps, about 67%. Unfeasible instances begin to occur at about 60% load. This is in accordance with the rule of thumb to reserve 50% of link capacities in case of link failures, as solutions were found for all values below 50% of traffic load. The graph also shows that for reduced topologies, for all but one instance, seven nodes are sufficient. For the resilient case, eight nodes are only necessary in a few instances.

5.6 Discussion

The proposed models for network resilience have been presented and simulated in this chapter to emphasise the ability of dynamic topologies to continue to operate when minimum topologies are applied. Two models of the presented formulations have been implemented for network resilience and shown remarkable results.



Figure 5.8: Number of active nodes versus total demand.

The proposed model has been tested under two conditions, the links only option and the link and node option. The implementation of the links only option has shown significant power reduction, however, it was outperformed by the implementation of links and nodes option which showed potential for more energy savings. This is to be expected as switching off links and nodes will save more power than the turning off links only, and increasing the power consumption regression in the links and nodes option is more effective than the links only option. This explanation supports this project's hypothesis based on the traffic load and capacity of the links and nodes in the given network.

The simulation for the first problem formulation took less time than that for the second presented problem formulation. The problem size of the second problem is considerably larger than the first formulation. The results suggest that a formulation protecting the links could be a more practical method to examine network resilience for larger given network topologies. The topologies produced from the simulations, as for example those in Figures 5.3 and 5.5, show that the topology forms a loop shape to protect the topology from any failure.

5.7 Conclusion

The work in Chapter 3 has shown that dynamic topologies can lead to considerable energy savings. The work in this chapter has confirmed that this is also possible while a resilient active core of nodes is maintained. There are a number of avenues how further work could explore network resilience in this context. There is potential to develop more efficient mathematical models than the current ILP formulations, while more suitable heuristics could be developed. Increased efficiency formulations would then allow for larger networks to be analysed.

From a topology perspective, energy efficiency and resilient dynamic topologies are feasible, and could potentially enable significant energy savings. Where these techniques could be used in live networks will largely depend on implementation and operational factors. Potential methods of implementing dynamic topologies in practical networks is discussed in the following chapters.

Chapter 6

Potential Dynamic Topology Implementations

The dynamic topologies concept involves networks adjusting their topology according to the dynamic traffic load. Conventional routing protocols are not suitable to implement such networks as re-routing would cause major disruptions to active traffic. Based on existing protocols [216], [217], two approaches appear to be feasible: extensions to OSPF or MPLS. This chapter briefly summarises how OSPF could be used, but largely focuses on an MPLS based implementation and addressing operational considerations in the context of dynamic topologies. The aim is to enable IP networks to switch between original and reduced topologies without impacting on the performance of individual flows. The proposed mechanisms involve minor changes to MPLS to maintain the transaction states at the network egress, and include a power control for routers. The previous chapters have proposed methods to generate reduced topologies; this chapter will discuss their practical implementation in a real IP network environment.

6.1 Introduction

Dynamic topologies aim to change the number of active routers and links in a network according to traffic load. It is advantageous if unused routers and links enter low power states. Chapter 3 has previously established that dynamic topologies can greatly improve network energy consumption if they are implemented in computer networks. This chapter focuses on how the concept can be implemented in an IP backbone network. The key challenges include maintaining accurate forwarding information in the active devices, detection of changes in traffic loads and the timing of topology changes. The former is addressed in this chapter; the latter will be left to future research.

In principle, traditional routing protocols such as Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) support dynamic reconfiguration. However, it is not feasible to rely on these mechanisms as a means to implement dynamic topologies (DTs), due to the time delay in routing protocols detecting changes in the network and propagating this information. For instance, routing protocols may take several minutes to converge once changes in topologies have been detected. This typically leads to packet loss and packet reordering, disrupting active connections. If topologies change dynamically and rely on existing routing protocols, any changes in topology will directly impact active traffic flows. To implement DTs it is therefore necessary to suggest a mechanism to overcome these issues.

MPLS is an obvious choice as it has been widely used for traffic management and traffic engineering [218]. There has been a lot of work in relation to node and link protection in MPLS networks [219]. Fast rerouting for protected label switched paths have been discussed previously [220], [221]. This method allows networks to respond in case of congestion and link failure by introducing predefined alternative LSPs.

6.1 Introduction

To enable dynamic changes, the proposal in this chapter depends on predefined LSPs for multiple topologies. The concept of multiple MPLS paths and the ability to redirect traffic has also been used in [202]. Dynamic Topology Reconfiguration for energy conservation has been discussed and is a proposed mechanism that conducts traffic engineering in order to dynamically aggregate traffic on particular links, and turn off unused links [222].

Using different label sets, MPLS can support a multitude of topologies where only minor modification to ingress Label Switched Routers (LSRs) are necessary for MPLS to support packet forwarding for dynamic topologies. This chapter proposes the implementation of Dynamic Topologies using MPLS (DTM) and introduces a mechanism that builds on native MPLS forwarding. It adds a network management function, a topology and flow tracker at each ingress label switching router; and a router function that is able to change router power states. It is assumed that routers in this proposal support at least two power states, active power-on state and a standby low power state. In the standby state the router operates a bridge between the access link that accommodates local demands and one core link. The MPLS related modules also remain active to maintain labels and forwarding tables. Details of the low power mode however are outside the scope of this chapter.

Dynamic topologies can potentially be implemented using OSPF or MPLS protocols. The protocols have to be able to maintain multiple topologies in parallel. Extensions to OSPF have been proposed that support multi-topology routing [223] while MPLS natively supports multiple topologies. The next section will describe the OSPF protocol and the multi-topology approach in more detail.

6.2 Topology Management Using Open Shortest Path First (OSPF)

OSPF is widely used as an intra-domain routing protocol [224] in IP networks. Its current version, v2 [148] is defined in RFC2328, and includes several extensions to the initial version. OSPF is a layer 3 link state routing protocol where link state protocols rely on a distributed map concept. Each router maintains an identical database describing the area topology. On this basis, each router calculates and constructs individually the shortest path(s) from itself to any destination in the area. The distribution of the topology information is performed via Link State Advertisement (LSA) and Link State Update (LSU) messages which are flooded to the whole network area when there is a change in the state of the neighbours [225].

Failure detection is based on lower layers using the *Hello* protocol or alarm escalation [226]. Periodically, router sends *Hello* messages on all outgoing interfaces of the router. The neighbouring routers detect these messages. In the case of a router not receiving the *Hello* message from neighbouring routers, the link between the interfaces of the two routers will considered as down until two *Hello* message are received again.

With an ECMP extension of OSPF (Equal Cost Multi-Path), a router evenly distributes the load over the fan of all available shortest paths with equal lowest cost [227]. The main advantages of this approach are to allow better load distribution and a faster reaction to failure. For the routing of the packets either flow-based distribution or round robin based is possible. Flow-based routing avoids the problems of packet reordering. In the case of a link failure the preceding router automatically switches the flows to one of the remaining links of the multi-path fan. This scheme is relatively fast because the reaction is local. One of the significant advantages of OSPF is that it is completely autonomous [228], [229]. Once the network administrator has set up the output interface costs for the routers, the protocol which is active in each router of the system will discover the topology, and react to changes on its own. The network recovery is ensured with this protocol as long as some physical connectivity exists.

OSPF supports several routes to a destination with a different costing associated with each route and rapid convergence when a topology changes. This allows backup routes to be available if a main route goes down. Another advantage is the hierarchical nature of the protocol, which allows OSPF networks to scale very well with little impact upon overall routing overhead [230].

The disadvantage of this protocol is that the detection and signalling of failures is slow when the *Hello* mechanism is used [231]. Moreover, the path computation and update of the forwarding information bases (FIB) take an additional hundreds of milliseconds [232]. Another problem with the OSPF protocol is the difficulty in managing and configuring network topology areas, this adds more complexity to the protocol [233].

Extensions to OSPF have been previously proposed to improve traffic engineering and resilience mechanisms by supporting multi-topology routing [234]. This combines the notion of pre-planned backup structure with the connection-less approach of link-state-based routing. Packets are routed along a shortest-path tree that is calculated at each network router.

MPLS protection mechanisms like *Local Link Protection* can be emulated with multi-topology routing when using one resilient routing topology per failure pattern. However, the number of topologies and routing table quantity can be reduced when a topology is used for multiple failure patterns. Doyle [235] discusses extentions to OSPF to assign a multi-topology identifier to each logical topology where each OSPF interface is assigned one or more multi-topology identifiers to designate what topologies run on that particular interface. Adjacency is established with all neighbours as per usual methods, LSAs and LSPs are tagged with the appropriate multi-topology identifiers, a separate SPF algorithm is run for each topology and then the route entries resulting from the topology-specific SPF calculations are stored in separate routing information databases (RIBs). These extensions make OSPF a feasible implementation for dynamic topologies in IP networks.

OSPF could be implemented to apply the proposed mechanisms in DTs, where routes are calculated for the given topology to find the shortest paths based on the weight setting on active links. This operation is not suitable with DTs because the topology is changing frequently, causing OSPF to calculate the routes after every change. However, the extensions in [235] suggest use of multiple logical topology identifiers. These multi-topology identifiers can then be assigned by transmitting a number to each OSPF interface. That means that the OSPF should identify the topologies frequently to match the proposed changes in the dynamic topologies.

The OSPF method could be implemented in dynamic topologies by computing the shortest path for every node in the network function management and consider the timers for the topology and flow tracker to apply the new topology because OSPF is unable to quickly adapt to short term load variations. In OSPF the router's packet-forwarding decision is based only on the destination address specified in the packet header, then the packet forwarding information should be managed by the network management function.

However, MPLS allows the specification of explicit routes through the network, where the incoming IP packets are classified at the ingress nodes, with labels attached to their headers. Routers within the network then base their forwarding decisions on these labels. This way, the routes through the network topology do not depend on the underlying routing protocol, but rather on the classification and labelling process commenced at the ingress nodes with forwarding information stored in the label switching routers along the way. As a result, MPLS could implement the proposed mechanisms without any extensions as opposed to OSPF, which requires extensive modification.

6.3 Topology Management using MPLS

The key to using dynamic topologies in communication networks is a routing methodology that is able to support multiple topologies simultaneously. This section introduces an approach that relies on Multiprotocol Label Switching (MPLS). MPLS networks feature three basic types of router functions including ingress, egress and transit label switch routers. To support dynamic topologies in MPLS networks only additions to the ingress router function are required. Flow and topology trackers are added while transit and egress LSR functions remain unchanged.

Dynamic Topologies using MPLS (DTM) consist of three components: a central Network Management Function (NMF), a Topology and Flow Tracker (TFT) located at ingress LSRs, and a router Power Management Function (PMF) component in all LSRs.

6.3.1 Network Management Function (NMF)

The NMF is the central management function that controls the other DTM components. It stores a complete representation of all network nodes and links and calculates reduced topologies as well as the corresponding optimal paths. Each topology has its own set of labels that are managed using existing label management mechanisms. Each LSP has an associated topology identification (ID). Optimal topologies are calculated offline.

The NMF tracks network utilisation online and signals topology changes to the TFT and PMF by broadcasting the topology ID to all nodes. On receiving the message the nodes start their relevant switch over functions.

6.3.2 Topology and Flow Tracker (TFT)

This is the key addition in the forwarding path and its purpose is to maintain flow-state for label assignments. Each topology has its own set of labels and topologies are changed by switching the set of label switched paths. To avoid traffic disruptions for short-lived flows during a switch over period, only new flows will be assigned to the new label sets, maintaining the routing of existing flows. Once a change over timer expires, all flows are forced onto the new set of paths.

The scheme relies on two timers to determine the actions that are taken by individual components. The first timer identifies how long a state is maintained for existing flow when the topology is decreased in size; the second timer determines the time before a state is erased in the flow tracker once the topology is increased. If the network size is increased, the flow assignment has to be delayed to give the nodes sufficient time to wake up. This can be managed by the central NMF delaying the topology ID broadcast. Figure 6.1 depicts a flow chart of the flow and topology tracking mechanism that is used in the forwarding path of the router. Once a packet is received, the NMF messages will be identified as a wakeup message or not. If the message is a wakeup message and the node is in standby, then the nodes will power up and send an active node message to the NMF. When the node is not in standby, then active node message will send to the NMF in response to the wakeup message and will continue to monitor NMF messages. Where the NMF message is not a wakeup message, the node will test if it is already powering down through the sleep branch method. If it is already powering down,



Figure 6.1: NMF flow chart of flow and topology tracker.

then the algorithm will continue to monitor for NMF messages. If it is not already powering down, then the new topology ID will activate for all new flows. After that, the timer will start to apply the new topology. After expiration of the timer, old topology will deactivate, and the low power mode will apply with standby node messages sent to the NMF.

6.3.3 Power Management Function (PMF)

The power management function (PMF) is aware of topology changes through broadcast messages. If the network is downsized, the function waits for the traffic to subside and after all flows have been assigned to the new topology, nodes and links are powered down into a standby mode. If the topology size is increased, nodes and links are immediately powered up.

A flow chart of the operation of the PMF is depicted in Figure 6.2. In the illustrated chart, the NMF monitors traffic compared to the threshold. Depending on this comparison, the traffic will be low or high or unchanged. In case of low traffic, the NMF will broadcast a sleep message in the next step in the flow chart and adjust the threshold. After that, the NMF will continue to monitor the traffic. In case of high traffic, the NMF will broadcast a wakeup message with node IDs then adjust the threshold and continue to monitor the traffic. In case of medium traffic flow, the NMF will make no change to the network topology and continue to monitor the traffic.

6.3.4 Operation

The operation of the DTM can be divided into four phases: an offline configuration phase, an online monitoring phase and two online topology change phases; downsize and upsize. Each of these will be discussed in the next pages.





Offline Configuration Phase

It is assumed that the NMF has knowledge of the network topology as well as network traffic levels. Based on the existing network topology, the NMF solves the optimisation problem for a set of different network load levels. This determines active nodes, links and routing for all topologies. The process is dependent on the size of the network and can be done by using an ILP solver such as the commercial IBM ILOG CPLEX Optimizer. As these network problems belong to the class of NP-hard problems [186], larger networks may require specific heuristics to find optimal or near-optimal solutions as discussed in Chapter 4. The results of these offline calculations include a set of reduced topologies, corresponding routes and labels for each traffic level. Based on this information, LSP paths can be pre-computed and configured in the network. Details of the label distribution process are outside the scope of this project, but it is assumed that it relies on native MPLS methodologies.

Online Monitoring Phase

The NMF monitors the traffic load in the network. It gathers details from the individual routers using simple network management protocol (SNMP). When trigger levels for topologies are reached, topology changes are initiated. The producers for each type of change, downsizing and upsizing, are different.

Online Topology Changes (Downsize)

For this transition it is important that nodes are no longer used by traffic before they are shut down. The duration of the topology transition timer is critical as it determines how long it will take before nodes can power down. The following steps are necessary:

- The NMF signals all TFTs the new topology ID and the time out value.
- The TFT immediately routes all new flows via the LSP that correspond to the new topology. Established flows are routed via the original LSP sets. The NMF sets the switch over timer.
- Once the transition timer has expired, all flows are routed via the new set of LSP. At this point established flows will be forced onto new paths.
- Once the unused routers in the topology are no longer handling traffic, the PMF will transition the routers into standby mode.
- The topology transition is complete.

Online Topology Changes (Upsize)

For this transition direction, it is important that routers are powered up before the new label set is activated. The topology transition timer is less critical in this situation. As it does not trigger any further actions, two label sets can be maintained for a longer period. The following steps have to be completed:

- The NMF sends a wake-up signal to all PMF that are attached to routers that are required for the new topology.
- Once the routers are operational, they signal the NMF.
- Once all necessary routers are active, the NMF signals all TFT functions the new topology ID.
- The NMF uses the new topology immediately for all new flows, established flows remain on the old paths. The NMF sets the topology transition timer.
- Once the topology transition timer expires, the TFT routes all traffic via the new paths.
- The topology transition is complete.

The advantage of this approach is that the routing for all topologies is already known by all nodes and the labels are active. Therefore exact synchronisation of the switch over is not necessary.

6.4 Performance of Real Time and Non-Real Time Flows

In broad terms, traffic can be divided into two categories: Elastic TCP traffic and real-time UDP traffic. In the former, the limiting factor is available bandwidth while in the latter, the main limiting factors are delay, jitter and packet loss. This is reflected in different traffic flows such as video on demand and downloads. Both real time and non-real time traffic are relevant in this context, two performance aspects are relevant: link load and disruptions to active flows that are forced onto new links. For the former it is assumed that as long as the link load is below a given threshold, performance is acceptable; an assumption that is widely used in other studies [236]. The latter is further discussed in this section.

Disruptions during changes in topology occur if flows last longer than the timeout period and path latency once the new path changes. If traffic is routed to longer paths, packets are not reordered and no disruptions occur; however, if active flows are routed on a longer path, packet reordering may occur and some subsequent packets might have to be discarded. Figure 6.3 depicts and example of a four node network with an unproblematic change from Path P2 to Path P1 and the switch in the other direction that potentially leads to disruptions for active flows. The associated packet loss is not problematic for non-real time flows as either the transport protocol, (TCP) or the application layer protocol retransmits the lost packets.

The shortest possible path in a network with n nodes is one hop; the longest possible path without loops is (n - 1) hops. An example of this is depicted in Figure 6.3. If the path is changed from Path P1 to Path P2, all packets in flight on all but the last hop will be received out of order. The number of packets that belong to a particular flow and traverse the network at one time depends on packet inter-arrival times and network latency. The example in Figure 6.3



Figure 6.3: Shortest and longest possible path

depicts the worst case topology for this scenario. To estimate the impact of changes to topologies, it is assumed that propagation and transmission delays are the same for all links.

It is possible to calculate a simple relationship between the number of nodes n and the average of lost packets n_p based on the calculation presented in [237]. With an average inter-arrival time of t_i , link latencies t_L , and average node latencies of t_N ; on average, n_p packets are lost during the switch over in the worst case (Equation (6.1)).

$$n_p = \frac{(n-2)(t_N + t_L)}{t_i}$$
(6.1)

As shown in examples from [238] and [237], for an IP telephone call with a packet inter-arrival time of one 120 byte frame every 20ms and a gigabit core network with 10 nodes, about 25 packets are lost in the worst case. In practical networks, changes in path length will only be in the order of several hops. Therefore, if the path is changed to three hops in this example, the impact will be lower and approximately five packets will be lost.



Figure 6.4: Test topology – original(a), reduced(b) and minimal (c).

6.5 Simulation Environment

The well-known network simulator NS-2.34 [239] has been used to demonstrate the operation of network and show the potential impact of topology changes on individual flows. The simulation uses the native MPLS implementation and a custom module to enable flow-aware routing and to switch between topologies. To evaluate DTM performance in MPLS networks and visualise the operation, a core network topology that consists of 4 nodes and 5 bidirectional links is used. This network size is sufficient to investigate the impact on the network protocols. Figure 6.4 depicts the original (a), the reduced (b) and the minimal topology (c). In this example it is assumed that all links have the same capacity and that all traffic is symmetrical. There are 4 variations of topology (b) with the same features. A direct transition from topology (a) to topology (c) is simulated as an example.

Figure 6.5 depicts the overall network topology that was used by the simulator. Link (i, j) exists if Link (j, i) exists. Nodes 8 to 11 represent the core network, i.e. MPLS nodes. The dashed core links are switched off for the reduced topology. Nodes 0 to 7 are traffic sources and traffic sinks; and Nodes 12 to 15 are *DelayBox* nodes that emulate the WAN environment. It is the NS2 equivalent of NetEm [240] and NistNet [241] the well-known WAN emulator.



Figure 6.5: Simulation network toplogy with four core MPLS nodes.

The PackMime Model [242] was used to generate realistic backbone application traffic. The network is loaded via the access Nodes 0, 3, 4 and 7 with background traffic. The traffic model has no direct impact on the operation of the scheme, but it impacts on how many flows are still active when traffic is forced off links. To emulate a complete traffic matrix, twelve source-sink pairs are required. The traffic generators were configured with the default model parameters. In this experiment, all of the traffic generators produce the same amount of traffic and all stub nodes are sources as well as sinks. As a consequence, the traffic is symmetrical and network links have the same traffic profiles in both directions.

UDP traffic was generated as a real-time Voice over IP (VoIP) call using an interval time of 10ms and packet size of 80 bytes [243]. TCP traffic emulates elastic traffic such as downloads. UDP and TCP sources and sinks are connected via Nodes 1, 2, 5 and 6. The capacity of these four access links is 512kbps; all remaining links have a capacity of 10Mbps. This is not representative of the current backbone network, however results can be scaled by a factor of 100/1000 to represent current networks. The reduced capacities allow for practical simulation run times.

To enable flow and topology tracking, additional functions were implemented

as part of the MPLS classifier in NS2. For each flow the active topology ID is stored in a hash table, using the flow ID as the key. Before packets are assigned to LSPs, the applicable topology ID is retrieved from the hash table. Since NS2 maintains a flow ID, no special flow identification was necessary, and a hash over port number and IP addresses.

6.6 Simulation Results – DTM Operations

This simulation focuses on the packet forwarding aspect and not the dynamics of the MPLS network. Simulation results were validated empirically by comparing average flow rates obtained by the simulation with simple models that estimate average flow sizes on links based on fluid models. The key parameter impacting on the network performance during changes in topology is the duration of the traffic flows. If a flow finishes before the forced switchover occurs, there are no performance impacts at the flow level at all.

Figure 6.6 depicts link loads versus simulation time for Link (6,7) and Link (6, 4). In this example, the timeout period has not been set. Imitially, Link (6,7) accommodates traffic between nodes 6 and 7 and Link (6,4) accommodates traffic between nodes 6 and 4. At 50 *s* topologies are changed and new flows originally routed on Link (6,4) are now routed on Link (6,7). The traffic gradually migrates to the new links over the following $35 \ s$, with Link (6,7) evantually no longer carrying any traffic. Practical networks will feature long-lived flows that last much longer and would remain on the links. Therefore it is necessary to introduce a timer to force remaining traffic onto new links. For the remainder of the simulations the topology switchover timer was set to $14 \ s$.

To demonstrate the operation of DTM, a switch over between topology (a) and topology (c) as illustrated in Figure 6.4 was simulated.


Figure 6.6: Load - Link (6,7) and (6,4)



Figure 6.7: Load - Link (6,7).

Figures 6.7 to 6.11 depict link loads as a function of simulation time for the 5 core links. A 30 *s* warm-up period preceded the data gathering. The simulation begins with connected topology. At 70 *s* the reduced topology is activated, at 85 *s* all remaining traffic is forced onto the new links, at 145 *s* the topology is switched back to the original network and at 160 *s* all traffic is forced back onto the original links. The graphs show how the traffic migrates from the links that will be deactivated to the links that remain active. In the reduced topology, Link (4,6) has to carry the additional traffic from Link (5,7) and Link (4,7) has to carry the additional load from both Link (6,7) and Link (5,7). If traffic on the bottleneck link [here Link (4,7)] remains below maximum utilisation,



Figure 6.8: Load - Link(5,7).



Figure 6.9: Load - Link(4,6).



Figure 6.10: Load - Link(4,5).



Figure 6.11: Load - Link(4,7).

the topology changes do not impact on the performance of short lived flows. Flows that are active for longer periods still have to be rerouted.

6.7 Simulation Results – Performance

The previous section has demonstrated how DTM reroutes traffic when topologies are changed; in this section the impact of these changes on the performance of traffic flows is discussed. The impact of the topology changes and the related rerouting will be evaluated by three types of traffic including web requests, real-time traffic and non-real-time traffic. The loaded web traffic uses the details from [244] and [245], packet loss/reordering for real-time traffic (UDP) and throughput for real-time traffic (UDP) and non-real-time traffic (TCP).

6.7.1 Background Web Traffic

To simulate a realistic backbone network scenario, the network is loaded with web traffic. Figure 6.12 and 6.13 depict the link utilisation for two core links, Link (11,10) and Link (8,11), versus the simulation time. The transition be-



Figure 6.12: Link utilisation (8,11)

tween topologies is evident. At 70 seconds the topology is changed from the default to the reduced topology, indicated by the dot-dashed line. All flows that arrive after this time are routed via the reduced topology. The traffic gradually migrates to the new path set. During this period, the previous path set that presents the old network topology is still active and the new path set of the new topology is activate at the same time.

As long as the utilisation remains below the link threshold, there is no performance impact. Established flows remain on their original paths during this period. At 85 *s*, shown by the second dashed line in Figures 6.12 and 6.13, all remaining flows are forced onto the new paths. Link (10,11) is no longer used. At 145 *s*, shown by the third dashed line, the reduced topology will change back to the full topology and the remaining traffic flows will be forced onto the new topology. In this simulation most web related flows are completed before the timer expires. Therefore, there is no noticeable impact on performance to web users.



Figure 6.13: Link utilisation (10,11)

6.7.2 UDP Traffic

Figure 6.14 depicts the packet loss for a single UDP flow between Nodes 1 and 6 traversing Link (8, 11) for the same simulation. As discussed above, the topology changes at 70 seconds to use the new label set of the new topology and at 85 *s* the traffic flows are forced to use the new label set. The figure does not show any explicit impact of these changes to the network topology. Changes between the two network topologies at 145 *s* and 160 *s* are also not identifiable through increased packet loss.

Figure 6.15 shows the throughput of the same UDP flow. The average throughput is around 8kBps (64kbps) as expected. The distinct steps in the graph are caused by variations in the number of packets arriving within the sampling period. Packets are generated at 8kBps. If one additional queued packet arrives in the sampling period; the rate rises to 8.8kBps, and for two packets to 9.6kBps. There are no recognisable changes to the throughput in response to the changes of the network topologies; the UPD flow is not obviously affected.



Figure 6.14: UDP packet loss for the flow between Nodes 1 and 6.

6.7.3 Elastic TCP Traffic

Figure 6.16 depicts the throughput of a TCP connection between Nodes 1 and 6 versus simulation time. The flow traverses Link (8,11). The lines indicate the changes of the network topology. There is no apparent impact on the throughput as a result of the changes in network topology. The throughput largely remains unaffected. Results for other flows in the network, for example, traversing Link (10,11) are very similar in nature and do not show any changes.

6.7.4 Power Savings and Flow State Timers

This section discusses the impact of the length of the timer t on the overall power saving in the network topology. Two aspects are relevant: how long is the timer and how often is the topology changed to a low power state.



Figure 6.15: UDP throughput for the flow between Nodes 1 and 6.

The calculations focus on the fixed power consumption as the network load does not change between topology switches. Therefore it is assumed that the proportional power use remains fairly constant between topologies. Minor changes are possible due to changes in path length.

The maximum power consumption in this network can be calculated using the fixed power consumption of 4 nodes (4*540W=2160W) and the 5 links (5*64W=320W), resulting in a maximum power consumption for the fully loaded network of 2160 W + 320 W = 2480 W.

In the simulated case, the reduced topology consists of one active node and three standby nodes. The power consumption of the routers includes one active router at 540W and three routers in standby 3*60 W = 180 W. The three active links consume 3*64 W = 192 W and so the total minimum power consumption for the reduced topology is 912 W.



Figure 6.16: TCP throughput for the flow between Nodes 1 and 6.

The following model is used to evaluate power savings for different timer settings. Relative energy savings, S, are shown in Equation (6.2) for a network with two topologies: a fully active topology, fa and a reduced topology, rd.

$$S = 1 - \frac{t_{fa} \cdot P_{fa} + t_{rd} \cdot P_{rd} + n_s \cdot t(P_{fa} - P_{rd})}{(t_{fa} + t_{rd}) \cdot P_{fa}}$$
(6.2)

where t_{fa} (s) is the length of the time to apply the fully loaded and reduced topology, t_{rd} (s) is the length of the time to apply the reduced topology, P_{fa} (W) is the power consumption for the fully loaded topology, P_{rd} (W) is the power consumption for the reduced topology, n_s is the number of the changing times, and t (s) is the length of the timer to switch between the topologies. These estimates only account for fixed power consumption and not the load dependent components such as traffic volume. It is assumed that traffic dependent energy use is comparable in both topologies.

Assuming that a network consumes $P_{fa} = 25 \ KW$ in the fully active state and $P_{fa} = 15 \ KW$ in the reduced state, that a topology is switched to the low power state 5 times, and that the network operates for 12 hours in each state and timer t = 0, energy saving are 20%.



Figure 6.17: Relative energy increase

Figure 6.17 depicts the increase in energy consumption versus duration of timer t. The number of changes to reduced topologies in the observed period of 24 hours is the parameter for the curves. The dependencies are linear; however, the impact of the timer on energy saving is minimal, i.e. below 1% for all values in this example.

6.8 Operational Considerations

The previous chapters have shown that, particularly for lightly loaded networks, there is a good chance to find feasible solutions with smaller energy footprints. Optimal solutions for given networks have been discussed in Chapter 3 and it has been shown that multi-commodity flow problems can be readily solved for small and medium size networks. Chapter 4 has demonstrated how reduced topology schemes can be implemented in IP networks. The aspect that has not been addressed yet is how traffic data can be collected and how shifts in load are detected to trigger topology changes. Operational considerations are briefly discussed in this section; in particular how decisions are made to upsize or downsize the network topology.

Link load can be used as a basic information to identify the network load. Network traffic fluctuates over time. Traffic matrices are a concise description of end-to-end traffic demands, but cannot be directly measured in a backbone network. Network optimisation algorithms rely on accurate knowledge of traffic information. Traffic matrix estimation has been an active research area as this data is required by network planning and network management algorithms.

As direct measurement of traffic matrices is not feasible for the large IP networks, most of the traffic matrix measurements are based on the accessible network information that can be gathered by existing network measurement infrastructure. This includes SNMP link loads, sampled NetFlow data and periodic snapshots of network routing configuration.

Different methods have been proposed to generate traffic matrices form available measurements and these can be classified by the data that is used for the estimation. For example, methods using SNMP link loads are proposed in [246–249]. The number of SNMP link loads is usually far less than traffic matrix elements and the accuracy of these approaches is limited to around 10 per cent error. This might pose problems for network management tasks such as fault diagnosis.

The second type of approach, included in [250–252], is to estimate traffic matrices directly from flow measurement sample data gathered on routers. Besides, The traffic matrix has been investigated in [253] to develop an approach to monitoring origin-destination flow in a given network.

Therefore, the link load could be helpful to take the right decision to upsize or downsize the given topology. For each network traffic load, there are number

of topologies those can manage the traffic load. By sorting out the number of topologies based on the link load, the network management can switch between the suitable topologies (upsize or downsize) to manage the traffic load.

6.9 Conclusion

The work discussed in the chapters 3,4,5 has demonstrated that energy savings are possible if the network topology is adapted to traffic load. This chapter has demonstrated how the concept of dynamic topologies can be implemented in practice, and has proposed a mechanism to implement dynamic topologies in IP networks. This method largely relies on native MPLS including an additional network management function requiring a topology and flow tracker and a router power management function.

Relying on multiple active label sets for the various topologies allows the change over not to be time critical. This enables timers that allow most flows to complete before the actual switch over is enforced. The impact on individual TCP and UDP flows having to be rerouted has been investigated. The investigation showed no noticeable impact on either throughput or packet loss for affected flows. In addition, it has been shown that the length of the switching timer has only a minimal impact on overall energy savings.

Future work needs to address the remaining issue of how changes in topology are triggered based on traffic measurements. Similar issues have been widely discussed in the context of network planning and management. If the concept is to be applied to commercial networks, survivability and resilience also need to be incorporated as was alluded to in Chapter 5.

Chapter 7

Conclusions

The previous chapters discussed the concept of dynamic topologies as method of reducing network power consumption. They have shown that dynamic topologies are feasible and have also demonstrated how these could be implemented in IP networks. It provides a summary of the thesis and highlights the main contributions and also discusses further work.

7.1 Summary

The generic router and link power model and the network transformation model have been discussed in detail and a multi-commodity flow problem formulation has been presented to evaluate these. Router, links loads and capacity have been used to formulate the network problem. Linear programming (LP) has been used to find the feasible reduced topology solutions for a given network topology with a set of traffic demands. Also, node bypass transformation has been implemented to evaluate the problem formulation. The energy consumption model has been applied to compute the power saving in the communication networks. As a result, the proposed model has the

7.1 Summary

potential to reduce the number of active devices and consequently is reducing the power consumption.

To address performance limitations of the MILP approach, heuristics were proposed to find reduced topologies for particular networks. Two algorithms were discussed, both relying on link utilisation as a measure to detect overloaded topologies. The algorithms identify optimal topologies and reduce the power consumption for the given network. Shortest path routing has been used to reconfigure routing tables accordingly after redundant links and nodes are removed. Node gravity or node load were used to select candidate nodes for removal. Also, weight setting techniques were employed by the proposed algorithms to prevent link overloads. Evaluation of the algorithms has shown that power savings are possible using these algorithms, in particular for lightly loaded networks.

Network resilience is an important part of communication networks and is a requirement of network operators. Therefore, an enhanced model in chapter 5 was proposed that accounts for resilience constraints for dynamic topologies. The model is based on the generic problem formulation that forms the basis for this project. Two alternative formulations were introduced, one that protected single links and one that protected demands. Both were solved for a sample network using MILP. The results have demonstrated that network topologies can be reduced while maintaining resilience requirements that allow recovery from link failures. The resilient reduced topologies still result in lower energy footprints. The proposed methods were implemented in MPLS to demonstrate the feasibility of the scheme impact on network performance and the performance of individual flows analysed. The study has demonstrated that with minimal changes at the network ingress, MPLS can support dynamic topologies. Traffic shifts occur as anticipated and has minimal impact on existing sessions. The final step was to identify ways to trigger topology changes to either reduce or increase the network size.

7.2 Contributions to this field

The contributions of this thesis are given below:

- Power consumption model have been proposed to measure power usage and then compute power saving in networks.
- A node bypass transformation model was developed to reduce the number of nodes in the networks.
- A problem optimisation formulation for the multi-commodity flow problem was determined and Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MIP) was used to evaluate and reduce the active routers and links.
- Two network topologies have been studied numerically to determine the feasible solutions of the proposed models and the power saving in networks.
- Heuristics have been developed to find the optimal topologies for given networks.
- The power savings of the proposed optimal topologies was estimated.
- OSPF weight settings were introduced to enhance the implementation of the presented heuristics.
- The algorithm performance was analysed by implementing a network emulator.
- Problem formulations have been developed to address the network resilience issues.
- The performance of the network topology under the network resilience conditions was studied.

- Numerical results have been discussed to evaluate the power consumption of networks with and without the resilience conditions.
- A mechanism has been proposed to implement dynamic topologies in MPLS networks by considering minimal changes to the current forward-ing mechanisms.
- Network topology performance in MPLS conditions was investigated by studying the performance of the network on UDP, TCP, real time and non-real time traffic while applying the network changes.
- Network management functions have been designed to change router power states.

7.3 Further Work

The intent of this project was to develop multi-commodity flow problem formulations to minimise network power consumption. Through this thesis, methods have been proposed and the mathematical formulations have been validated using sample topologies. A more comprehensive sample set of topologies will need to be studied to potentially identify patterns that could be exploited by heuristics to find optimal topologies.

Resilience in the dynamic topologies has been covered by protecting demands or by protecting links in given topologies. Other alternative formulations are also possible. Problem sizes of the current formulations are large and can only be solved in practical time frames for small networks. Therefore, it is important to find more efficient problem formulations or heuristics so that larger networks may benefit from dynamic topologies.

Evaluation results in this thesis are based on simulations through this project. The next step is to verify these results and develop a prototype test bed implementation with the key goal to assess the effects of dynamically changing topologies. The test bed could be setup using Linux-based routers and could be used to evaluate the impact of dynamic aspects on performance and power consumption. The power consumption of full-scale routers and interfaces could be extrapolated from dynamic data such as link utilisation and node uptime. Data about sleep modes and power down of routers could be used as parameters. The test bed could then be used to benchmark hardwarelevel power savings options.

This study has proposed a generic router power model; more specific models require further investigations to evaluate realistic hardware options. Router architectures differ based on capacity and size, results in various power models. The power models in this project will have to be adopted to generate results based on specific hardware.

Bibliography

- [1] J. Hansen, M. Sato, R. Ruedy, K. Lo, D. Lea, and M. Medina-Elizade, "Global temperature change," *Proc. of the Nat. Academy of Sciences*, vol. 103, no. 39, pp. 14288–14293, 2006.
- [2] Z. Luo, D. Kley, R. Johnson, G. Liu, S. Nawrath, and H. Smit, "Influence of sea surface temperature on humidity and temperature in the outflow of tropical deep convection," *Journal of Climate*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 1340–1348, 2012.
- [3] R. A. Anthes, R. W. Corell, G. Holland, J. W. Hurrell, M. C. MacCracken, and K. E. Trenberth, "Hurricanes and global warming-potential linkages and consequences," *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 87, no. 5, pp. 623–628, 2006.
- [4] R. Houghton, "Balancing the global carbon budget," *Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci.*, vol. 35, pp. 313–347, 2007.
- [5] R. Pachauri and A. Reisinger, "Climate change 2007: Synthesis report: Part of the working group I contribution to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC)," Cambridge University Press, Tech. Rep., 2007.
- [6] B. Addis, A. Capone, G. Carello, L. Gianoli, and B. Sanso, "Energy-aware multiperiod traffic engineering with flow-based routing," in *Commu*-

nications (ICC), 2012 IEEE International Conference on. IEEE, 2012, pp. 5957–5961.

- [7] J. Narimatsu and R. Sudan, "ICT and low-carbon cities," *Sustainable Low-Carbon City Development in China*, p. 405, 2012.
- [8] F. Mattern, T. Staake, and M. Weiss, "ICT for green: how computers can help us to conserve energy," in *Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Energy-Efficient Computing and Networking*, ser. e-Energy '10. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2010, pp. 1–10.
- [9] M. Uddin and A. A. Rahman, "Techniques to implement in green data centres to achieve energy efficiency and reduce global warming effects," *International Journal of Global Warming*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 372– 389, 2011.
- [10] R. Bolla, F. Davoli, R. Bruschi, K. Christensen, F. Cucchietti, and S. Singh, "The potential impact of green technologies in nextgeneration wireline networks: Is there room for energy saving optimization?" *Communications Magazine, IEEE*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 80–86, 2011.
- [11] G. Koutitas and P. Demestichas, "A review of energy efficiency in telecommunication networks," *Telfor journal*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 2–7, 2010.
- [12] R. S. Tucker, "Green optical communications part II: Energy limitations in networks," *Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 261–274, 2011.
- [13] Y. Zhang and N. Ansari, "Green data centers," Handbook of Green Information and Communication Systems, p. 331, 2012.
- [14] L. Liu, H. Wang, X. Liu, X. Jin, W. B. He, Q. B. Wang, and Y. Chen, "Greencloud: a new architecture for green data center," in *Proceedings of the*

6th international conference industry session on Autonomic computing and communications industry session, ser. ICAC-INDST '09. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2009, pp. 29–38.

- [15] R. Raghavendra, P. Ranganathan, V. Talwar, Z. Wang, and X. Zhu, "No "power" struggles: coordinated multi-level power management for the data center," *SIGOPS Oper. Syst. Rev.*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 48–59, Mar. 2008.
- [16] H. Stevens and P. Christy, "Gartner says more than 1 billion pcs in use worldwide and headed to 2 billion units by 2014," *Gartner, Inc.. Retrieved April*, vol. 22, p. 2010, 2008.
- [17] M. Bray, "Review of computer energy consumption and potential savings," *Dragon Systems Software Limited (DssW)*, 2006.
- [18] K. Kawamoto, Y. Shimoda, and M. Mizuno, "Energy saving potential of office equipment power management," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 915–923, 2004.
- [19] A. Kumar and S. Kannegala, "Green devices and hardware," *Harnessing Green IT: Principles and Practices*, p. 23, 2012.
- [20] G. Philipson, "A green ICT framework understanding and measuring green ICT," Connection Research Services Pty Ltd, Tech. Rep., 2010.
- [21] G. Fettweis and E. Zimmermann, "ICT energy consumption trends and challenges," *The 11th International Symposium on Wireless Personal Multimedia Communications (WPMC 2008)*, 2008.
- [22] S. Zeadally, S. Khan, and N. Chilamkurti, "Energy-efficient networking: past, present, and future," *The Journal of Supercomputing*, pp. 1–26, 2011.
- [23] "Australian computer society policy statement on green ICT," http:// www.ictliteracy.info/rf.pdf/greenictpolicy.pdf, August 2007.

- [24] B. O. Frdric Giroire, Joanna Moulierac, "Minimizing routing energy consumption," *Institute National De Recherche En Informatique Et En Automatique*, 2010.
- [25] F. Idzikowski, L. Chiaraviglio, and E. Bonetto, "EWA: An adaptive algorithm for energy saving in IP-over-WDM networks," in *Networks and Optical Communications (NOC), 2012 17th European Conference on*. IEEE, 2012, pp. 1–6.
- [26] J. Wu, J. Zhang, and M. Savoie, "Lightpath scheduling and routing for green data centres," *Telecommunication Systems*, pp. 1–14, 2011.
- [27] D. Meisner, "Architecting efficient data centers," Ph.D. dissertation, Stanford University, 2012.
- [28] L. Barroso and U. Holzle, "The case for energy-proportional computing," *Computer*, vol. 40, no. 12, pp. 33–37, Dec. 2007.
- [29] C. Bash and G. Forman, "Cool job allocation: measuring the power savings of placing jobs at cooling-efficient locations in the data center," *ATC'07: 2007 USENIX Annual Technical Conference on Proceedings of the USENIX Annual Technical Conference*, pp. 1–6, 2007.
- [30] S. Nedevschi, L. Popa, G. Iannaccone, S. Ratnasamy, and D. Wetherall, "Reducing network energy consumption via sleeping and rateadaptation," in NSDI'08: Proceedings of the 5th USENIX Symposium on Networked Systems Design and Implementation. Berkeley, CA, USA: USENIX Association, 2008, pp. 323–336.
- [31] E. Goma, M. Canini, A. López-Toledo, N. Laoutaris, D. Kostic, P. Rodriguez, P. Yagüe Valentín, and R. Stanojevic, "Insomnia in the access or how to curb access network related energy consumption," ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review - SIGCOMM '11, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 338–349, 2011.

- [32] C. Fraleigh, S. Moon, B. Lyles, C. Cotton, M. Khan, D. Moll, R. Rockell, T. Seely, and S. Diot, "Packet-level traffic measurements from the sprint IP backbone," *Network, IEEE*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 6 – 16, Nov. 2003.
- [33] V. di Norcia, "Global warming is man made: Key points in the international panel on climate change 2007 report," Oxford, UK, Tech. Rep., 2008.
- [34] A. Griffiths, N. Haigh, and J. Rassias, "A framework for understanding institutional governance systems and climate change: The case of Australia," *European Management Journal*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 415–427, 2007.
- [35] C. Hamilton, *Running from the Storm: The development of climate change policy in Australia.* University of New South Wales Press, 2001.
- [36] T. Shiino, "Global warming initiatives by the information services industry," *NRI Papers*, no. 128, 2008.
- [37] A. Kist and A. Aldraho, "Dynamic topologies for sustainable and energy efficient traffic routing," *Computer Networks*, vol. 55, no. 9, pp. 2271 2288, 2011.
- [38] A. Aldraho and A. Kist, "Heuristics for dynamic topologies to reduce power consumption of networks," in *Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference (ATNAC), 2010 Australasian*, 31 2010-nov. 3 2010, pp. 31–36.
- [39] —, "Enhanced heuristics to reduce power consumption of networks using weight setting." Toowoomba, Australia: 2010 Southern Region Engineering Conference (SREC2010), 11-12 Nov 2010.
- [40] ——, "Enabling energy efficient and resilient networks using dynamic topologies." Pisa, Italy: The Second IFIP Conference on Sustainable Internet and ICT for Sustainability (IFIP 2012), 2012.

- [41] —, "Enabling dynamic topologies in communication networks," in Australasian Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference (ATNAC), 2011. IEEE, 2011, pp. 1–6.
- [42] A. Aldraho, A. Kist, and M. Andrew, "Performance investigation of dynamic topologies in MPLS networks." Australia, Gold Cost: International Symposium on Communications and Information Technologies (ISCIT)2012, 2012.
- [43] A. M. Odlyzko, "Internet traffic growth: Sources and implications," in *ITCom 2003*. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2003, pp. 1–15.
- [44] S. Lambert, W. Van Heddeghem, W. Vereecken, B. Lannoo, D. Colle, M. Pickavet, and J. Ferry, "Worldwide electricity consumption of communication networks," *Optics express*, vol. 20, no. 26, pp. B513–B524, 2012.
- [45] M. Paterson, Global warming and global politics. Routledge, 2002.
- [46] J. Stiglitz, "A new agenda for global warming," *The Economists' Voice*, vol. 3, no. 7, 2006.
- [47] A. Schwarzenegger, "Climate change proposed scoping plan appendices," The California Air Resources Board for the State of California, Tech. Rep., 2008.
- [48] J. Olivier, J. Peters, and G. Janssens-Maenhout, "Trends in global CO2 emissions 2012 report," PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, Tech. Rep., 2012.
- [49] C. Butler, R. Chambers, K. Chopra, P. Dasgupta, A. Duraiappah, P. Kumar, T. McMichael, and W. Niu, "Ecosystems and human well-being," *Ecosystems and human well-being a framework for assessment*, pp. 71– 84, 2012.

- [50] L. Tamiotti, "Trade and climate change: a report by the united nations environment programme and the world trade organization," United Nations Environment Programme, Tech. Rep., 2009.
- [51] D. Van Vuuren, M. Meinshausen, G. Plattner, F. Joos, K. Strassmann, S. Smith, T. Wigley, S. Raper, K. Riahi, F. De La Chesnaye *et al.*, "Temperature increase of 21st century mitigation scenarios," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 105, no. 40, pp. 15258–15262, 2008.
- [52] W. Kempton, "Will public environmental concern lead to action on global warming?" *Annual Review of Energy and the Environment*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 217–245, 1993.
- [53] S. Zehr, "Public representations of scientific uncertainty about global climate change," *Public Understanding of Science*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 85– 103, 2000.
- [54] D. Koch, T. C. Bond, D. Streets, N. Unger, and G. R. Van der Werf, "Global impacts of aerosols from particular source regions and sectors," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012)*, vol. 112, no. D2, 2007.
- [55] C. Dey and M. Lenzen, "Greenhouse gas analysis of electricity generation systems," in *Proceedings of the ANZSES Solar 2000 Conference, Griffith University, Queensland, Australia*, vol. 29, 2000.
- [56] M. Lenzen, "Greenhouse gas analysis of solar-thermal electricity generation," *Solar Energy*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 353–368, 1999.
- [57] S. Rao and K. Riahi, "The role of non-CO2 greenhouse gases in climate change mitigation: long-term scenarios for the 21st century," *Energy Journal*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 177–200, 2006.
- [58] E. Sutherland, "Climate change: the contribution of telecommunications," *Communications & Strategies*, no. 76, pp. 61–76, 2009.

- [59] A. K. Saxena, *Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Estimation and Reduction*.Asian Productivity Organization, 2009.
- [60] L. Press, "The state of the Internet: Growth and gaps," in *Proceedings of INET 2000*, 2000.
- [61] R. Litan and A. Rivlin, *The Economic Payoff from the Internet Revolution.* Brookings Inst Press, 2001.
- [62] A. Reitze Jr, "Federal control of greenhouse gas emissions," *Envtl. L.*, vol. 40, pp. 1261–1381, 2010.
- [63] M. Webb *et al.*, "Smart 2020: Enabling the low carbon economy in the information age," *The Climate Group. London*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–1, 2008.
- [64] J. Freeman and C. Kolstad, Moving to markets in environmental regulation: lessons from twenty years of experience. Oxford University Press, USA, 2007.
- [65] R. Willson, "Beyond the inventory: planning for campus greenhouse gas reduction," Society for College and University Planning, Tech. Rep., 2010.
- [66] "Impacts of information and communication technologies on energy efficiency," European Commission, Tech. Rep., 2008.
- [67] J. A. Laitner and K. Ehrhardt-Martinez, "Information and communication technologies: The power of productivity (part ii)," *Environmental Quality Management*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 19–35, 2009.
- [68] K. Bilal, S. Khan, S. Madani, K. Hayat, M. Khan, N. Min-Allah, J. Kolodziej, L. Wang, S. Zeadally, and D. Chen, "A survey on green communications using adaptive link rate," *Cluster Computing*, pp. 1–15, 2012.

- [69] A. Plepys, "The grey side of ICT," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 509–523, 2002.
- [70] C. Lange, D. Kosiankowski, C. Gerlach, F. Westphal, and A. Gladisch, "Energy consumption of telecommunication networks," in *Optical Communication, 2009. ECOC '09. 35th European Conference on*, 2009, pp. 1–2.
- [71] S. Itoh, Y. Kodama, T. Shimizu, S. Sekiguchi, H. Nakamura, and N. Mori,
 "Power consumption and efficiency of cooling in a data center," in *Grid Computing (GRID), 2010 11th IEEE/ACM International Conference on*, 2010, pp. 305–312.
- [72] J. L. Berral, I. n. Goiri, R. Nou, F. Julià, J. Guitart, R. Gavaldà, and J. Torres, "Towards energy-aware scheduling in data centers using machine learning," in *Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Energy-Efficient Computing and Networking*, ser. e-Energy '10. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2010, pp. 215–224.
- [73] E. Pakbaznia and M. Pedram, "Minimizing data center cooling and server power costs," in *Proceedings of the 14th ACM/IEEE international symposium on Low power electronics and design*, ser. ISLPED '09. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2009, pp. 145–150.
- [74] C. D. Patel and A. J. Shah, "Cost model for planning, development and operation of a data center," *Hewlett-Packard Laboratories Technical Report*, 2005.
- [75] "Cisco visual networking index: Forecast and methodology," Cisco and/or its affiliates., Tech. Rep., 2012.
- [76] J. T. Thompson, "Three approaches to green computing on campus," *EDUCAUSE Quarterly Magazine*, vol. 32, no. 3, 2009.
- [77] S. Mingay, "Green IT: The new industry shock wave," *Gartner RAS Research Note G*, vol. 153703, 2007.

- [78] S. Pritchard, "IT going green: Forces pulling in different directions," *Financial Times*, vol. 30, 2007.
- [79] J. Baliga, R. Ayre, K. Hinton, W. Sorin, and R. Tucker, "Energy consumption in optical IP networks," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 27, no. 13, pp. 2391–2403, 2009.
- [80] A. Berl, E. Gelenbe, M. Di Girolamo, G. Giuliani, H. De Meer, M. Dang, and K. Pentikousis, "Energy-efficient cloud computing," *The Computer Journal*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 1045–1051, 2010.
- [81] B. Nordman and K. Christensen, "Greener PCs for the enterprise," *IT professional*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 28–37, 2009.
- [82] "Real prospects for energy efficiency in the united states," Panel on Energy Efficiency Technologies, Tech. Rep., 2009.
- [83] B. Fortenbery and W. Tschudi, "DC power for improved data center efficiency," Tech. Rep., 2007.
- [84] L. Tang, J. Dong, Y. Zhao, and L.-J. Zhang, "Enterprise cloud service architecture," in *Cloud Computing (CLOUD), 2010 IEEE 3rd International Conference on.* IEEE, 2010, pp. 27–34.
- [85] B. Bathula and J. M. H. Elmirghani, "Green networks: Energy efficient design for optical networks," in *Wireless and Optical Communications Networks*, 2009. WOCN '09. IFIP International Conference on, 2009, pp. 1–5.
- [86] Y. Nomura, H. Yonezu, D. Ishii, S. Okamoto, and N. Yamanaka, "Dynamic topology reconfiguration for energy efficient multi-layer network using extended GMPLS with link power control," in *Optical Fiber Communication Conference and Exposition (OFC/NFOEC), 2012 and the National Fiber Optic Engineers Conference,* 2012, pp. 1–3.

- [87] K.-M. Lee, H.-G. Kim, and I.-C. Shin, "Method of controlling hard disk cache to reduce power consumption of hard disk drive used in battery powered computer," 1999, US Patent 5,937,433.
- [88] L. W. Atkinson, "Reducing power consumption in computer memory," 2000, US Patent 6,134,167.
- [89] J. Harris, Green Computing and Green IT Best Practices on Regulations and Industry Initiatives, Virtualization, Power Management, Materials Recycling and Telecommuting. Lulu. com, 2008.
- [90] M. Zelkowitz, Advances in Computers. Elsevier, 2011.
- [91] J. Kim and M. Lee, *Green IT: Technologies and Applications*. Springer Verlag, 2011.
- [92] S. Murugesan, "Harnessing green IT: Principles and practices," *IT pro-fessional*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 24–33, 2008.
- [93] M. Matsumoto, J. Hamano, T. Tamura, and H. Iguchi, "Impacts of ubiquitous society on the global warming problem in 2010." IEEE, 2005, pp. 183–188.
- [94] A. Molla and V. Cooper, "Green IT readiness: A framework and preliminary proof of concept," *Australasian Journal of Information Systems*, vol. 16, no. 2, 2010.
- [95] T. Kretschmer, "Information and communication technologies and productivity growth," *OECD Digital Economy Papers*, 2012.
- [96] J. A. Laitner, "The information and communication technology revolution: Can it be good for both the economy and the climate," *EPA*, *Office of Atmospheric Programs, Washington DC*, 2000.
- [97] V. Coroama and L. Hilty, "Energy consumed vs. energy saved by ICT–a closer look," *Proc. EnviroInfo*, pp. 353–361, 2009.

- [98] Gartner, "Gartner says data centres account for 23 per cent of global ICT CO2 emissions," Press release, 11 October 2007. [Online] at http://www.gartner.com/it/page.jsp?id=530912, 2007.
- [99] J. Malmodin, Å. Moberg, D. Lundén, G. Finnveden, and N. Lövehagen,
 "Greenhouse gas emissions and operational electricity use in the ICT and entertainment & media sectors," *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 770–790, 2010.
- [100] C. Stallo, M. De Sanctis, M. Ruggieri, I. Bisio, and M. Marchese, "ICT applications in green and renewable energy sector," in *Enabling Technologies: Infrastructures for Collaborative Enterprises (WETICE), 2010 19th IEEE International Workshop on.* IEEE, 2010, pp. 175–179.
- [101] F. Irwin, Gaining the Air Quality and Climate Benefit for Telework.World Resources Inst, 2004.
- [102] T. Dodd, "The role of broadband in the quest for environmental sustainability," *Telecommunications Journal of Australia*, vol. 57, no. 2/3, 2010.
- [103] J. Fuhr Jr and S. Pociask, "E-commerce and e-materialization: Broadband and information technologies effects on pollution and greenhouse gas emissions," *Temp. J. Sci. Tech. & Envtl. L.*, vol. 31, pp. 45–149, 2012.
- [104] J. Fuhr and S. Pociask, "Broadband services: economic and environmental benefits," *American Consumer Institute*, 2007.
- [105] S. Murugesan and G. Gangadharan, "Green IT: An overview," *Harnessing Green It: Principles and Practices*, pp. 1–21, 2012.
- [106] J. Gutierrez, T. Riaz, M. Jensen, J. Pedersen, and O. Madsen, "Green network planning model for optical backbones," *Communications: Wireless in Developing Countries and Networks of the Future*, pp. 120–131, 2010.

- [107] J.-i. Kani, "Power saving techniques and mechanisms for optical access networks systems," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 563–570, 2013.
- [108] E. Le Rouzic, E. Bonetto, L. Chiaraviglio, F. Giroire, F. Idzikowski,
 F. Jiménez, C. Lange, J. Montalvo, F. Musumeci, I. Tahiri *et al.*, "Trend towards more energy-efficient optical networks," 2013.
- [109] "EU commissioner calls on ICT industry to reduce its carbon footprint by 20% as early as 2015," EC press release, Tech. Rep., 2009.
- [110] F. Richter, G. Fettweis, M. Gruber, and O. Blume, "Micro base stations in load constrained cellular mobile radio networks," in *Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications Workshops (PIMRC Workshops),* 2010 IEEE 21st International Symposium on, sept. 2010, pp. 357–362.
- [111] W. Vereecken, W. Van Heddeghem, D. Colle, M. Pickavet, and P. Demeester, "Overall ICT footprint and green communication technologies," in *Communications, Control and Signal Processing (ISCCSP),* 2010 4th International Symposium on, march 2010, pp. 1–6.
- [112] J. Chabarek, J. Sommers, P. Barford, C. Estan, D. Tsiang, and S. Wright, "Power awareness in network design and routing," in *In Proc. IEEE IN-FOCOM*, 2008, pp. 457–465.
- [113] F. G. Kurt W. Roth and J. Kleinman, "Energy consumption by office and telecommunications equipment in commercial buildings–volume I: Energy consumption baseline," Tech. Rep., 2002.
- [114] D. Zuckerman, "Green communications-management included," in IEEE International Conference on Communications Workshops (Green-Comm09), 2009.
- [115] E. J. Kim, K. H. Yum, G. M. Link, N. Vijaykrishnan, M. Kandemir, M. J. Irwin, M. Yousif, and C. R. Das, "Energy optimization techniques in cluster interconnects," in *Proceedings of the 2003 international symposium*

on Low power electronics and design, ser. ISLPED '03. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2003, pp. 459–464.

- [116] L. Shi, "Energy-efficient long-reach passive optical networks," Ph.D. dissertation, University pf california, Davis, 2012.
- [117] I. Issenin and N. Dutt, "Data reuse driven memory and network-onchip co-synthesis," *Embedded System Design: Topics, Techniques and Trends*, pp. 299–312, 2007.
- [118] J. Harris, *Technology assessment: Electronic office equipment*. Applied Science Division, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, 1988.
- [119] J. Koomey, M. Piette, M. Cramer, and J. Eto, "Efficiency improvements in US office equipment: Expected policy impacts and uncertainties," *Energy Policy*, vol. 24, no. 12, pp. 1101–1110, 1996.
- [120] L. Norford, A. Hatcher, J. Harris, J. Roturier, and O. Yu, "Electricity use in information technologies," *Annual review of energy*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 423–453, 1990.
- [121] M. Piette, J. Eto, and J. Harris, "Office equipment energy use and trends," Lawrence Berkeley Lab., CA (United States), Tech. Rep., 1991.
- [122] A. Lovins and H. Heede, "Electricity-saving office equipment," *Competitek, Rocky Mountain Institute*, 1990.
- [123] J. Galan-Jimenez and A. Gazo-Cervero, "Elee: Energy levels-energy efficiency tradeoff in wired communication networks," *Communications Letters, IEEE*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 166–168, 2013.
- [124] M. Gupta, S. Grover, and S. Singh, "A feasibility study for power management in LAN switches," in *Network Protocols, 2004. ICNP 2004. Proceedings of the 12th IEEE International Conference on*. IEEE, 2004, pp. 361–371.

- [125] M. Gupta and S. Singh, "Using low-power modes for energy conservation in ethernet LANs," in *INFOCOM 2007. 26th IEEE International Conference on Computer Communications. IEEE*, may 2007, pp. 2451 –2455.
- [126] P. O. Geoff O'Brien, Nicola Pearsall, *The Future of Energy Use*. Earthscan, 2010.
- [127] M. Gupta and S. Singh, "Greening of the Internet," in *Proceedings of the 2003 conference on Applications, technologies, architectures, and proto-cols for computer communications*, ser. SIGCOMM '03. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2003, pp. 19–26.
- [128] C. E. Jones, K. M. Sivalingam, P. Agrawal, and J. C. Chen, "A survey of energy efficient network protocols for wireless networks," *Wirel. Netw.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 343–358, 2001.
- [129] J. Louhi, "Energy efficiency of modern cellular base stations," in *Telecommunications Energy Conference, 2007. INTELEC 2007. 29th International*, 2007, pp. 475–476.
- [130] E. Gelenbe and C. Morfopoulou, "A framework for energy-aware routing in packet networks," *The Computer Journal*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 850– 859, 2011.
- [131] A. Francini and D. Stiliadis, "Rate adaptation for energy efficiency in packet networks," *Bell Labs Technical Journal*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 131– 146, 2010.
- [132] A. Bianzino, L. Chiaraviglio, and M. Mellia, "GRiDA: A green distributed algorithm for backbone networks," in *Online Conference on Green Communications (GreenCom), 2011 IEEE.* IEEE, 2011, pp. 113–119.
- [133] S. Gao, J. Zhou, and N. Yamanaka, "Reducing network power consumption using dynamic link metric method and power off links," *IEEE international student paper contest*, 2009.

- [134] W. Fisher, M. Suchara, and J. Rexford, "Greening backbone networks: reducing energy consumption by shutting off cables in bundled links," in *Proceedings of the first ACM SIGCOMM workshop on Green networking.* ACM, 2010, pp. 29–34.
- [135] M. Gupta and S. Singh, "Dynamic ethernet link shutdown for energy conservation on ethernet links," in *Communications, 2007. ICC '07. IEEE International Conference on*, june 2007, pp. 6156–6161.
- [136] A. Bianzino, L. Chiaraviglio, M. Mellia, and J. Rougier, "Grida: GReen distributed algorithm for energy-efficient IP backbone networks," *Computer Networks*, 2012.
- [137] E. Gelenbe and C. Morfopoulou, "Power savings in packet networks via optimised routing," *Mobile Networks and Applications*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 152–159, 2012.
- [138] L. Chiaraviglio, D. Ciullo, M. Meo, and M. A. Marsan, "Energy-efficient management of UMTS access networks," 2009 21st International Teletraffic Congress (ITC 21), pp. 161–168, 2009.
- [139] E. Niewiadomska-Szynkiewicz, A. Sikora, P. Arabas, and J. Koodziej, "Control system for reducing energy consumption in backbone computer network," *Concurrency and Computation: Practice and Experience*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1738–1754, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cpe.2964
- [140] R. Sharma, C. Bash, C. Patel, R. Friedrich, and J. Chase, "Balance of power: dynamic thermal management for Internet data centers," *Internet Computing, IEEE*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 42 – 49, jan.-feb. 2005.
- [141] C. Lefurgy, K. Rajamani, F. Rawson, W. Felter, M. Kistler, and T. Keller, "Energy management for commercial servers," *Computer*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 39–48, 2003.

- [142] A. Kist, "Modelling of staged routing for reduced carbon footprints of large server clusters," *International Journal of Communication Networks and Distributed Systems*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 28–44, 2011.
- [143] Y. Yan, S. Wong, L. Valcarenghi, S. Yen, D. Campelo, S. Yamashita, L. Kazovsky, and L. Dittmann, "Energy management mechanism for ethernet passive optical networks (EPONs)," in *Communications (ICC), 2010 IEEE International Conference on*. IEEE, 2010, pp. 1–5.
- [144] K. J. Christensen, C. Gunaratne, B. Nordman, and A. D. George, "The next frontier for communications networks: power management," *Computer Communications*, vol. 27, no. 18, pp. 1758 – 1770, 2004.
- [145] R. Gallaher, "An introduction to MPLS," Course Director for Global Knowledge and President of Telecommunications Technical Services, Inc, pp. 1–7, 2001.
- [146] C. Huitema, *Routing in the Internet*. Prentice Hall PTR, 1995, vol. 2.
- [147] M. Pioro, A. Szentesi, J. Harmatos, A. Juettner, P. Gajowniczek, and S. Kozdrowski, "On open shortest path first related network optimisation problems," *Performance Evaluation*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 201–223, 2002.
- [148] J. Moy, "Open shortest path first (OSPF) v2," RFC 2328, IETF: The Internet Engineering Task Force, Tech. Rep., 1998.
- [149] R. Callon, "Use of OSI IS-IS for routing in TCP/IP and dual environments," *Network Working Group, Request for comments:1195*, 1990.
- [150] A. Sridharan, R. Erin, and C. Diot, "Achieving near-optimal traffic engineering," vol. 2, pp. 1167–1177, 2003.
- [151] E. Rosen, A. Viswanathan, and R. Callon, *Multiprotocol Label Switching Architecture*. United States: RFC Editor, 2001.

- [152] B. Fortz and M. Thorup, "Internet traffic engineering by optimizing OSPF weights," in INFOCOM 2000. Nineteenth Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies. Proceedings. IEEE, vol. 2. IEEE, 2000, pp. 519–528.
- [153] —, "Robust optimization of OSPF/IS-IS weights," in *Proc. INOC*.
 Citeseer, 2003, pp. 225–230.
- [154] S. Srivastava, G. Agrawal, M. Pioro, and D. Medhi, "Determining link weight system under various objectives for OSPF networks using a lagrangian relaxation-based approach," *Network and Service Management, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 9–18, 2005.
- [155] A. Juttner, B. Szviatovski, I. Mécs, and Z. Rajkó, "Lagrange relaxation based method for the QoS routing problem," in *INFOCOM 2001. Twentieth Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies. Proceedings. IEEE*, vol. 2. IEEE, 2001, pp. 859–868.
- [156] D. Awduche and J. Agogbua, "Requirements for traffic engineering over MPLS," UUNET (MCI Worldcom), 1999.
- [157] M. Noakes, J. Cain, J. Nieto, and E. Althouse, "An adaptive link assignment algorithm for dynamically changing topologies," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 694–706, May 1993.
- [158] J. B. Cain, S. L. Adams, M. D. Noakes, T. Kryst, and E. L. Althouse, "A "near-optimum" multiple path routing algorithm for space-based SDI networks," in *IEEE Military Communications Conference (MILCOM)* 1987, vol. 2, Oct. 1987, pp. 0578–0584.
- [159] J. Moose, Robert L., "Modeling networks with dynamic topologies," *Informs Journal on Computing*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 223–231, 1989.
- [160] C. White, E. Sykes, and J. Morrow, "An analytical approach to the dynamic topology problem," *Telecommunication Systems*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 397–413, 1994.

- [161] F. Lam, W. C. Lau, and V. Li, "Inter-domain router placement and traffic engineering," in *Communications, 2002. ICC 2002. IEEE International Conference on*, vol. 4, 2002, pp. 2443–2448 vol.4.
- [162] Y. Shi, F. Jia, and Y. Hai-tao, "An improved router placement algorithm based on energy efficient strategy for wireless networks," in *Computing, Communication, Control, and Management, 2009. CCCM 2009. ISECS International Colloquium on*, vol. 4, Aug. 2009, pp. 421–423.
- [163] C. Minkenberg, R. P. Luijten, F. Abel, W. Denzel, and M. Gusat, "Current issues in packet switch design," *SIGCOMM Comput. Commun. Rev.*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 119–124, 2003.
- [164] I. Keslassy, S.-T. Chuang, K. Yu, D. Miller, M. Horowitz, O. Solgaard, and N. McKeown, "Scaling Internet routers using optics," in SIGCOMM '03: Proceedings of the 2003 conference on Applications, technologies, architectures, and protocols for computer communications, 2003, pp. 189– 200.
- [165] A. Wassal and M. Hasan, "Low-power system-level design of VLSI packet switching fabrics," *Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 723 –738, Jun 2001.
- [166] P. Mahadevan, P. Sharma, S. Banerjee, and P. Ranganathan, "A power benchmarking framework for network devices," *NETWORKING 2009*, pp. 795–808, 2009.
- [167] L. Chiaraviglio, M. Mellia, and F. Neri, "Reducing power consumption in backbone networks," in *Communications, 2009. ICC '09. IEEE International Conference on*, june 2009, pp. 1–6.
- [168] —, "Energy-aware backbone networks: A case study," in Communications Workshops, 2009. ICC Workshops 2009. IEEE International Conference on, June 2009, pp. 1–5.

- [169] L. Chiaraviglio, D. Ciullo, E. Leonardi, and M. Mellia, "How much can the Internet be greened?" in *GLOBECOM Workshops, 2009 IEEE*, 30 2009-Dec. 4 2009, pp. 1–6.
- [170] N. Vasić and D. Kostić, "Energy-aware traffic engineering," in Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Energy-Efficient Computing and Networking, ser. e-Energy '10. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2010, pp. 169–178.
- [171] Y. Wu, L. Chiaraviglio, M. Mellia, and F. Neri, "Power-aware routing and wavelength assignment in optical networks," in *Optical Communication, 2009. ECOC '09. 35th European Conference on*, Sept. 2009, pp. 1–2.
- [172] F. Idzikowski, S. Orlowski, C. Raack, H. Woesner, and A. Wolisz, "Saving energy in IP-over-WDM networks by switching off line cards in lowdemand scenarios," *Optical Network Design and Modeling (ONDM)*, 2010 14th Conference on, pp. 1–6, feb. 2010.
- [173] R. K. Ahuja, T. L. Magnanti, and J. B. Orlin, *Network Flows*. Prentice Hall, 1993.
- [174] F. Giroire, J. Moulierac, T. Phan, and F. Roudaut, "Minimization of network power consumption with redundancy elimination," *NETWORK-ING 2012*, pp. 247–258, 2012.
- [175] W. Liu, H. Sirisena, and K. Pawlikowski, "Building dependable next generation networks (NGNs): A new bluegreen design philosophy," in *Australasian Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference (ATNAC), 2011*, nov. 2011, pp. 1–6.
- [176] M. Marsan, L. Chiaraviglio, D. Ciullo, and M. Meo, "Optimal energy savings in cellular access networks," in *Communications Workshops, 2009. ICC Workshops 2009. IEEE International Conference on*, June 2009, pp. 1–5.
- [177] H. Yonezu, S. Gao, S. Shimizu, D. Ishii, S. Okamoto, E. Oki, and N. Yamanaka, "Network power saving topology calculation method by powering off links considering QoS," *Optoe Electronics and Communications Conference (OECC), 2010 15th*, pp. 586–587, 2010.
- [178] J. Lorincz, M. Bogarelli, A. Capone, and D. Beguic, "Heuristic approach for optimized energy savings in wireless access networks," *Software, Telecommunications and Computer Networks (SoftCOM)*, pp. 60 – 65, 2010.
- [179] L. M. Feeney and M. Nilsson, "Investigating the energy consumption of a wireless network interface in an ad hoc networking environment," *In IEEE Infocom*, pp. 1548–1557, 2001.
- [180] L. A. Smith, M. Ledbetter, and C. Dandridge, *Guide to energy-efficient office equipment*. American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Washington, DC (United States), 1995.
- [181] G. Dantzig, *Linear programming and extensions*. Princeton Univ Pr, 1998.
- [182] F. Giroire, D. Mazauric, J. Moulierac, and B. Onfroy, "Minimizing routing energy consumption: From theoretical to practical results," in *Green Computing and Communications (GreenCom), 2010 IEEE/ACM Int'l Conference on Int'l Conference on Cyber, Physical and Social Computing (CPSCom)*, dec. 2010, pp. 252–259.
- [183] L. Roberts, "A radical new router," *Spectrum, IEEE*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 34 –39, jul. 2009.
- [184] T. Ye, L. Benini, and G. De Micheli, "Analysis of power consumption on switch fabrics in network routers," *Design Automation Conference*, 2002. Proceedings. 39th, pp. 524 – 529, 2002.
- [185] C. Gunaratne, K. Christensen, and B. Nordman, "Managing energy consumption costs in desktop PCs and LAN switches with proxying,

split TCP connections, and scaling of link speed," *Int. J. Netw. Manag.*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 297–310, 2005.

- [186] M. Pióro and D. Medhi, Routing, Flow, and Capacity Design in Communication and Computer Networks. San Francisco, CA, USA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc., 2004.
- [187] N. Spring, R. Mahajan, D. Wetherall, and T. Anderson, "Measuring ISP topologies with rocketfuel," *Networking, IEEE/ACM Transactions on*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 2 – 16, feb. 2004.
- [188] R. Suryasaputra, A. Kist, and R. Harris, "Verification of MPLS traffic engineering techniques," in *Networks*, 2005. Jointly held with the 2005 IEEE 7th Malaysia International Conference on Communication., 2005 13th IEEE International Conference on, vol. 1, Nov. 2005, p. 6 pp.
- [189] M. Dale, H. Ferra, and R. Palmer, "Fast MPLS network optimisation using machine learning," in *TENCON 2005 2005 IEEE Region 10*, Nov. 2005, pp. 1–6.
- [190] "GLPK (GNU linear programming kit)," The free software foundation, Feburary 2010, [Online] Available: www.gnu.org/software/glpk/.
- [191] T. Achterberg, "SCIP: solving constraint integer programs," *Mathematical Programming Computation*, vol. 1, pp. 1–41, 2009.
- [192] B. Fortz and M. Thorup, "Optimizing OSPF/IS-IS weights in a changing world," *Selected Areas in Communications, IEEE Journal on*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 756–767, may 2002.
- [193] J. Murphy, R. Harris, and R. Nelson, "Traffic engineering using OSPF weights and splitting ratios," *Converged Networking: Data and Real-Time Communications over IP*, vol. 119, pp. 277–287, 2003.

- [194] Y. Zhang, P. Chowdhury, M. Tornatore, and B. Mukherjee, "Energy efficiency in telecom optical networks," *Communications Surveys & Tutorials, IEEE*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 441–458, 2010.
- [195] J. Ni, S. Tatikonda, and E. Yeh, "Qrp06-5: A large-scale distributed traffic matrix estimation algorithm," in *Global Telecommunications Conference*, 2006. GLOBECOM '06. IEEE, 27 2006-dec. 1 2006, pp. 1–5.
- [196] S. Eum, R. J. Harris, B. Lloyd-Smith, and R. Suryasaputra, "Dynamic weight changes for traffic matrix estimation," in *Telecommunications Network Strategy and Planning Symposium, 2006. NETWORKS 2006. 12th International*, nov. 2006, pp. 1–6.
- [197] C. R. Kalmanek, S. Misra, and Y. R. Yang, *Guide to reliable internet services and applications*. Springer, 2010.
- [198] J. Sterbenz, D. Hutchison, E. etinkaya, A. Jabbar, J. Rohrer, M. Schller, and P. Smith, "Resilience and survivability in communication networks: Strategies, principles, and survey of disciplines," *Computer Networks*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1245–1265, 2010.
- [199] G. Iannaccone, C.-N. Chuah, S. Bhattacharyya, and C. Diot, "Feasibility of IP restoration in a tier 1 backbone," *Network, IEEE*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 13 – 19, mar-apr 2004.
- [200] S. Iyer, S. Bhattacharyya, N. Taft, and C. Diot, "An approach to alleviate link overload as observed on an IP backbone," in *INFOCOM 2003. Twenty-Second Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications. IEEE Societies*, vol. 1, march-3 april 2003, pp. 406 416.
- [201] A. Markopoulou, G. Iannaccone, S. Bhattacharyya, C. Chuah, Y. Ganjali, and C. Diot, "Characterization of failures in an operational IP backbone network," *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking (TON)*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 749–762, 2008.

- [202] Y. Wang, H. Wang, A. Mahimkar, R. Alimi, Y. Zhang, L. Qiu, and Y. R. Yang, "R3: resilient routing reconfiguration," *SIGCOMM Comput. Commun. Rev.*, vol. 40, pp. 291–302, August 2010.
- [203] M. Menth and R. Martin, "Network resilience through multi-topology routing," in *The 5th International Workshop on Design of Reliable Communication Networks*, 2005, pp. 271–277.
- [204] A. Kvalbein and O. Lysne, "How can multi-topology routing be used for intradomain traffic engineering?" in *Proceedings of the 2007 SIGCOMM workshop on Internet network management*, ser. INM '07. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2007, pp. 280–284.
- [205] A. Kvalbein, A. Hansen, T. Cicic, S. Gjessing, and O. Lysne, "Multiple routing configurations for fast IP network recovery," *Networking, IEEE/ACM Transactions on*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 473–486, april 2009.
- [206] Q. Zheng, G. Cao, T. Porta, and A. Swami, "Optimal recovery from largescale failures in IP networks." IEEE International Conference on Distributed Computing Systems (ICDCS), 2012.
- [207] M. Suchara, D. Xu, R. Doverspike, D. Johnson, and J. Rexford, "Simple failure resilient load balancing," *ACM SIGMETRICS*, 2009.
- [208] A. Autenrieth and A. Kirstadter, "Engineering end-to-end IP resilience using resilience-differentiated QoS," *Communications Magazine, IEEE*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 50–57, 2002.
- [209] G. Schollmeier, J. Charzinski, A. Kirstadter, C. Reichert, K. J. Schrodi,
 Y. Glickman, and C. Winkler, "Improving the resilience in IP networks." IEEE, 2003, pp. 91–96.
- [210] F. Touvet and D. Harle, "Network resilience in multilayer networks: A critical review and open issues," *NetworkingICN 2001*, pp. 829–837, 2001.

- [211] L. Wosinska, D. Colle, P. Demeester, K. Katrinis, M. Lackovic, O. Lapcevic, I. Lievens, G. Markidis, B. Mikac, M. Pickavet *et al.*, "Network resilience in future optical networks," *Towards Digital Optical Networks*, pp. 253–284, 2009.
- [212] B. Addis, A. Capone, G. Carello, L. G. Gianoli, and B. Sans, "Energy aware management of resilient networks with shared protection," *The Second IFIP Conference on Sustainable Internet and ICT for Sustainability (IFIP 2012)*, 2012.
- [213] A. Kvalbein, A. Hansen, T. Cicic, S. Gjessing, and O. Lysne, "Fast recovery from link failures using resilient routing layers," in *Computers and Communications, 2005. ISCC 2005. Proceedings. 10th IEEE Symposium on*, june 2005, pp. 554 – 560.
- [214] A. Kvalbein, A. F. Hansen, T. Cicic, S. Gjessing, and O. Lysne, "Fast IP network recovery using multiple routing configurations," in *INFOCOM* 2006. 25th IEEE International Conference on Computer Communications. Proceedings, april 2006, pp. 1–11.
- [215] IBM, "IBM ILOG CPLEX optimization studio," 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www-01.ibm.com/software/integration/optimization/ cplex-optimization-studio/
- [216] D. Katz, K. Kompella, and D. Yeung, "Traffic engineering (TE) extensions to OSPF version 2," RFC 3630, September, Tech. Rep., 2003.
- [217] U. D. Black, *MPLS and label switching networks*. Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, NJ, 2001, vol. 2.
- [218] D. Awduche, "MPLS and traffic engineering in IP networks," *Communications Magazine, IEEE*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 42–47, dec 1999.
- [219] E. Harrison, A. Farrel, and B. Miller, "protection and restoration in MPLS networks: An examination of the methods for protecting MPLS

LSPs against failures of network," Data Connection Limited, Enfield, United Kingdom, Tech. Rep., October 2001.

- [220] J. D. Hundessa, L. Pascual, "Fast rerouting mechanism for a protected label switched path," *Tenth International Conference on Computer Communications and Networks, Proceedings*, pp. 527–530, 2001.
- [221] L. Hundessa and J. Domingo-Pascual, "Reliable and fast rerouting mechanism for a protected label switched path," in *Global Telecommunications Conference, 2002. GLOBECOM '02. IEEE*, vol. 2, nov. 2002, pp. 1608 – 1612 vol.2.
- [222] Y. Nomura, H. Yonezu, D. Ishii, S. Okamoto, and N. Yamanaka, "Dynamic topology reconfiguration for energy efficient network with link power control," in *World Telecommunications Congress (WTC 2012), No. PS-24*, 2012.
- [223] P. Psenak, S. Mirtorabi, A. Roy, L. Nguyen, and P. Pillay-Esnault, "Multi-topology (MT) routing in OSPF," *draft-ietf-ospf-mt-08 (work in progress)*, 2007.
- [224] J. T. Moy, *OSPF complete implementation*. Addison-Wesley Professional, 2008.
- [225] H. M. Alnuweiri, L.-Y. K. Wong, and T. Al-Khasib, "Performance of new link state advertisement mechanisms in routing protocols with traffic engineering extensions," *Communications Magazine, IEEE*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 151–162, 2004.
- [226] M. Goyal, K. Ramakrishnan, and W.-c. Feng, "Achieving faster failure detection in OSPF networks," in *Communications, 2003. ICC'03. IEEE International Conference on*, vol. 1. IEEE, 2003, pp. 296–300.
- [227] A. Iselt, A. Kirstadter, A. Pardigon, and T. Schwabe, "Resilient routing using MPLS and ECMP," in *High Performance Switching and Routing*, 2004. HPSR. 2004 Workshop on, 2004, pp. 345 – 349.

- [228] D. Bauer, M. Yuksel, C. Carothers, and S. Kalyanaraman, "A case study in understanding OSPF and BGP interactions using efficient experiment design," in *Proceedings of the 20th Workshop on Principles of Advanced and Distributed Simulation*. IEEE Computer Society, 2006, pp. 158–165.
- [229] B. Fortz, J. Rexford, and M. Thorup, "Traffic engineering with traditional IP routing protocols," *Communications Magazine, IEEE*, vol. 40, no. 10, pp. 118–124, 2002.
- [230] C. Wijaya, "Performance analysis of dynamic routing protocol EIGRP and OSPF in IPv4 and IPv6 network," in *Informatics and Computational Intelligence (ICI), 2011 First International Conference on.* IEEE, 2011, pp. 355–360.
- [231] S. Pasqualini, A. Iselt, A. Kirstädter, and A. Frot, "MPLS protection switching versus OSPF rerouting," in *Quality of Service in the Emerging Networking Panorama*. Springer, 2004, pp. 174–183.
- [232] A. Shaikh and A. Greenberg, "Experience in black-box OSPF measurement," in *Proceedings of the 1st ACM SIGCOMM Workshop on Internet Measurement.* ACM, 2001, pp. 113–125.
- [233] R. Perlman, "A comparison between two routing protocols: OSPF and IS-IS," *Network, IEEE*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 18–24, 1991.
- [234] M. C. Scheffel, C. G. Gruber, T. Schwabe, and R. G. Prinz, "Optimal multi-topology routing for IP resilience," *AEU-International Journal of Electronics and Communications*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 35–39, 2006.
- [235] J. Doyle, *OSPF and IS-IS: Choosing an IGP for Large-scale Networks*. Addison-Wesley Professional, 2005.
- [236] M. Bennett, K. Christensen, and B. Nordman, "Improving the energy efficiency of ethernet: Adaptive link rate proposal," ethernet alliance, Austin, USA, Tech. Rep., July 2006.

- [237] RuggedCom, "Latency on a switched ethernet network," http://www.ruggedcom.com/pdfs/application_notes/latency_on_ a_switched_ethernet_network.pdf, April 2008.
- [238] J. Gibson, B. Wei, and S. Choudhury, "Voice communications over tandem wireline IP and WLAN connections," in *Signals, Systems and Computers, 2006. ACSSC '06. Fortieth Asilomar Conference on*, 29 2006-nov. 1 2006, pp. 1321–1325.
- [239] K. Fall and K. Varadhan, "The network simulator (ns-2)," URL: *http://www.isi.edu/nsnam/ns*, 2007.
- [240] S. Hemminger, "Network emulation with NetEm," Proceedings of the 6th Australia's National Linux Conference (LCA2005), Canberra, Australia, pp. 18–23, April 2005.
- [241] M. Carson and D. Santay, "NIST Net: a linux-based network emulation tool," *SIGCOMM Comput. Commun. Rev.*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 111–126, 2003.
- [242] J. Cao, W. Cleveland, Y. Gao, K. Jeffay, F. Smith, and M. Weigle, "Stochastic models for generating synthetic HTTP source traffic," in *INFOCOM* 2004. Twenty-third AnnualJoint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies, vol. 3, march 2004, pp. 1546–1557 vol.3.
- [243] "Voice over IP per call bandwidth consumption," Cisco Systems, Feb. 2006. [Online]. Available: http://www.cisco.com/warp/public/ 788/pkt-voice-general/bwidth_consume.pdf
- [244] F. D. Smith, F. H. Campos, K. Jeffay, and D. Ott, "What TCP/IP protocol headers can tell us about the web," *SIGMETRICS Perform. Eval. Rev.*, vol. 29, pp. 245–256, June 2001.
- [245] J. Cao, W. S. Cleveland, D. Lin, and D. X. Sun, "On the nonstationarity of Internet traffic," in *Proceedings of the 2001 ACM SIGMETRICS interna*-

tional conference on Measurement and modeling of computer systems, ser. SIGMETRICS '01. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2001, pp. 102–112.

- [246] J. Cao, D. Davis, S. V. Wiel, B. Yu, S. Vander, and W. B. Yu, "Time-varying network tomography: Router link data," *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, vol. 95, pp. 1063–1075, 2000.
- [247] Y. Zhang, M. Roughan, N. Duffield, and A. Greenberg, "Fast accurate computation of large-scale IP traffic matrices from link loads," *SIG-METRICS Perform. Eval. Rev.*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 206–217, Jun. 2003.
- [248] A. Nucci, R. Cruz, N. Taft, and C. Diot, "Design of IGP link weight changes for estimation of traffic matrices," in *INFOCOM 2004. Twentythird AnnualJoint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies*, vol. 4, march 2004, pp. 2341 – 2351.
- [249] A. Soule, A. Nucci, R. Cruz, E. Leonardi, and N. Taft, "How to identify and estimate the largest traffic matrix elements in a dynamic environment," vol. 32. ACM, 2004, pp. 73–84.
- [250] A. Feldmann, A. Greenberg, C. Lund, N. Reingold, J. Rexford, and
 F. True, "Deriving traffic demands for operational IP networks: Methodology and experience," *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking* (*TON*), vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 265–280, 2001.
- [251] Q. G. Zhao, A. Kumar, J. Wang, and J. J. Xu, "Data streaming algorithms for accurate and efficient measurement of traffic and flow matrices," *SIGMETRICS Perform. Eval. Rev.*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 350–361, Jun. 2005.
- [252] K. Papagiannaki, N. Taft, and A. Lakhina, "A distributed approach to measure IP traffic matrices," in *Proceedings of the 4th ACM SIGCOMM conference on Internet measurement*, ser. IMC '04. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2004, pp. 161–174.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

[253] A. Soule, K. Salamatian, A. Nucci, and N. Taft, "Traffic matrix tracking using kalman filters," ACM SIGMETRICS Performance Evaluation Review, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 24–31, 2005.